
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Friday, 14th February, 2014 
 

10.00 am 
 

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Friday, 14th February, 2014, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

Telephone (01622) 694277 
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  

 
Membership (13) 
 
Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 

Mr G Lymer and Mr P J Oakford 
 

UKIP (2): Mr B Neaves and Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 

Labour (1): Mr R Truelove 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mrs T Dean and Mr M J Vye 
 

Co-opted Members 
(4): 

  
 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 
Item 
No 

 
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 
 
 A.  PANEL BUSINESS 
A1 Substitutes  
A2 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2013 (Pages 5 - 12) 
A3 Chairman's Announcements  
A4 Suggested new item - Oral update from OCYPC  



A5 Cabinet Member's Oral Update  
 B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
B1 Update on the Adoption Service (Pages 13 - 42) 
B2 Update regarding the work of the Head Teacher of the Virtual School Kent 

(Pages 43 - 60) 
B3 Ofsted Inspection Action Plans - Update (Pages 61 - 110) 
B4 The Journey to Independence for Kent Care Leavers (Pages 111 - 144) 
B5 Position Statement: Fostering (Pages 145 - 150) 

C.  ITEMS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
 Any items in this section will not form part of the meeting papers and are not for 

discussion at the meeting but will be despatched with the agenda 
 

 
EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
 (01622) 694002 
 
Thursday, 6 February 2014 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 13 December 2013. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen (Chairman), Mr M J Angell (Substitute for Mr G Lymer), 
Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, Mr B Neaves, Mr R Truelove, Mr M J Vye and 
Mrs Z Wiltshire 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Ms S Dunstan and Mrs J Whittle 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Ms M MacNeil (Director, Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr P Brightwell (Head of Quality Assurance, Children's Safeguarding Team) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
65. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2013  
(Item A2) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 25 October 2013 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters arising. 
 
66. Chairman's Announcements  
(Item A3) 
 
The Chairman reiterated her view that the Panel’s membership would benefit from a 
strengthened presence of foster carers and should also include a young person who 
can represent at first-hand the views and experiences of young people in care and 
leaving care.  To this end, she proposed, and Mr B Neaves seconded, that Ms 
Sophia Dunstan and Mrs Carolyn Moody be formally co-opted as Panel members.  
This met with general support and was  

Agreed without a vote 
 
67. Cabinet Member's Oral Update  
(Item A4) 
 
1. Mrs Whittle gave an oral update on the following issues:- 
 
Adoption summit. This had given a good snapshot of the progress made in 
improving the adoption service and had been attended by a range of stakeholders, 
including Coram, past adopters and colleagues working in the mental health field. 
Announcement by Edward Timpson, Parliamentary Under Secretary Of State 
for Children and Families about ‘staying put’, to enable care leavers to stay with 
their foster carers, if they wish, up the age of 21. Many local authorities already have 
informal arrangements but this now puts it on a formal footing and empowers young 
people. Further information on funding is awaited, and some change in responsibility 
will inevitably come when a care leaver reaches the age of 18, eg a change in 
eligibility for benefits and to whom those benefits will be paid.  

Agenda Item A2

Page 5



 

 

The lifting of the Improvement Notice on 12 December 2013 is obviously to be 
welcomed but is not an excuse for complacency as there is still much work to do, eg 
completing the recruitment of a full complement of qualified, permanent social 
workers and maintaining the improvements made to the adoption service.    
 
2. Mrs Whittle and Ms MacNeil responded to comments and questions, as 
follows:- 
 

a) in response to a question about the possibility of maintaining a pool of 
experienced (perhaps retired or part-time) social workers who could be 
called upon to fill vacancies, instead of using agency staff, Ms MacNeil 
explained that such a scheme would not be workable due to the nature 
of the social work market.  The County Council has a small number of 
retired social workers to whom it could resort informally if needed, but it 
is paramount that all concerned should be able to be confident that 
such an arrangement would work properly, and to run this sort of 
scheme on a formal basis would not solve the challenge of recruiting 
well-qualified, permanent social workers;    

 
b) asked if past social workers could play a useful role as volunteer 

mentors to new or inexperienced social workers, Ms MacNeil said this 
sort of arrangement might work for social work support staff but not for 
social workers. There is currently no problem with support staff 
recruitment; 

 
c) there are many good social workers in Kent but there needs to be more. 

Some other local authorities are experiencing now the ‘churn’ of social 
workers that Kent used to have.  Kent’s management structure and 
quality of social work practice have both improved, and this 
improvement is demonstrated by the lifting of the improvement notice;  

 
d) consistency and continuity of social work are important to young people 

in care, and when a change of social worker is unavoidable, good 
transition and handover can help a young person to better manage the 
change; 

 
e) one challenge in recruitment is the poor media coverage that the role 

often attracts, as social workers are usually blamed if something goes 
wrong.  Social work is a very complex area of work and sensationalist 
headlines will always sell more papers than news of the good-quality 
casework which goes on every day.  A close working relationship 
between social workers and the judiciary would help, and perhaps a 
scheme in which judges could shadow social workers would help to 
increase the judiciary’s understanding of social workers’ role. A series 
of job profiles on radio was run one year ago, and this could helpfully be 
repeated to raise public understanding of social workers’ role. 
Publicising and promoting the extensive good social work practice 
which exists would also help;  

  
f) a competition amongst young people in care had asked them to name 

two or three things which the County Council could do to improve its 
service to them, and offered £150 in book tokens as a prize. This sort of 

Page 6



 

 

engagement could also be used to identify and promote good 
experiences of being in care. Ms Dunstan added that the first issue of a 
newsletter prepared by Our Children and Young People’s Council 
(OCYPC) would be published on 16 December and would include such 
good news stories as well as interviews with elected Members. A 
presentation on this work could be made the Panel’s next meeting; and 

 
g) Mr Vye made a brief oral report of issues which had arisen at a recent 

conference ‘Corporate Parenting and Children in Care Councils; Taking 
it to the Next Level’, several of which echoed the points raised during 
discussion, above.  He undertook to circulate a written report of these 
issues to all Panel members. 

 
3. The oral updates were noted, with thanks. 
 
68. The Dartford 'Crash pad'  
(Item B1) 
 
Mr P Segurola, Assistant Director, North Kent, Ms S Whittaker, Children and Young 
People Service Manager, and Ms M Nichols, Housing Manager, YMCA Thames 
Gateway, were in attendance for this item. 
 
1. Ms Nichols, Ms Whittaker and Mr Segurola introduced the report and outlined 
the service provided by the crash pad and the benefits it brought to the area.  The 
YMCA had had a long involvement with the scheme, sharing the common aim of 
ensuring that 16 and 17 year olds are in safe accommodation and protected from 
homelessness.  She set out the referral process and the scheme’s success at 
encouraging young people to return to their families. Specialist Children’s Services 
and Dartford Borough Council’s housing department work together to provide 
wraparound services.  They aim to meet with young people and their parents or 
carers to provide immediate mediation to help them resolve whatever problem has 
arisen in the family.  From this meeting, an action plan is drawn up and agreed with 
all parties, with the main aim being to help the young person stay at home.  
Sometimes there are safeguarding issues, and young people might stay safely at the 
crash pad while the team works at resolving the issue and either returning a young 
person safely home, if this is appropriate, or moving them on to suitable long-term 
accommodation.  Kent Integrated Adolescent Support Services (KIASS) are a key 
partner in this part of the process, with the aim of keeping a young person from 
needing statutory intervention. Generally, earlier and lower-level interventions are 
favoured. Use of bed and breakfast accommodation is avoided at all costs.  Ms 
Nichols, Ms Whittaker, Mr Segurola and Ms MacNeil responded to comments and 
questions from Members and the following points were highlighted:- 
 

a) the scheme run with the YMCA in Dartford is currently the only crash 
pad scheme in the county, but the team is keen to spread it further, and 
its successes send a good message to other districts about what can 
be achieved with similar partnership working.  The ‘crash pad’ model 
could work in any area, using YMCA, supported lodgings or one of the 
‘Foyer’, ‘Porch Light’ or similar schemes which exist around the county.  
To be successful, however, any scheme must have a host organisation;   

 

Page 7



 

 

b) providers can be imaginative in applying available funding sources such 
as the Government’s Homeless Prevention Grant.  The crash pad 
scheme is not expensive to run and is very cost-effective; and 

 
c) KIASS is a useful tool for linking resources and there is a common 

understanding of need. A good relationship and shared aims between 
partners are vital to make the crash pad model work. 

 
2. The Chairman said how impressed she was by the successes of the crash pad 
scheme and had first-hand experience of the way in which it benefitted families in the 
Dartford area. She urged all elected Members to spread the message and promote 
the benefits of the model to their local councils.  

 
3. RESOLVED that the work and successes of the crash pad scheme be noted. 
 
69. Action Plan responding to the Ofsted July 2013 Children in Care/Care 
Leavers inspection  
(Item B2) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report, which had been prepared in response to a 
request from the Panel for regular updates, containing specific detail requested.  
Although action plans for all aspects of the Ofsted inspection have been established 
and will be regularly updated, such plans can only be an indication of the issues 
raised by Ofsted; there are other issues in the work of Specialist Children’s Services 
which need attention and improvement, such as supervision, participation, child-
focussed practice and good quality care plans. Mr Brightwell responded to comments 
and questions from Members and the following points were highlighted:- 
 

a) instead of being content with Ofsted’s rating of ‘satisfactory’, Kent 
should be looking to run ‘good’ services, and this aim should be the 
indicator against which performance is measured;   

 
b) every case audit by a team manager is now routinely peer reviewed by 

someone of similar seniority in another authority; and 
 
c) more attention should be focussed on good case work and positive 

outcomes, to balance out the poor media attention that children’s social 
work often attracts.  Ways in which this positive promotion can be 
achieved will be discussed at a future meeting of the Panel.  

 
2. The Cabinet Member, Mrs Whittle, referred to two performance indicators 
about which the Panel had previously asked – the length of time a child spends in 
care and the number of re-referrals - and asked that these be included in future 
scorecards.  Mr Brightwell confirmed that they would be.  He added that he would 
seek to have data in future scorecards presented by age, as the correlation between 
the age at which a child first comes into care, and the length of time they spend in 
care, was identified by research undertaken by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in 
the 1980s. 
 
3. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the content of the action plan and the progress achieved be noted;  

Page 8



 

 

 
b) the activities being put in place by each agency which will contribute to 

addressing the recommendations made by Ofsted, and the sharing of 
good practice, be supported;  

 
c) the children in care strategy be updated to reflect Ofsted’s findings and 

recommendations,  as well as any Government announcements which 
are made in the future;  

 
d) ways in which good practice in case management and  positive 

outcomes can be promoted be discussed at a future meeting of the 
Panel; and 

 
e) the length of time a child spends in care and the number of re-referrals 

be included in the data recorded in future scorecards. 
 
70. Kent's Corporate Parenting Governance and Framework  
(Item B3) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report and emphasised the complex network of 
relationships which existed around corporate parenting. New Ofsted inspection 
guidance had said that roles around corporate parenting responsibilities should be 
clear.  Kent’s two corporate parenting groups – one officer group and one Member 
group - give it an added strength and allow it to focus on issues from more than one 
point of view, but the existence of two groups and the relationship between them also 
brings some complications.  The key issue is to look at how the two groups relate to 
and communicate with each other. The Corporate Parenting Panel, as the Member 
group, should have an oversight of and scrutinise the officer-led Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group (KCPG).  
 
2. Panel members made the following comments and suggestions of ways in 
which the two groups could link and work together:- 
 

a) the presence of the two groups was welcomed as a strength, but they 
need to have good links between them;  

 
b) the minutes of the KCPG should come to the Corporate Parenting 

Panel, to give the latter an overview of the work of the former. Ms 
MacNeil said that, as the Chairman of the KCPG, she welcomed an 
exchange of minutes between the Group and the Panel;  

 
c) the Cabinet Member could attend meetings of the KCPG, perhaps with 

one other Panel member;  
 
d) the idea was raised of young people in care, or care leavers, attending 

the KCPG’s meetings.  Their presence and input is always welcomed 
but it is important not to impose upon them any requirement to attend, 
or expectation that they will take part beyond what they are comfortable 
with. It was suggested that young people in care or care leavers could 
perhaps attend the KCPG once a year; and 

 

Page 9



 

 

e) the Kent Children in Care Councils (OCYPC) could use the ‘challenge 
card’ to draw attention to issues of concern, and this could be another 
way of linking them and their views into this Panel. Members were 
reassured that issues raised this way would be anonymised so that no 
individual’s affairs could be identified.   

 
3. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the content of the report be noted; and 
 
b) the ideas put forward to the Panel – that the minutes of the Kent 

Corporate Parenting Group be reported to the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, that the Cabinet Member attend meetings of the Kent Corporate 
Parenting Group, perhaps with one other Panel member, and that the 
challenge card be used to draw attention to issues of concern to young 
people in care – be taken forward as ways of establishing closer links 
between the two corporate parenting bodies and between the 
Corporate Parenting Panel and the Children in Care Councils.  

 
71. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care  
(Item B4) 
 
1. Mr Brightwell introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 
from Panel members. The following points were highlighted:- 
 

a) more detail was requested on the future of the young people who are 
the subject of fixed-term exclusions.  Mr Brightwell undertook to ask the 
Virtual School Kent team to provide information outside the meeting on 
how many of these become involved with pupil referral units (PRUs) 
and what performance they achieve at KS2 and beyond;  

 
b)  it is hoped that the average caseloads of Independent Reviewing 

Officers (IROs) can be further reduced, but achieving this will be a 
challenge as it is difficult simply to appoint more IROs.  IROs’ main 
focus is on achieving best practice and reducing the numbers of 
children in care.  It may be possible to use some experienced and 
retired former IROs to supplement the workforce as this would be 
preferable to employing agency workers;  

 
c) an assessment of IROs’ daily workloads will identify how much time 

they spend on administrative tasks and travelling between review 
meetings, with the aim of minimising these aspects and maximising the 
time they have available to spend with young people.  Reducing the 
frequency of review meetings from six-monthly to yearly will free up 
more time for them to spend with children and young people;  

 
d) in response to a question about the amount of travel IROs are required 

to undertake, Mr Brightwell explained that they may have to travel away 
from Kent to attend review meetings for young people who are placed 
at a distance from their Kent home. Young people are able to choose 
where they wish their review meetings to take place, so IROs are 
sometimes required to travel some distance. Mr Brightwell said he had 

Page 10



 

 

explored the possibility of establishing a reciprocal arrangement with 
other local authorities, whereby they carry out reviews for each other’s 
placed children, with the aim of reducing the need for each to travel, but 
explained that this sort of arrangement is generally not a good idea in 
terms of best practice;   

 
e) Members asked that, where a cohort of children does not achieve the 

prescribed performance level, some mention be included in the 
scorecard of the level they had achieved so this achievement can be 
acknowledged.  Mrs Whittle pointed out that this would mean treating 
children in care differently from the way in which other children are 
treated.  The requirement to complete KS4 is universal as this basic 
standard of literacy and numeracy is required by employers, and 
children in care will need to be able to compete with all others for 
employment when they leave school; and 

 
f) statistics are available by which corporate parenting activity in Kent can 

be compared to that of other local authorities, but Mr Brightwell offered 
the view that Kent should compare itself to the best rather than to the 
average and aspire to match that best standard. 

 
2. RESOLVED that:- 
 

a) the performance data set out on the children in care scorecard be 
noted, and  

 
b) two new pieces of information – the length of time a child spends in 

care and the number of re-referrals - be included in the data recorded 
on future scorecards. 

 
 
 
 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



By: Jenny Whittle, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services 

 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Families and Social Care  
To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 14 February 2014 

Subject: UPDATE ON ADOPTION SERVICE 

 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Summary: Attached are update reports providing information on: 

• Post adoption support from Action for Children 
• Adopter’s experiences and a service update from Coram 

 
 
1. (1) As reported to previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
Coram is working in partnership with the County Council to manage the Adoption 
Service. Additional post adoption support services are provided by Action for 
Children. 
 

(2) Attached for information are reports on: 
 

• Children’s Adoption Journey update (Appendix 1) 
• Adopters’ Journey update (Appendix 2) 

 
Recommendation: 
 
2. The Panel is asked to note and comment on the content of these updates. 
 
 
Andrew Ireland 
Corporate Director for Families and Social Care 
01622 694173 
andrew.ireland@kent.gov.uk 
 
Background documents: None 
 

Agenda Item B1

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



!

!

!

"#$%!&'($%)!&'($*+,!-$.!&'/-0!1-/%$#/23+4!

&'/4'/-%#!1-/#$%+$5!1-$#,6!78
%3
!9#:/(-/)!;<78!

=(00-/)!>#4'/%6!&3+,.?2!@.'4%+'$!A'( /$#)!

@4/+,BC#*#0:#/!;<7DE78!

!

!

&3,'#!@( 2%#/:#//)F!> #2#-/*3!@22+2%-$%!

G-23+!=3-3F!H$ %#/+0!I#-.!' J!@.' 4%+' $ !=#/K+*#!

! !

Page 15



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

"#$%&$%'!

H$%/'.(*%+'$!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!D!

7L!&3+,./#$!@.'4%#.6!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!8!

;L!&3+,./#$!4,-*#.!J'/!-.'4%+'$6!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!M!

DL!1,-*#0#$%!N/.#/26!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!O!

8L!&3+,./#$!P-+%+$5!%'!:#!4,-*#.!P+%3!-$!-.'4%+K#!J-0+,)6!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!Q!

ML!&3+,./#$!P+%3!-!4,-$!%3-%!3-2!*3-$5#.!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!7<!

RL!&3+,./#$!+$!*-/#!4/'*##.+$52!P+%3!-$!-5#$*)!.#*+2+'$!J'/!-.'4%+'$6!LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL!7<!

Page 16



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

($%)#*+,%-#$!

S3+2!/#4'/%!2(00-/+2#2!%3#!4#/J'/0-$*#!'J!%3#!&'($*+,!+$!/#,-%+'$!%'!*3+,./#$?2!

-.'4%+'$!T'(/$#)!:#%P##$!7!@4/+,!;<7D!-$.!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7DL!&'/-0!P+,,!4/'K+.#!

2+UB0'$%3,)!.# %-+,# .!/# 4'/%2L!!

S 3# !.-%-!(2# .! +$! %3+2! /# 4'/%!P-2! 2'(/*# .! J/'0! %3# ! +$J'/0-%+'$!4/'K+.# .!:)! %3# !

V-$-5#0#$%!H$J'/0-%+'$!W$+%F!%3#!X#5-,!S#-0F!1-$#,!S#-0!-$.!J/'0!%/-*Y+$5!

0##%+$52!-$.!4#/J'/0-$*#!2(/5#/+#2L!!

H%!3-2!:##$!-!*3-,,#$5#!%'!4/'K+.#!-**(/-%#!.-%-!.(#!%'!%3#!*3-$5#'K#/!J/'0!H&=!%'!�����������������	
��	������!
Z'K#0:#/F!H&=!2%'44#.!:#+$5!(4.-%#.!-$.!X+:#/+!P-2!

+$!(2#!J/'0!7<!C#*#0:#/L!S3#!V -$-5#0#$%!H$J'/0-%+'$!W$+%!4/'K+.#.!($K-,+.-%#.!

.-%-!J'/!N*%':#/!-$.!Z'K#0:#/!-$.!.+.!$'%!4/'K+.#!-$)!.-%-!J'/!C#*#0:#/L!&'/-0!

K-,+.-%#.!%3#!N*%':#/!.-%-!3'P#K#/!3-K#!:##$!($-:,#!%'!5(-/-$%##!%3#!-**(/-*)!'J!

.-%-!J'/!Z'K#0:#/!-$.!C#*#0:#/L!!

Page 17



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

./!"0-1*)&$!2*#3%&*4!

[#%P##$!7!@4/+,!-$.!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7D!
���

!,0-1*)&$!7&)&!8*#3%&*9!'$!-K#/-5#!.:!

,0-1*)&$!&8,0!;#$%0L!S3+2!+2!<=/>?!0-@0&)!%3- $!%3#!OO!-.'4%+'$2!-*3+#K#.!+$!%3#!J+/2%!

$+$#!0 '$%32!'J!;<7;E7DL!!

=##!9+5(/#!7!J'/!%3#!$(0 :#/!'J!*3+,./#$!-.'4%#.!: )!0 '$%3!-$.!9+5(/#!;!J'/!%3#!

$(0 :#/!'J!*3+,./#$!-.'4%#.!+$!#-*3!-/#-L!!��� ����� ��
!

!

;<77E7;!Z\O<F!;<7;E7D!Z\7<MF!@4/ +,BC #*!; <7DE78!Z\7<M!

9+5(/#!; 6!

!

Z\7<M!

0

5

10

15

20

Children adopted by month, 2011/12, 2012/13 and April to 

December 2013/14 

2011/12 

2012/13

2013/14

3 2

17

39

20
10 14

0
10
20
30
40
50

Children adopted by area, April to December 
2013/14

Page 18



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

:/!"0-1*)&$!318,&*!A#)!8*#3%-#$4!

[#%P##$!7!@4/+,!-$.!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7D!.:6!,0-1*)&$!7&)&!318,&*!7-%0!8$!8*#3%-B&!

A8;-1C]!'$!-K#/-5#!.>!,0-1*)&$!3-K#!:##$!4,-*#.!#-*3!0'$%3L! S3 #! 2#/K+*#!4,-*#.!

.</=?!;#)&!,0-1*)&$!-$!%0&!A-)'%!$-$&!;#$%0'!#A!:5.<D.>!%08$!-$!%0&!'8;&!3&)-#*!

:5.:D.<!P3 #$ !77<!*3 +,./#$ !P#/#!4,-*#.L!!

=##!9+5(/#!D!J'/!$(0:#/!'J!*3+,./#$ !4 ,-*#.!J'/!-.'4 %+'$ !:)!0'$%3!-$.!9+5(/#!8!J'/!

%3#!$(0:#/!'J!*3+,./#$ !4 ,-*#.!J'/!-.'4 %+'$ !+$ !#-*3!-/#-L!!

9+5(/#!D6!

!

;<77E7;!Z\R^F!;<7;E7D!Z\78DF!@4/ +,BC #*!; <7DE78!Z\7; M!

9+5(/#!86!

!

Z\7; M!

0

10

20

30

Children placed for adoption by month, 2011/12, 2012/13 

and April to December  2013/14 
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

4
1

18

43

16

24
19

0

10

20

30

40

50

Adoption Disabity North Kent South Kent Thanet Canterbury & 
Swale 

West Kent 

Children placed for adoption by area April to 
December 2013/14 

Page 19



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

N$!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7D!..>!,0-1*)&$!7&)& :(%!$'%!)#%!

-.'4%#.L!S3#2#!*3+,./#$!3-.!:##$!+$!4 ,-*#0#$%!J'/!-$!-K#/-5#!'J!D!0'$%32L!

"#$%!&&!3-2!-!%-/5#%!'J!7;<!*3+,./#$!-.'4 %#.!%3+2!) #-/!_J+5(/#!:-2#.!'$!%3#!%-/5#%!'J!

7D`!'J!* !P+,,!:

,'$5!-2!%3#!&'(/%!2) 2%#0!/#24'$.2!%'!%3#!-.'4 %+'$!'/.#/!-4 4 ,+*-%+'$2!+$!-!%+0#,) !

P-) L!S3+2!P'(,.!:#!-!.> /<?!-$,)&8'&!'$!;<7;E7D!P3#$!7<M!*3+,./#$!P#/#!5/-$%#.!

@.'4%+'$!N/.#/2!-$.!-!'-@$-A- !EF. />?G!#$!:5. :D. <!P3#$!O<!*3+,./#$!

P#/#!-.'4%#.L!b#!*'(,.!3-K#!3-.!-4 4 /'U+0-%#,) !78<!*3+,./#$!-.'4%#.!3-.!%3#/#!

$'%!:##$!2+5$+J+*-$%!.#,-) 2!'J!%3/##!%'!J'(/!0'$%32!+$!%3#!*'(/%!2) 2%#0L!!

=##!9+5(/#!M!-$.!9+5(/#!R!J'/!-!%+0 #2*-,#2!-$-,) 2+2!:) !.+2%/+*%!J'/!0 '$%32!J/'0 !

1,-*#0 #$%!N /.#/!-$.!@5#$*) !C#*+2+'$!.-%#!%'!*3+,.!:#+$5!4 ,-*#.!J'/!-.'4%+'$L!

9+5(/#!M!

!

Z\7;M!

! !

0 0

11 

30

11 

16

11 

4
1

7

13

5
8 8

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Adoption Disabity North Kent South Kent Thanet Canterbury 

& Swale 

West Kent 

Timescales analysis by district: months from Placement 
Order to child being placed for adoption, April-December 

2013/14

Within 6 months of PO Over 6 months from PO 

Page 20



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

9+5(/#!R!

!

Z\7;M!

NJ!%3#!7; M!4,-*#0#$%2!:#%P##$!7!@4/+,!-$.!D7!C#*#0:#/!; <7DF!7<8!P#/#!4,-*#.!

P+%3!"#$%!-44/'K#.!-.'4%#/2F!'J!P3'0!7M!P#/#!"#$%!J'2%#/!*-/#/2F!; !P#/#!/#,-%+K#2!

-$.!7!-$!+$.#4#$.#$%!J'2%#/!*-/#/]!D!P#/#!4,-*#.!P+%3!*'$2'/%+( 0!-.'4%#/2F!̂ !P+%3!

'%3#/!,'*-,!-( %3'/+%)!-.'4%#/2!-$.!7<!P B!DF!

&'/-0!B!8 F!&-:/+$+!B!7 F![-/$-/.'2!d!7F!9-0+,+#2!J'/!&3+,./#$!B!7aL!

</!H18,&;&$%!I)*&)'4!

.<6!,0-1*)&$!7&)&!@)8$%&*!8!H18,&;&$%!I)*&)!J&%7&&$!.!23)-1!8$*!<.!K&,&;J&)!

:5.<]!'$!-K#/-5 #!7M !*3+,./#$!3-K#!:##$!5 /-$%#.!-!1,-*#0#$%!N /.#/!#-*3!0'$%3L!

S3+2!+2!OLM `!,#22!%3-$!%3#!$(0:#/!'J!*3+,./#$!5 /-$%#.!1,-*#0#$%!N/.#/2!+$!%3#!2-0#!

4#/+' .!+$!; <7; E7D!_78R!*3+,./#$aL!!

=##!9+5 (/#!O!J' /!$(0:#/!' J!1,-*#0#$%!N /.#/2!5 /-$%#.!:)!0'$%3L!

! !

3
0

13

32

12

20
17

1 1

5

11 

4 4
2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Adoption Disabity North Kent South Kent Thanet Canterbury 

& Swale 

West Kent 

Timescales analysis by district: months from Agency 
Decision for adoption to child being placed for adoption, 

April-December 2013/14 

Within 12 months of ADM Over 12 months from ADM 

Page 21



!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

9+5(/#!O!

;<77E7;!Z\7;8F!;<7;E7D!Z\7Q<F!@4/+,BC#*!;<7DE78!\!7DM!

9+5(/#!̂ !

Z\7DM!

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Placement Orders by month, 2011/12, 2012/13 and April 
to December 2013/14 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

<!

D!

;^!

D;!

;;!

;O!

;D!

<!

M!

7<!

7M!

;<!

;M!

D<!

DM!

@.'4e'$! C+2-:+%)! Z'/%3!"#$%! =' (% S3-$#%! &-$%#/:(/)!

f!=P-,#!

b#2%!"#$%!

"0-1*)&$!@)8$%&*!H18,&;&$%!I)*&)'!JC!8)&89!23)-1!%#!K&,&;J&)!

:5.<D.>!

Page 22



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

>/!"0-1*)&$!78-%-$@!A#)!8*#3%-B&!318,&;&$%'4!

N$!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7DF!.:5!,0-1*)&$!7&)&!-$!L&$%!"#+$%C!"#+$,-1M'!,8)&!78-%-$@!%#!

J&!318,&*!7-%0 !8$!8*#3%-B&!A8;-1C/
7
!!

&3+,./#$!gP-+%+$5?!+$*,(.#2!*3+,./#$!P3'!-/#!;8%,0 &*!#)!N1-$O&*M!P+%3!-!J-0+

# $.!'J!C# *# 0:# /F!% 0 81A!#A!%0 &!,0 -1*)&$!78-%-$@F!8OLM`F!

MOF!+$*,(.+$5 %3 aF!-2!

P# ,,!-2!%3'2# !J'/!P3'0!-*%+K# !J-0+,)!J+$.+$5!P-2!:# +$5!4(/2(# .!-$.!%3'2# !P3'2# !

4,-$!P-2!.(# !%'!*3-$5# !_2# # !9+5(/# !Oa6!

• J'/!><!,0 -1*)& $!E<6/P?G!8!3)# '3& ,%-B& !8*# 3%-B& !A8;-1C!78'!-*& $%-A-& *!-$.!%3# )!

P# /# !5'+$5!%3/'(53!%3# !4/'*# 22!'J!:# +$5!0-%*3# .!P+%3!%3# !*3+,.]!%3+2!+$*,(.# 2!7<!

*3+,./# $!J'/!P3'0!%3# +/!J'2%# /!*-/# /2!P# /# !:# +$5!-22# 22# .!%'!-.'4%!%3# 0F!-$.!

'$# !*3+,.!P3'!3-2!0'K# .!+$!P+%3!3# /!4/'24# *%+K# !-.'4%# /2F!+$!%3# !W=@F!'$!-!

J'2%# /+$5!:-2+2!J'/!%3# !%+0# !:# +$5]!!

• .6 !,0 -1*)& $!E.: /6 ?G!0 8*!J& & $!N1-$O& *M!P+%3!4'%# $%+-,!4/'24# *%+K# !J-0+,+# 2!-$.!

J(/%

0-% !

• %0 & )& !0 8*! R!,0 -1*)& $!EF/6 ? G!P !%

P-2!%'!:# !

:# # !

• A8;-1C!A-$*-$@!78'!# $!0 # 1*!A# )!>!,0 -1*)& $6!J'/!7!*3+,. P'(,.

+
��������������

2(44'/%!4- F!;!*

:##$!0-%

4(%%+ 7!*3+,.!P-2!-P-+%+$5!/# 2(,%2!J/'0!0# .+*-,!%# 2%2]!

• A8;-1C!A-$*-$@!78'!8,%-B& 1C!J& -$@!3)# @)& ''& *!A# )!%0 & !)& ;8-$-$@!>R!,0 -1*)& $!

E>5/P? G!P3'!3-.!-,,!:# # $!-,,'*-%# .!-!.# .+*-%# .!J-0+,)!J+$.+$5!2'*+-,!P'/Y# /L!!

7
!S3+2!J+5(/# !+$*,(.# 2!*3+,./# $!P+%3!-!1,-*# 0# $%!N /.# /!-$.!-!1,-$!J'/!@.'4%+'$F!'/!4-/-,,# ,!4,-$!P3# /# !

Page 23



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

NJ!%3#!8Q!*3+,./# $!'$!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7D!J'/!P3'0!-*% +K#!J-0+,)!J+$.+$5!
 !"

!:#+$5!

4(/2(#.6!

• -,0'2%
#
_D<LR`F!7Ma!3-. #

&'(/%!C#*+2+'$!J'/!-.'4%+'$!

_1,-*#0#$%!N/.#/a!P+%3+$!%3#!,-2%!%3/##!0'$%32F!2'!J'/!%3#2#!*3+,./#$!J-0+,)!

J+$.+$5!+2!+$!+%2!#-/,)!2%-5#2L!

• -!h(-/%#/!_;8LM` F!7;a!3-.!+$%#/#2%!#U4/#22#.!+$!%3#0!:)!-$!-.'4%+K#!J-0+,)!d!%3+2!

+$%#/#2%!P-2!+$!+%2!#-/,)!2%-5#2!-$.!3-.!$'%!)#%!4/'5/#22#.!%'!-!,+$Y]!

• 8 8 ! _^QL^` a! P#/#! b3+%#! _8 D! b3+%#! [/+%+23F! 7 ! b3+%#! N %3#/F! ; !

>'0 -Ei)42)ES/-K#,,#/aF!;!*3+,./#$!P #/#!0 +U#.!b 3+%#!-$.![,-*Y!&-/+::#-$]!

• D8!_RQL8` a!P #/#!+$!2+:,+$5!5/'(42F!+$*,(.+$5!78!P +%3 !-!4,-$!%'!:#!4,-*#.!%'5#%3#/!

-$.!7;!%'!:#!4,-*#.!2#4-/-%#,)!J/'0 !2+:,+$52]!

• Q!_7^L8` a!P #/#!-5#.!'$#!-$.!($.#/F!;M!_M7L<` a!P #/#!-5#.!%P 'BJ'(/F!-$. !7 M!

_D<LR ` a!P #/#!-5#. !J+K#!-$. !'K#/L!

=##!@44#$.+U!7F!J'/!-!:/#-Y.'P$!'J!.#0 '5/-43+*!.#%-+,2!J'/!-,,!*3+,./#$!P-+%+$5!%'!

:#!4,-*#.!:)!J-0 +,)!J+$.+$5!2%-%(2L!!

6/!"0-1*)&$!7-%0!8!318$!%08%!08'!,08$@&*!!

[#%P##$!7!@4/+,!-$.!D7!C#*#0 :#/!;<7DF!8M!*3+,./#$?2!4,-$2!P#/#!*3-$5#.!J/'0 !

-.'4%+'$!%'!4#/0 -$#$%!J'2%#/!*-/#L!@2!+%!P-2!-!*3-,,#$5#!%'!4/'K+.#!-**(/-%#!

+$J'/0 -%+'$!+$!/#,-%+'$!%'!*3-$5#!'J!4,-$2F!+%!P-2!-5/##.!%3-%!J/'0 !@4/+,!;<7DF!%3#!

>#K+#P+$5!N JJ+*#/2!V-$-5#/2?!P+,,!h(-,+%)!-22(/#!%3#!.-%-F!-$.!4/'K+.#!-!/#4'/%!

P3+*3!P+,,!:#!+$*'/4'/-%#.!+$%'!%3#!/#4'/%!4/'K+.#.!:)!&'/-0 L!S3#!/#4'/%!3-2!$'%!

:##$!J'/%3*'0 +$5]!%3+2!3-2!:##$!/-+2#.!P+%3!%3#!/#,#K-$%!2#/K+*#!0 -$-5#/L!

=/!"0-1*)&$!-$!,8)&!3)#,&&*-$@'!7-%0!8$!8@&$,C!*&,-'-#$!A#)!8*#3%-#$4!

8<!*3+,./#$!P#/#!+$!%3#!&'(/%!4/'*#22!'$!D7!C#*#0 :#/!;<7DF!P3#/#!%3#!@5#$*)!

C#*+2+'$!V-Y#/!3-.!-5/##.!-!4,-$!J'/!-.'4%+'$!:(%!-!1,-*#0 #$%!N /.#/!3-.!$'%!)#%!

:##$!5/-$%#.L!@$'%3#/!;!*3+,./#$!_2+:,+$52a!3-K#!3-.!%3#+/!1,-*#0 #$%!N /.#/!/#K'Y#.!

-2!:+/%3!J-%3#/!*'$%#2%#.!%3#!-.'4%+'$!4,-$L!!

Page 24



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

=##!J+5(/#!̂ !J'/!$(0:#/!'J!0'$%32!%3#2#!*3+,./#$!3-.!:##$!P-+%+$5!J/'0!@5#$*)!

C#*+2+'$!.-%#L!

9+5(/#!̂ !

!

Z\8<!

.6>!,0-1*)&$!08*!8$* !:#%P##$!7!@4/+,!

-$.!D7!C#*#0:#/!;<7DL!!!$ $
8

17
15

0

5

10

15

20

Less than 1 month 1-3 months Over 3 months 

Children with an Agency Decision for adoption 
but no Placement Order, by length of time from 

Agency Decision date, 31 December 2013 

Page 25



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

233&$*-S!.!

S-:,#!76!&3+,./#$!P-+%+$5!%'!:#!4,-*#.!P+%3!-!J-0+,)!:)!J-0+,)!J+$.+$5!2%-%(2!-$.!

$(0:#/
%

9-0+,)!J+$.+$5!2%-%(2! S'%-,! `! 1N! 5/-$%#.!

P+%3+$! ,-2%! D!

0'$%32!!

E%&@1'9( 8D! DML^! 7;!

F+*G'9( 7M! 7;LM! 7!

)-%*(&"(@1%*,'( Q! OLM! !

<@&+H'(8%7+-5(8+*9+*,( 8Q
;
!! 8<L̂ ! 7M!

2%7+-5(2+*9+*,(I*(J"-9
C
( 8! DLD! !

K"&%-( 7;<! ! ;^!!

S-:,#!;6!&3+,./#$!P-+%+$5!%'!:#!4,-*#.!P+%3!-!J-0+,)!:)!J-0+,)!J+$.+$5!2%-%(2!-$.!

#%3$+*+%)!

9-0+,)!J+$.+$5!

2%-%(2!

b3+%#!

[/+%+23!

b 3+%#!

N%3#/!

>'0-E!

i)42)E!

S/-K#,,#/!

b 3+%#!-$.![,-*Y!

&-/+::#-$!

N%3#/!V+U#.!

:-*Y5/'($.!

E %&@1'9(( DM! D! ;! 7! ;!

F+*G'9( 78! ! ! ! 7!

)-%*(&"(@1%*,'( Q! ! ! ! !

<@&+H'(8%7+-5(

8+*9+*,(

88! 7! ;! ;! !

2%7+-5(8+*9+*,(

"*(1"-9(

;! ;! ! ! !

K"&%-( 7<8! R! 8! D! D!

!

! !

;
!S3# /# !P# /# !%# $%-%+K# !,+$Y2!'/!# U4/# 22+'$2!'J!+$%# /# 2%!J'/!7;!'J!%3# 2# !*3+,./# $!!

!

Page 26



!

!"#$"#%&'()%#'*&+*,()%*'-.(/0
&1
(2'3#4%#5.(6477%#5("8(!1+-9:;(<9"$&+"*(="4#*'5.(<$#+->?'@'73'#(AB/CD/0( ((!

T8J1&!<4!"0-1*)&$!78-%-$@!%#!J&!318,&*!7-%0!8!A8;-1C!JC!A8;-1C!A-$*-$@!'%8%+'!8$*!

8@&!

!

9-0+,)!J+$.+$5!

2%- %(2!

W$.#/!SP'! SP'B9 '( /! 9 +K#!- $.!'K#/!!

E%&@1'9( 7O! ;<! R!

F+*G'9( D! Q! D!

)-%*(&"(@1%*,'( ! M! 8!

<@&+H'(8%7+-5(

8+*9+*,(

^!! ;R! 7M!

2%7+-5(8+*9+*,("*(

1"-9(

7! D! !

K"&%-( ;Q! RD! ;^!

T8J1&!>4!"0-1*)&$!78-%-$@! %#!J&!318,&*!7-%0!8! A8;-1C!JC! A8;-1C! A-$*-$@! '%8%+'!8$*!

'-J1-$@!'%8%+'!

9-0 +,)!J+$.+$5!

2%-%( 2!

=+$5,#! 1,-$!%'!:#!4,-*#.!

P+%3!-,,!2+:,+$5E2!

1,-$!%'!:#!4,-*#.!

2#4-/-%#,)!J/'0 !-%!

,#-2%!'$#!2+:,+$5!

E %&@1'9( ;;! Q! 7;!

F+*G'9( 8! M! R!

)-%*(&"(@1%*,'( 8! ;! D!

<@&+H'(8%7+-5(

8+*9+*,(

7Q! 7Q! ;R!

2%7+-5(2+*9+*,("*(

1"-9(

7! ;! 7!

K"&%-( 8R! D;! 8;!

!!

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Kent County Council and Coram Partnership 
Corporate Parenting Panel: 14 February 2014 
Summary Report on Adopters’ Journey 
1 April to 31 December 2013 

 
   

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram, Kent CC 
Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 

Page 29



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

Table of Contents   
 
Introduction......................................................................................................................2 

Adopters’ enquiries ..........................................................................................................2 

Applications for assessment received from prospective adoptive households ................. 7 

Adopters approved ........................................................................................................ 10 

Kent-approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local authorities
...................................................................................................................................... 11 

Service Activity update .................................................................................................. 11 

Page 30



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

 

Introduction 
This summary report provides an overview of the adopters’ journey in Kent County 
Council for all adoptive households who made an enquiry, submitted a formal application 
to be assessed as adoptive households or whose application was presented to panel 
between 1 April and 31 December 2013. Detailed reports are provided every six months. 
The service has developed a new spreadsheet-based tool that captures this data for the 
whole journey and uses it to support effective performance management of every case 
we are dealing with this year. We will need to continue to use this tool alongside Liberi, 
which has now been implemented, as the current version of Liberi does not properly 
support the new two-stage recruitment process nor does it allow us to track our progress 
to the level of detail we need to be able to report on our performance in sufficient detail. 

Adopters’ enquiries  
Between 1 April and 31 December 2013, the Adoption Service received 407 new 
enquiries from prospective applicants, a 28% increase compared with the same 
period in 2012/13 (318). Of these, 267 need to be handled under the new two-stage 
recruitment process. Table 1 shows the number of enquiries received each month for the 
last three financial years. 

Figure 1 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of adopter enquiries by month

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

The enquiries have come from all over Kent as well as from outside the local authority. 

Page 31



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

12% (49) were from outside of Kent’s borders, including 22 from Medway, 1 from 
Brighton, 6 from Bexley, 5 from Bromley, 1 from Crawley, 1 from Croydon, 1 from 
Greenwich, 1 from Hackney, 2 from Hastings, 1 from Horsham, 1 from Hounslow, 1 from 
Lambeth, 2 from Lewisham, 2 from Mole Valley and 2 from Tandridge. 11 enquirers did 
not provide us with any address details. 

Figure 2 shows the distribution of these enquiries across the authority. 
Figure 2 

32
39

23
18 14

43
34

26 27
36

26 29
22

27

11

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Number of enquiries by district

  

Timescales from the initial enquiry to formal application – first-time adopters  
Old Process – applications received before 1 July 2013 
We received 143 formal enquiries from first-time adopters between 1 April and 30 June 
2013. 3 of these asked to put on the new process and so are included in the next 
section. The increase in the number of enquiries did not impact on the speed with which 
we dealt with them. The average time from initial enquiry to preparation group was just 
over 3 months (98 days) - in 2012/13 it took on average 13 months, so in fact we have 
made significant improvements in this aspect. All but one enquiry received before 1 July 
2013 have now been closed, converted to applications or moved to the new two-stage 
process. The one enquiry has complicated medical concerns and a visit by the medical 
adviser has been arranged – if the enquiry proceeds they will follow the new process. 
 
The enquiries progressed as shown in Table 1 below. 

Page 32



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 
Page 33



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

 
Table 1: Progress of enquiries made under the old process 
Information event Initial visit Prep Group 
104 out of 140 households 
(74%) attended an info event 

71 out of 104 households 
(68%) had an initial visit. 

45 households (63%) have attended prep 
group. 

3 households were moved to 
the new process.  

 1 household has complicated medical 
concerns and a visit by the medical 
adviser has been arranged 

33 households withdrew 
before attending Info event: 
- 17 did not responded to 
our attempts to contact 
them so we have closed 
the cases 

- 6 were provided with all 
our info events dates but 
did not book on to any of 
them  

- 4 are not ready to proceed 
- 3 currently trying IVF 
- 2 due to health concerns 
- 1 is progressing with 
another agency 

33 households withdrew before 
initial visit 
- 19 did not respond to our 
attempts to book an initial 
visit so we have closed the 
cases 

- 6 are not ready to proceed 
- 2 are progressing with 
another agency 

- 2 are renovating their home 
- 1 is now pregnant 
- 1 trying IVF 
- 1 wants to move to Kent 
before proceeding 

- 1 due to work commitments 

25 households withdrew following an initial 
visit and before prep group 
- 4 were not ready to proceed 
- 4 due to work commitments 
- 4 had unsuitable accommodation 
- 3 did not respond to our attempts to 
contact them 

- 2 were moving house 
- 2 due to health concerns 
- 1 due to family concerns 
- 1 became pregnant 
- 1 was a smoker and not willing to give 
up 

- 1 was trying IVF 
- 1 was getting married 
- 1 couple had separated 

 
New two-stage process 
We had 267 enquiries under the new process between 1 April and 31 December 2013. 
All enquiries are tracked at a weekly meeting. 

168 (63%) of these resulted in attendance at an information event by the end of 
December, and 86 (52%) did so within 10 working days of their enquiry. The other 82 
attended the first information event that was convenient for them. Applicants are given 
three opportunities to attend an information event – if they do not reply to our attempts to 
contact them or fail to attend three information events we write to them asking them to 
contact us if they still wish to book themselves onto an information event. 43 enquiries 
were only general enquiries, from people who were not looking to progress any further; 
and we were still trying to book the remaining 56 enquirers onto an information event. 

53 Registration of Interests (ROIs) had been submitted, including two from enquirers 
who had originally started under the old process, with 45 (85%) decided upon within 5 
working days. The decisions are made by managers, taking advice from social workers 
that is provided in the form of a report from the initial visit. These reports should be 
provided to managers within 3 working days of the visit, giving managers 2 days to make 

Page 34



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

their decision. 
For the 8 cases that were not decided upon within 5 working days, 2 were due to delays 
from social workers, 5 due to delays from managers and 1 due to delays from both the 
social worker and the manager. We have now set up a system to notify managers in 
advance when ROI decisions are due. Managers will use this to chase social workers if 
their reports are overdue and ensure that their decisions are made in time. 

Of the 117 who had not yet submitted their ROI, we had conducted an initial home visit 
with 34 and they had decided not to submit their ROI yet. We were still trying to book an 
initial visit with 22 enquirers, while 11 had informed us that they would not be 
proceeding. The remaining 40 enquirers have been designated as ‘No further action’ 
(NFA), which means that we are waiting for the enquirer to contact us and we will not be 
taking any steps to contact them. The enquirer is notified of this in writing. The trigger for 
this status includes: 

- The enquirer has informed us that they are not ready to proceed and will get in 
touch when they are (e.g. moving house, holidays, settling into new job) 

- If, after two weeks from the time they attended an information event, the enquirer 
has not responded to our attempts to book an initial visit. 

48 of the ROIs were accepted and proceeded on to Stage One of the new process to 
become prospective adopters; 4 ROIs were rejected – one due to ongoing IVF 
treatment, one due to issues identified during the initial visit that indicated they would not 
be approved if assessed, one who was going on their honeymoon and so was not ready 
to proceed, and one who had unsuitable accommodation. 1 ROI was withdrawn after 
being submitted, as the applicants decided they were not ready to proceed. 

Of the 48 applicants whose ROIs were accepted, 10 had completed Stage One by the 
end of December, all taking longer than two months. This is in part due to an issue we 
had with administrative resources, which has now been resolved. However, this created 
a backlog that we are still clearing – as of 31 December there were 12 applications that 
had been in Stage One for more than 2 months. There also appears to be a delay 
involving medicals but we are not able to collect the data needed to determine whether 
this is due to the applicant (how soon they have their medical assessment), their GP 
(how quickly they write up their report and send it to the medical adviser) or our medical 

Page 35



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

advisers (how quickly they review the report and provide us with their advice). If there is 
delay at any of these three points it is very difficult to get the medical advice in time for 
us to make a decision within 2 months of accepting a ROI. Some delays have also been 
caused by DBS checks (average time 22 days) or other local authorities responding to 
requests for checks, as well as personal referees not returning their questionnaires in 
time. Social workers are responsible for their cases in Stage One, supported by weekly 
tracking meetings with admin staff. If all the checks and references are not completed 
within 5 weeks of the ROI being accepted we alert social workers to the actions that 
need to be taken to meet the two-month deadline.  In order for social workers to take 
ownership of the 8 week timeline for all the statutory checks to be undertaken, this target 
will be set as part of the Council’s appraisal process. 

All 10 cases that completed Stage One were invited to start Stage Two and they all 
accepted the invitation. 1 applicant withdrew after starting Stage Two as they felt their 
son was not ready with them proceeding (in January). The remaining 9 cases are still in 
Stage Two, with the first set of approvals due in March 2014 
 
Applications for assessment received from prospective adoptive households  
We received 125 new applications in the first nine months of the financial year, 112 
under the old process and 13 received for Stage Two of the new process. This is a 
28.9% increase on the number received in the same period in 2012/13 (97). Figure 3 
shows the number of applications we received in each month. 

Figure 3 

Page 36



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of applications to be assessed as prospective 
adopters

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

The 87.2% (109) of the applications received so far this year have been from first-time 
applicants – we received applications from 95 first-time adopters in the whole of 
2012/13. 9 applications are from repeat adopters, 5 of which are being handled under 
the new process. 7 applications are from foster carers, 4 of which are being handled 
under the new process. 
 
Adopters’ background 
The 125 households that applied consisted of 240 individuals: 115 couples and 10 
single adopters. The majority were married couples (94), while a further 11 male-
female couples are co-habiting. 10 applications were received from same-sex couples (9 
applications in the whole of 2012/13). 

The vast majority of applicants are White British: 90% prospective adopters in the 
current year (91% in 2012/13). A further 4% are non-British white (4% in 2012/13) – 
mostly from Western European backgrounds. We had our first Pakistani applicant for at 
least two years. 

1 application has been received from a prospective adopter reporting a disability. 
(compared with 5 in 2012/13). 

We have had first time applications from all twelve districts in Kent, plus 2 from Medway 
and 6 from other local authorities (1 from Surrey, 1 from Lewisham, 1 from Bexley, 1 

Page 37



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

from Greenwich, 2 from West Sussex). Figure 4 shows the distribution of applications 
across the twelve districts. 

Figure 4 

8

15

6 7 6

16

12 12

5

13
11

6

2

6

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18

Number of applications by district

 

As of 31 December 2013, we had 83 cases being assessed, of which 6 were on hold. 12 
applications were withdrawn between 1 April and 31 December 2013, with all being 
assessed under the old process. The reasons for the withdrawals were: 

- Four changed their minds about wanting to adopt 
- One did not want to discuss their past during the assessment 

- One (single applicant) could not proceed due to work commitments 

- One became pregnant 

- One decided to try IVF after attending prep group 

- One withdrew on 2nd day of prep group 

- One had a change in personal circumstances 

- One decided that their birth daughter was not ready 

- One decided to move to the North East of England 

Page 38



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

Adopters approved  

Between 1 April and 31 December 2013, the Kent CC Adoption Agency decision 
maker approved 126 prospective adoptive households, a 107% increase compared 
with 61 in the same period last year; and 87 in the whole of 2012/13 and 40 in 2011/12. 
This was made up of 101 first-time adoptive households, 9 second- or third-time 
adoptive households and 16 foster carer adoptive households. Our target is to approve 
10 households each month, and we are currently exceeding that by 40%. 
 
Figure 5 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of adopters approved each month by the ADM

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14
 

Compliance with the National Minimum Standards for Adoption 
123 of the households approved were assessed under the old process. 91 (73.4%) met 
the NMS requirement of being presented to Adoption panel within 8 months of applying 
(59% in 2012/13). 26 took between 8 and 11 months; and 6 have taken longer than 11 
months (3 of which were due to the assessments being put on hold by the applicants; 2 
due to an independent social worker who we are no longer using; 1 were foster carers 
who had initially intended to adopt siblings but decided only to adopt one of the siblings 
part-way through their assessment). There has been a drop in the average time taken to 
assess first-time applicants, from 9.6 months in 2012/13 to 7.6 months in the first nine 
months of this year (in both averages we have not excluded delays due to assessments 
being put on hold by applicants). 
 

Page 39



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

3 households (1 repeat adopter, 2 foster carers) were assessed under the new process. 
Under the new guidance ADM decisions should be made with four months of the 
application being accepted. 2 of these 3 cases met this timescale – the third exceeded 
the timescale by 7 days. 

Kent-approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local 
authorities 
Between 1 April and 31 December 2013, two households have had a child placed for 
adoption, where the child was from another local authority. In both cases the adopted 
child was the sibling of a child the couple had already adopted. In 2012/13, 5 
households adopted children from outside of Kent. 

Service Activity update 
Recruitment: 
Despite a number of interviews, the Council has not been able to recruit to a permanent 
team manager post for the Initial Enquiry and Recruitment and Assessment Teams. 

Evaluation of feedback from adopters in relation to information events: 
Coram Research Team is evaluating the feedback. A report will be presented to the next 
Corporate Parenting Panel. 

Feedback from adopters following them being approved: 
This is currently being developed as it is essential that service development and 
improvements are informed by feedback from adopters. 

Cultural work including efficient ways of working: 
This work continues. A number of practices have been changed to support efficient ways 
of working – for example, adoption social workers will not attend Court hearings for 
Adoption Order Applications as child care social workers are well able to address 
parenting issues. In addition, in the past year, it has been an expectation that adoption-
assessing social workers will invite adopters into the office once an initial visit at home 
has been undertaken. This is to support efficient use of time, and reduce travel costs. 
This still remains a challenge at every level. 

In the past year a number of basic human resources requirements and practices have 

Page 40



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

been tightened up – for example sickness management and working at home.  The latter 
remains a challenge in some teams. 
 

Page 41



 

Adopters’ Journey – April to December 2013 
  

 

 
Conclusion: 
The service continues to manage assessments under both the old and new processes 
as well as supporting the deployment of Liberi, which has taken up significant resources.  
In addition, the service does not have a full management team. Despite this, we have 
greatly improved the speed with which we are processing enquiries. 

We expect that we will be managing the two recruitment processes side-by-side for at 
least another eight months. The standards and performance management processes we 
have introduced continue to support us in ensuring that we continue to operate 
effectively and provide a high quality service. 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram, Kent CC 
Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 
14 February 2014 

Page 42



 

By: Jenny Whittle, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services 
 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Families and Social Care  
To:   Corporate Parenting Panel – 14 February 2014 

Subject: UPDATE REGARDING THE WORK OF THE  HEAD TEACHER OF 
VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK) 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Summary: 
 
 
Recommendations 

This report provides Members with an overview of the priorities for 
the Virtual School Head Teacher, and details;- 
• VSK Update 
 
 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE progress made by the Virtual School Kent 

 
 
Introduction  
 
1. (1) Further to the report received by the Corporate Parenting Panel on  
13 December 2013, this report provides an overview of the tracking and monitoring of 
young peoples’ progress made since this meeting.  
 
Validated Outcomes 2012-13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item B2

Page 43



 

2. (1) The Local Raising Attainment Plan (LRAP) process has highlighted that in 
December 2013, at the end of the year’s first review period, our young people are on 
the whole progressing positively. 
Our Year 6 cohort is currently on target to exceed last year’s outcomes at the end of 
Key Stage 2 in both level 4 + English and Mathematics. This extremely positive picture 
is also evident in our latest attendance data which shows that at Christmas only 7.8% 
of our young people had attendance below 85% and therefore classed as Persistently 
Absent (PA). 
 

(2) Our Year 11 cohort are currently on target  to equal last years Key Stage 
4 results in achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or equivalent) inclusive of English and 
Mathematics, which was the best set of GCSE results that Kent’s Children in Care 
(CiC) had ever achieved. Similarly Permanent Exclusions (PEx) are at the same level 
as this time last year (LRAP #1 Dec 2012), with only 1 young person receiving a 
permanent exclusion. VSK has again been extremely successful in preventing these 
exclusions and have averted 13 potential cases. 
 

(3) Fixed Term Exclusions have increased by 97% compared to this time last 
year (LRAP #1 Dec 2012) , although the average days lost from school per exclusion 
has reduced. The only obvious attributable factor is the change in function of the Pupil 
Referral Units (PRU’s). The units’ previous functions used to be a revolving door 
approach to inclusion where the young person receives appropriate intervention to re-
engage with mainstream education to avoid permanent exclusion, the provision is now 
used for permanently excluded students. VSK are currently reviewing this issue in 
localities to unpick the concern and identify positive steps forward. 
 
 
Service Profile 
3. (1) Since September 2013 the Virtual School has been nominated for three 
national Awards:- 

• Local Government Chronicles Team of the Year 
• Local Government Chronicles Most Innovative Service Delivery Model 
• Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) Champions Award  

 
(2) Members will be pleased to hear that VSK has been shortlisted for the 

MHFA Champions Award and invited to attend the ceremony in the House of Lords on 
the 26 February based on our commitment to youth mental health. 
 

(3) VSK has also been recognised for our work in developing a national 
standard for schools to work effectively with CiC.  The pilot study was based in South 
Kent at Castle Community College (report attached as Appendix 1). We are currently 
collaborating with a number of other Virtual Schools, Institute of Recovery from 
Childhood Trauma (IRCT), Bath University, Kate Cairns Associates, Buttle UK, Ofsted 
and the DfE to develop a research base, training package and a national kite mark for 
trauma aware / attachment friendly schools. 
        
Next Steps 
 
4. (1) Develop focused intervention and support packages for our young people 
based on LRAP 1 review  

Page 44



 

 
 

5.      Recommendations: 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to: 

NOTE progress made by the Virtual School Kent 
 
 
 
Tony Doran 
Virtual School Headteacher 
07921038094  
tony.doran@kent.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Documents:  
 
Other Useful Information:   
Castle Project data Report 
 
 

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



[     Kent Educational Psychology Service 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Castle Community College and 

Virtual School Kent. 

Children in Care Project. 

Summary of data. 

July 2013 

Kent Educational Psychology Service  

Page 47



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 2 

Project Overview. 

Rationale. 

Castle Community College has been identified by the Virtual School Kent (VSK) as having good 

practice in supporting children in care (CiC).  Following initial discussions with the school and VSK a 

collaborative aim for this project has been agreed upon, which has been identified by the school and 

VSK.  The aim of this project will be to identify those aspects of good practice and build upon the 

practice to develop the good practice further and further improve outcomes for children in care. 

Kent Educational Psychology Service (KEPS) support CiC as one of the most vulnerable groups 

 This project work will be part of 

this core offer and therefore there is no charge to either school for the work described here. 

Outcomes. 

Primary Outcome: To develop a set of Quality Standards which schools can use to monitor and 

develop their policies and practice for supporting children in care. The standards will focus on; 

o Classroom practice  

o Provision of additional support for learning and pastoral care 

o Staff networks, communication, systems and support  

o School ethos, management and policy. 

Secondary outcomes: 

1. For the Virtual School Kent to have a set of Quality Standards that they can be used with 

other schools to promote attachment aware schools across the county. 

2. For Castle Community College to capture and build upon their good practice in supporting 

children in care.  

 

This report is a summary of the data that was collected at Castle Community College between 

February and March 2013 as part of this project.  The full data set will be used by KEPS to write the 

Quality Standards document in July and August 2013. 

 

Report collated by Dr Ben Hayes, Senior Educational Psychologist. 

Data collection and analysis completed by Ben Hayes, Lucy Browne (Trainee Educational 

Psychologist), Dr Jenny Fleming (Educational Psychologist) and VSK participation workers. 

 

Page 48



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 3 

Overview of the data collected. 

 

 

Data source and focus Measure used or 

approach taken 

Data collected Page. 

How children in care feel 

about being in school. 

Psychological Sense of 

School Membership Scale. 

11 students completed 

questionnaires. 

4 

The views of children in 

care. 

Semi structured 

interviews conducted by 

VSK participation workers. 

Analysis of the answers to 

questions from 11 

interviews. Themes 

identified. 

4 

The views of foster carers 

who have children at the 

school. 

Focus group. Transcript of the focus 

group analysed. Themes 

identified. 

5 

Interviews with key 

support staff who work 

with CiC 

Appreciative inquiry 

interviews. 

Transcripts of 9 interviews 

analysed. Themes 

identified. 

6 

A whole staff survey School climate and ethos 

questionnaire. 

33 surveys completed. 

Quantitative and 

qualitative analysis of 

answers. 

8 

perception of 

classroom climate in 

school 

My Class Inventory 

identifies perceived levels 

of satisfaction, friction, 

cohesion, difficulty and 

competition. 

400 students completed 

questionnaires. 

10 

Senior Leadership Team. Rich Picture of school 

support for children in 

care. 

A detailed overview of 

aspects of the school 

organisation and system 

that SLT identified as 

significant in meeting the 

needs of children in care. 

11 

 

Page 13 presents an overview of the themes from the qualitative aspects of the data. 

 

 

Page 49



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 4 

Results. 

 

How children in care feel about being in school. 

Psychological Sense of School Membership Scale. 

 

11 CiC (3 female 8 male, with an mean age of 14 years 7 months) at Castle Community College 

completed the PSSM scale questionnaire. The questionnaires were completed anonymously and 

scored by KEPS. The mean score for the group was 4.3 (5 being the highest possible score) indicating 

a high sense of belonging. 

 

The views of children in care.  

Semi structured interviews were conducted by VSK participation workers David Tedese and Sophia 

Dunstan following training by KEPS. All CiC were informed that the interviews were anonymous and 

that they were under no obligation to take part. 13 CiC were approached and 2 declined to take part. 

 

Example responses to the questions asked are given below. 

1. What do you think is good about your school?  

 Everything, Food tech, maths lessons, friends. 

 Teachers always give you a new start if you get into trouble. 

 The staff and students respect everyone. 

 Students achieve good results/grades. Lots of support for all students and good teachers. 

 Being around friends. 

 Everything apart from teachers as they are annoying. 

 There is always someone you can talk to. 

 

2. What kinds of things make you feel that you fit in with the school? 

 Friendly students and teachers that always ask if you are OK. 

 Not the only looked after child in the school and lots of understanding friends. 

 Everyone is friendly, have a good relationship with PE teachers. 

 No one judges me. 

 Lots of friends and everyone is so friendly.  Also I go to lots of after school and lunchtime 

clubs 

 Good relationships with some teachers and have lots of friends 

 Get on with some teachers and have a good group of friends 

 Attends some after school clubs and gets on well with teachers and friends 

 

3. What do you think people at the school think about you? 

 Hard working and nice to people 

 Happy Chatty Quiet (unless reading) 

  

Page 50



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 5 

  

 Teachers would say they hate me. My friends like me 

 Most people know that I am in care but no one treats me different. 

 

4. In what ways are you supported at school? 

 Peps (Personal Education Plans) 

 Mostly independent but when I want help I can get it. 

  

  

 Teachers, form tutor and my friends support me. 

 

The views of foster carers who have children at the school.  

Focus group. 

 

A group of 4 foster carers of students at Castle Community College took part in a focus group with a 

member of KEPS leading the conversation. The focus group was recorded and the following themes 

were identified. Examples of points from the discussion are given to illustrate each theme. 

What works well to support Children in Care (CiC) at this academy? 

 Boundaries  young people know what to expect and what is expected of them 

 Consistency 

 Continuity 

 Positive relationships 

 

Relationships between staff and the children 

 Building trust was viewed as key  developed via a relaxed approach,  

 Treating young people as individuals, 

 Having positive expectations and aspirations for the young people.  

 Staff a e on). 

 Involving children in their own targets and support plans. 

 

Relationships and communication between staff and the carers 

 Regular communication, unified view, jointly agree on support plans 

 Access to in-school resources, such as counselling 

 Highly skilled pastoral support staff 

 Carers feeling that there is good contact with individual members of staff as 

needed  such as via email 

 Staff having a good knowledge of children in care system and mechanisms for 

additional support as needed. 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 6 

Interviews with key support staff who work with CiC  

Appreciative inquiry interviews. 

  

KEPS interviewed 9 members of staff in school who were identified as being key support staff for 

children in care. The same semi-structured interview was used for all the interviews, based on an 

appreciative inquiry framework.  Interviews were anonymous and were tape recorded for 

subsequent analysis. The themes identified in analysis are presented below with some example 

statements that staff said or described in their interviews. 

 

 

 

 You know the backstory to their problems 

 You have to be sensitive to them in a sophisticated way 

 You can feel who will able to be part of an integration group 

 You have to understand that their behaviour is just their way of sending 

messages 

 Understanding what makes them tick 

 Knowing things he might struggle with and watching out for them. 

 

Building relationships 

 

 A strong emphasis on the value of trust between members of staff and children 

e.g. giving children nice equipment to borrow and trusting that they will return it. 

Also, trust is developed between members of staff, such as a TA being trusted to 

make a professional judgement about whether a CiC is in the right frame of mind 

to access lessons on some days.  

 Year 7 is a key time 

 Being there for the students 

 Coming to the school is a new beginning 

 Tell them exactly what is happening and when.  

 Take what they say at face value, this helps you develop trust 

 Open door policy (for the student support centre) 

 Going to his home before he came to school to meet him 

 

Building reciprocity with students 

 

  

 Every day is a new chance to start again. 

 Not holding things against them. 

 The focus is on now, not what has happened in the past 

 Listening to their story is the key 

 Bring their feelings into the room 

 Really listening to them  

 Discovering his hidden interests 

 

Building reciprocity between students 

 

 Make introductions to new people for them 

Page 52



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 7 

 Getting him involved in groups 

 Helping him join in with things 

 Aspire centre  peers encourage each other 

  staff encourage students to feel that they can share their problems with who 

 

 

Communication networks 

 

 Meetings for TAs where children and strategies could be discussed, problem 

solving approach taken to generate ways forward. Information regarding CiC was 

disseminated on a regular basis via staff meetings, email, ect. 

 Everyone communicates in school. 

 We are a tight network 

 Staff communicate really well in school. 

 

Staff characteristics, motivation and dedication 

 

 There is a strong team ethos for key workers  members of staff view themselves 

 

 Staff are committed to raising standards and supporting CiC e.g. thinking about 

 

 Nothing is too much trouble for people. 

 People recognise that there is some help that is needed 

 Staff have student at heart. 

 I enjoy the day to day interaction with the students  

 Supporting CiC is seen as the responsibility of all members of staff 

 

Staff skills and expertise 

 

 I run anger management groups 

 We run lots of groups, like the friendship group 

 You have to teach yourself to interact with them. 

 You have to be a warm friendly person 

 Training to be a counsellor 

 You have to be approachable. 

 Knowing how to build their self-belief 

 

Processes and systems 

 

 There is a clear behaviour policy which is followed. 

 We can set up a very gradual re-inclusion process if we need to (from the 

Learning Support Centre) 

 The Aspire centre 

 Lots of clubs running that help people take part. Clubs can lead on to other 

things. 

 

Page 53



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 8 

 

Whole staff survey. 

School climate and ethos questionnaire. 

 

33 staff completed anonymous questionnaires about the school climate. Quantitative and qualitative 

analysis was completed. 

 

Staff consistently rated the school as providing a friendly, rewarding and supportive atmosphere 

with an average rating of 3.58 on a scale of 1-4 (with 4 being highest). Staff consistently rated the 

school as supporting co-operation and active learning. 

 

Staff were asked to think of a time when a child in care was particularly well supported in school. 

Qualitative themes identified were as follows. 

 

Processes and systems. 

 

 There is a clear and meaningful rewards policy  e.g. aspire merits, which can 

earn time in a games room during some lessons.  

 Providing access to a school counsellor, and providing training to some members 

of staff in counselling techniques to use with children. 

 Providing access to a Student Centre for the children to go to in emergencies.  

 

Senior Leadership Team 

 

 Key Workers and TAs feel that they can approach members of SLT with concerns, 

and that they felt supported to do their job.  

 

Key Support Staff 

 

 Key workers are committed to building good relationships with carers, good 

home school links.  

 Members of key support staff are sensitive to the needs of the children  including 

t to be identified as such and being 

mindful of this, treating them like everyone else.  

 Members of Key support staff have developed an awareness of language  

 

 Members of support staff find it rewarding to and are motivated by seeing the 

progress and improvement in students. 

 

 

 Key support staff recognise the importance of being consistent when say will be 

 

 Key support staff are flexible with the curriculum and able to adapt it to meet the 

needs of children, e.g. homework club for children who need additional support, 

also features fun activities for children, including craft activities, so CiC can take 

crafts home and show whoever is at home, build in successes.  

Page 54



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 9 

 Members of Key support staff are instrumental in developing social interaction 

skills e.g. running social skills groups for all year 7s and targeted groups for those 

who need it, including some CiC.  

 

All Staff 

 

 Staff seek to provide enriching experiences for CiC e.g. school staff organise free 

music lessons for CiC. 

 Staff encourage good home-school links, with ongoing support for carers 

 Staff provide extra support for academic work. 

 

the school.  

 Members of staff are told when a new child is visiting school, and encouraged to 

make them feel welcome.  

 Having a specific member of staff for CiC who school staff can approach.  

 Members of staff are friendly and approachable. 

 Members of staff encourage all students to develop a sense of community  

through assemblies, form groups, the house system.  

 Members of school staff model behaviour every day, in how members of staff 

 

 

mate in school 

My Class Inventory identifies perceived levels of satisfaction, friction, cohesion, difficulty and 

competition. 

 

400 students across all year groups completed the MCI.  Mean scores are shown with 3 being 

highest. 

 

 

 Mean 

Satisfaction 

Score 

Mean 

Friction 

Score 

Mean 

Competition 

Score 

Mean 

Difficulty 

Score 

Mean 

Cohesion 

Score 

Total 1.95 1.90 1.94 1.53 1.70 

Year 7 2.01 2.05 1.94 1.49 1.62 

Year 8 2.00 2.08 2.14 1.56 1.71 

Year 9 1.95 2.47 2.22 1.45 1.54 

Year 10 1.51 2.36 1.96 1.53 1.50 

Year 11 1.80 1.58 1.71 1.43 1.68 

Year 12 2.29 1.33 1.58 1.73 1.94 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 10 

 
 

 

Key points and initial notes based on visual inspection; 

 

 Overall satisfaction is high across the school. Total satisfaction is higher than any 

other total score for the questionnaire. 

 Levels of perceived friction change a great deal year on year and in some years 

are high. 

 Levels of perceived competition are highest in years 8 and 9 but are low in years 

11 and 12. 

 Levels of perceived difficulty are all very close to the median score with a higher 

score in year 12. 

 In year 12 the highest levels of satisfaction and cohesion are associated with the 

lowest levels of friction and competition and the highest levels of perceived 

difficulty. 

 

Indications of possible trends over time. 

 

This data ather than longitudinal data, however patterns suggest that 

there may be trends during the career of a student at Castle. The children appear to 

experience; 

 A drop in satisfaction during years 10 and 11. 

 Increased friction and competition during years 8, 9 and 10. 

 Increasing cohesion  towards the end of their school career in years 11 and 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 11 

 

Senior Leadership Team.  

Rich Picture of school support for children in care. 

 

 

A rich picture was produced by the Senior Leadership in school, facilitated by a member of the KEPS 

team. Rich Pictures aim to capture a elements in a complex organisational context by mapping key 

ideas and links in a graphical format. 

Key:   

Icon Meaning 

 Important 

 
Tension 

 

Idea 

 
Balance 

 

How (how idea 

is launched into 

practice)           

 Quotes & 

examples 

 
Zoom: What 

would we see?     

 

Communication 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 12 

 

Page 58



 

 
Kent Educational Psychology Service.   educational.psychology@kent.gov.uk 

 
Page 13 

 

An overview of themes from adult derived qualitative data. 

 

Foster Carers Key Support Staff Whole Staff SLT 

Boundaries Processes and systems Processes and systems Key CIC person in school 

Consistency Staff characteristics Behaviours and 

characteristics of all staff 

Individualised plans and 

responses. 

Continuity Communication networks Behaviours and 

characteristics of key 

support staff 

Well trained staff 

Positive Relationships 

carers-staff 

Building relationships 

staff-student 

SLT Relationships with 

students 

Positive Relationships 

students - staff 

Building reciprocity with 

students 

 School Ethos and sense of 

community. 

 Building reciprocity 

between students 

 Inclusive nature. 

 Staff skills and expertise  Academic and 

social/emotional balance 

 Staff understanding of 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Find details about Kent Educational Psychology Service at: 

 http://www.kenttrustweb.org.uk/eps/eps_home.cfm 

  

Purchase our services at: 

http://www.edukent@kent.gov.uk 

 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



By: Jenny Whittle, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services 

 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Families and Social Care  

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 14 February 2014 

Subject: OFSTED INSPECTION ACTION PLANS - UPDATE 

 
Classification:   Unrestricted 
 
Summary: 

 

 

 

Recommendations 

The report reviews progress in responding to the recommendations 
made by Ofsted in their inspections of Kent County Council’s child 
protection and Children in Need, Children in Care/Care Leavers and 
fostering and adoption services. 
The report also identifies key issues that are central to the local 
authority’s preparation for a future inspection by Ofsted under its 
current inspection framework (published 7 November 2013). 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to: 

NOTE progress made on the Ofsted Action Plans 
 

 
Introduction 
 (1) Over the past two years Kent County Council, Specialist Children’s 
Services have undergone four Ofsted inspections: 

• Children in Care / Care Leavers – published report 23 August 2013 
(adequate) 

• Adoption support services – published report 18 June 2013 
(adequate) 

• Children in need of help and Protection – published report  
15 January 2013 (adequate) 

• Fostering Services – published report 31 July 2012 (adequate) 
 

(2) The performance identified in each of these inspections represents a 
significant improvement by the local authority and its partners since Ofsted’s joint-
inspection of Kent’s safeguarding and children in care services in November 2010, 
which resulted in an inadequate grading.  

(3) Action plans are in place, which respond to each of the priorities for 
action recommended by Ofsted under each inspection.  These have been reviewed 
and updated to reflect current progress and are presented at appendices 1 to 4.  
Work is taking place in February 2014 to consolidate these four action plans into one 
overarching plan. 

Agenda Item B3

Page 61



(4) Overall, these action plans reflect good progress in relation to 
addressing each of the priorities identified by Ofsted.  Some areas of practice 
require further work / regular monitoring and / or have been identified repeatedly in 
the recent inspections as needing to be addressed.   These are summarised as 
follows.  
 (5) Supervision / management oversight – inadequate supervision / 
management oversight can be seen to act as a limiting judgement with the potential 
to downgrade good practice to no more than adequate / requires improvement.  It 
potentially leaves the local authority vulnerable to an inadequate judgement if it is 
found to be a consistent issue in social work practice. 

 
 (6) The identification of supervision / management oversight as an issue is 
a common theme in Kent’s recent Ofsted inspections; especially the safeguarding 
and Children in Care/Care Leaver inspections. The work being undertaken to 
improve practice in this area is detailed in the action plan responding to the most 
recent Ofsted Inspection on Children in Care/Care Leavers (see Appendix 1, 
Priority 1). 
 
 (7) Planning – is another practice theme that has emerged from Ofsted’s 
recommendations from their inspections.  Monitoring of all child protection (CP) and 
Children in Care (CIC) plans is taking place within the CP chairs and Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) service.  Work is taking place within the CP chairs service to 
extend monitoring of the plan in-between conferences so that a similar level of case 
oversight is given to the implementation of the plans that exists already for children 
in care.  Child in need (CIN) plans and pathway plans for Care Leavers remain 
potentially the weakest areas with respect to planning; they are currently not subject 
to as high a level of quality assurance oversight as child protection and Children in 
Care.  The work that is taking place to address this is summarised below: 

 
• Children in Need (CIN) – An audit of all open CIN cases were undertaken in 

February 2013 in response to Ofsted’s recommendation (Appendix 2, 
action 1.1).  The findings from this audit were generally positive but did 
identify some practice issues that needed further review to ensure that they 
were addressed.  The Quality Assurance Peer Review online audit enables a 
sample of CIN cases to be audited regularly each month; 108 CIN cases have 
been audited between February 2013 and December 2013.  Of the 93 cases 
audited between July 2013 and December 2013, 78.5% were deemed to be 
adequate or better in relation to case practice.  This corresponds to an overall 
performance of adequate or better in all cases over this period of 86%   A 
repeat of last year’s audit of all open CIN cases is being planned between 
March and May 2014. 

 
• Care Leavers – The Children in Care/Care Leavers inspection identified 

practice for this group of young people as a particular area of concern.  Work 
is already underway to improve the delivery of care leaver services and this is 

Page 62



reflected in the actions set out in the action plan responding to the CIC/Care 
Leavers inspection findings by Ofsted.  The level of quality assurance of 
social work and personal advisor practice with care leavers is being 
strengthened.  A specific section for care leavers is to being added in to the 
Quality Assurance Peer Review Online audit system for use in February 
2014.  This will enable care leavers to be included in the monthly auditing of 
cases as well as additional themed audits being undertaken.   

 
 (8) Participation/child focused practice – is a core focus of Ofsted’s 
inspection regime.  It is most evident in the latest Ofsted Inspection findings on 
Children in Care/Care Leaver services (see Appendix 1, priorities 3, 4 and 5).  See 
also Fostering Inspection (appendix 4, priority 1).  A lot of work is being undertaken, 
led by Virtual School Kent (VSK) and the IRO service, to improve the quality of 
participation, both at an individual child / young person, service development and 
delivery and through strengthening the voice of our children and young people via 
our children in care council.  This includes:  

 
• The way in which was find out the views of our children in care through 

surveys is being looked at to make this more user friendly and child / young 
person focussed.  The Young Lives Foundation have sought the views of our 
children in care to develop a survey questionnaire that focusses on the things 
that our children and young people want us to know about with respect to 
their experiences of being in care.   This questionnaire will be used annually 
to build up a picture of what it is like to be a child in care in Kent.  It 
complements the findings from the annual in-care monitor delivered under the 
children’s commissioner.  Work is also taking place to incorporate the current 
IRO service survey into the e-pep to help minimise the number of surveys that 
children and young people in care are presented with.   

• Work is taking place to produce a follow-up DVD to the original ‘Care to 
Listen’ DVD that was produced by children and young people to tell adults 
and professionals about their experiences of the care system.  The VSK has 
organised a number of events over the school holidays in February 2014 for 
the initial filming for this DVD. 

• A LILAC assessment has been commissioned and is planned to take place in 
April 2014. LILAC stands for ‘Leading Improvements for Looked After 
Children and has been developed by a National VOICE as a way of involving 
young people with experience of the care system to carry out an assessment 
of how well services delivered by the local authority are enabling children in 
care and care leavers to participate; both at an individual level and in the 
development of policies and services that support them.  A summary of the 
LILAC process produced by a National VOICE is at appendix 6.   

   
 

Page 63



 (9)      Recommendations: 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to: 

NOTE progress made on the Ofsted Action Plans 
 
 
 
   
Paul Brightwell 
Head of Quality Assurance 
Children’s Safeguarding Unit, Specialist Children’s Services 
 
Tel: 01622 694308     
 email: Paul.Brightwell@kent.gov.uk 
 
Background documents: none 
 
 

Page 64



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

1 

 
Ofsted Inspection of Children in Care (CIC) Services: Action Plan 

 
This Action Plan is in response to the recommendations made by Ofsted from its inspection of Kent’s Children in Care/Care Leavers  services 
undertaken  July 2013  
 
Immediately 

Priority Area 1: Improve the quality of supervision and management oversight in casework 
 Action Delivery Lead 

 
When 
Completed: 

Progress to date 

1.1 

Ensure all staff receive appropriate professional 
supervision in accordance with KCC’s 
Supervision Policy, and the Practice Standards 
for Supervisors. 
 

SCS Service 
and Team 
Managers. 
 

Continual 
management 
monitoring 
remains in 
place 
 

At the end of July 2013, 93% reported receiving 6 weekly 
supervision and 68% received 4 weekly supervision. Data 
obtained from the QA online audit programme for August 
2013 shows that 88.1% of cases audited had adequate or 
better supervision.  This has increased to 89.4% in 
September 2013 and 90.9% in October 2013.  There is also to 
be a repeat of the supervision survey undertaken in 
May/June 2013 by 31st  March 2014 

1.2 

Actively ensure all managers are trained in 
provision of professional supervision.  
 
 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to 
be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

Completed.  
Regular and 
routine 
training to be 
provided to 
new 
managers 
 

90 supervisors have embarked on the Improving Supervision 
Processes in Kent programme (provided by In-Trac), in 7 
cohorts. As of August 2013, 4 cohorts have completed the 
initial training with a further three due for completion at the 
end of February. In-Trac have been commissioned to 
continue the training programme as required for new and 
additional staff, as well as refresh training, in 2014. 
 
 

1.3 
Introduction of a Practice Development 
Programme, in line with the Social Work 
Contract. 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to 

Completed 
31st October 
2013. 

Practice Development Programme (PDP) District workshops 
and surgeries have been rolled out across the County. 1-2-1’s 
and individual sessions and a series of coaching sessions are 

P
a
g
e
 6

5



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

2 

 be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

 underway with social workers and managers. A review of the 
PDP will be presented to the SCS Divisional Management 
Team (DivMT) 29TH October. 

1.4 

‘Deep Dives’ are held quarterly within the four 
Areas, and attended by SCS Senior 
Management. 
 

Mark Wheeler/ 
Patricia 
Denney,  
Interim 
Assistant 
Director of 
Safeguarding 
and Paul 
Brightwell 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

Completed.  
Deep Dives to 
continue on a 
quarterly 
basis 

Quarterly ‘Deep Dive’ analysis of performance data now well 
established, combining quantative and qualitative 
information with routine reports presented to senior 
management groups. The next report will be presented to 
the  Children’s Services Improvement Panel at the end of 
November for Member scrutiny and oversight 

1.5 

Implementation of an online Peer Review 
Quality Assurance audit programme with a peer 
review function initiated February 2013. 
 

Paul 
Brightwell. 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

Formal review 
by 31 March 
2013 and 
completed 
 

The Online audit Programme allows managers at all levels to 
audit individual cases robustly as part of routine practice. 
The audit programme is in line with KCC’s Quality Assurance 
Framework and enables practice in individual cases to be 
audited with respect to referral and response, assessment, 
child protection, child focused practice, planning, review, 
recording, supervision, management oversight and transfer 
case closure. 

1.6 
Training for all supervisors in reflective 
supervision to be provided by In Track (KCC’s 
provider of supervision training). 
 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

In place from 
November 
2013  

KCC agreed with relevant AD (14.10.13) that C22 Managers 
should link into in-house Supervision training being 
organised by KCC for 6/7.01.13 and 26/27.03.13. This will 
provide an invaluable opportunity for relevant staff to mix 

P
a
g
e
 6

6



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

3 

and share ideas. 

1.7 

In consultation with KCC QA lead/Catch22 
Leaving Care practice development group, 
implement Care Leavers Auditing Tool. 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed C22 met with KCC SCS QA lead Paul Brightwell on 18.10.13. 
 
There is already generic LAC KCC QA peer review audit tool 
and process, that Catch22 are part of.  
Agreed with PB that KCC will be implementing a new themed 
audit tool for Care Leavers in Jan 14, utilising aspects of C22 
Audit Tool adding gradings and descriptors. See 1.3 below. 
 
SC report back to next C22 Leaving Care Practice Group on 
19.12.13 recommending the addition of grading’s and 
descriptors for C22 Tool. 

1.8 

Update auditing programme to reflect 
engagement of senior managers and managers 
from other Catch22 leaving care services 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed QA lead using C22 auditing tool during visits to road test 
tool. 
 
C22 Auditing programme being updated to include C22 cross 
org audits, KCC audit and manager audits. Final additions to 
be made week of 11.11.13 by PD. 

1.9 
Ensure quality of supervision and management 
oversight of cases is tested through regular 
observed supervision sessions – annual 
timetable to be updated. 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed 
with routine 
monitoring in 
place 

Programme outlined in draft to be agreed by C22 mid-
November. 
 
QA lead undertaking observation of supervision. 

1.10 

Appoint a quality assurance practice lead to 
work alongside the manager and staff to 
support cultural change and monitor impact of 
training 

Sally Morris, 
Catch 22 

Completed Appointed -  commenced 14 to 18 Oct. Booked for: 
11th to 15th November  
16th to 20th December. 
Initial report from week one received 23.10.13 for C22 
comment.  Actions to be agreed during November QA visit. 

1.11 
Ensure sufficient management capacity through 
the review of caseloads in actions under 7 
below 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed Paper submitted to C22 Performance and Monitoring 
meeting held on 31.10.13 but KCC have requested that this is 
not progressed due to their revised commissioning 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

4 

intentions.  
 
Catch22 intend to make short term team arrangement to 
respond to Ofsted recommendations in the short term but 
action delayed due to KCC response on 31 Oct. Short term 
actions TBA in November 2013. 

Priority Area 2: Improve the quality of assessments and care planning so that interventions are focused 

2.1 

Practice Development Programme to focus on 
assessment and critical thinking and care 
planning. 

Elaine Peace, 
Independent 
Consultant- to 
be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

Completed 
with routine 
programme of 
workshops 
under PDP 

Practice Development Programme conducted in each area. 
Workshops were held between July and September 2013, a 
second round of workshops will be held across the county 
for those who were unable to attend.  
 

2.2. 

IRO service to have robust oversight of care 
plans, and focus on reducing drift. A report to 
the Head of Quality Assurance will be on a 
quarterly basis (April- June; July to September; 
October to December; January to March).   
Quality assurance of IRO audits will also be 
undertaken every other month. 

Paul Brightwell 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

Completed. 
Quarterly 
reporting in 
place. Next 
report due 
November 
2013. 

Since July 2013 IRO’s have undertaken detailed quality 
assurance grading of care plans. Approximately 74% of care 
plans audited have been graded adequate or better.  
Performance on the core components of the plan e.g. 
permanence, direct work, safety, child participation in 
proceedings, placements and transition are at a higher level 
of performance i.e. 88% - 95%. This is identified the need to 
strengthen practice in relation to bringing the component 
parts of the plan together into a coherent whole and the 
implementation of the plan within the child’s timeframe. 
The IRO service has strengthened their focus on quality 
assuring care plans which will allow all children in care plans 
to be quality assured at least twice a year (from November 
2013) and a stronger focus on reducing drift in care. 

P
a
g
e
 6

8



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

5 

2.3. 

Practice Development Workshops and Surgeries 
are held within the Areas.  
 

Elaine Peace, 
Independent 
Consultant - to 
be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

Completed.  6 
monthly 
workshops. 
 

The Practice Development Programme has delivered two 
workshops in each of the four Areas; ‘Assessment and 
Critical Thinking’, ‘Risk Analysis and Planning’. These 
workshops were promoted at two county-wide Staff 
Briefings. In addition, Performance Officers and Principal 
Practitioners support staff in District Surgeries focusing 
specifically on assessment and professional judgment. 
 

2.4 

Repeat of care planning workshops. Elaine Peace, 
Independent 
Consultant - to 
be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

Completed 
further 
workshops to 
be delivered 
by March 
2014 

A series of area workshops on care planning took place 
during the summer 2013 and feedback on these was that 
they were helpful in highlighting the practice requirements 
for effective care planning. These workshops are to be 
repeated in the areas and also held as part of district 
surgeries provided by the area Performance Officers. 

2.5 
Re-train all relevant staff on effective 
assessment and planning referencing best 
practice 

Martin 
Hazelhurst 
(NCAS) 

Completed Delivered on 23/24th October at Herne Bay Office. 
Reflective Impact session(s) booked with Independent 
Consultant week of 16.12.13. 

2.6 

Convene meeting with KCC QA lead with 
regards to the pathway planning system, 
specifically for 18+ care leavers. 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

In progress 
completion by 
31st 
December 
2013 

Initial meeting on 18.10.2013 
• Action: Paul B, Sue Clifton and Theresa Gallagher (UASC 

Service Manager) to review the C22 audit format and to 
merge with the KCC audit format for Care Leavers, with 
aim of rolling out Jan 14.  

• Paul B to meet with C22 managers in Dec 13 TBC, to 
explain themed audit process and training available. 
See also action 1.2 

2.7 Agree good practice model examples for Care Phil Doyle , Completed To be sourced from recent Ofsted Inspection and via C22 

P
a
g
e
 6

9



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

6 

Plan/PWP with KCC for managers to use in 
coaching staff. 

Catch 22 
(in 
consultation 
with Paul 
Brightwell/Sue 
Clifton/ NCAS) 

18th October 
2013 

Independent QA lead.  

2.8 

Training all relevant staff re Permanency 
Planning and Connected Persons Placement for 
all C22 Social Workers and Managers. 

 Elaine Peace, 
Independent 
Consultant - to 
be transferred 
to the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment. 

Completed 
17TH 
September 
2013 

ACTION COMPLETED 
Incorporated into Practice Improvement Development 
Programme 

2.9 

Monitor impact of training through supervision 
and audit feedback.   

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed 
Quarterly 
monitoring 
now in place 

C22 independent QA lead addressing via further service visits 
during Nov and Dec 
 
This is also being addressed through manager/C22/KCC 
driven audit work. 

Priority Area 3: Ensure that the voice of the child contributes effectively to care planning and service delivery. 

3.1 

Strengthen Kent’s Children in Care Council 
(OCYPC) to represent more fully the views of all 
children and young people in care and care 
leavers – including: 
• Increasing participation at OCYPC meetings 

/ events at county and area levels. 
• Feedback from OCYPC of what the council is 

doing. 
• Ensure OCYPC reflects the views of disabled 

Tony Doran, 
VSK Head 
Teacher. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report on 
progress 
November 
2013 
 
 
 
 
 

The series of meetings with children and young people is in 
place; members of the children in care council hold 
membership cards. 
Contact is being made with each Member of the OCYPC in 
between meetings to ensure continued interest and 
involvement 
Meetings have been altered to respond to the wishes of 
OCYPC Members and will include a fun activity. 
Feedback to be published in the Children in Care newsletter 

P
a
g
e
 7

0



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

7 

children and UASC. 
 
 

 and on the Kent Cares Town Website. 
Young people apprentices and participation events across 
Kent also allow for local involvement of children and young 
people in the OCYPC. 
See also action 5.6 

3.2. 

IRO service; Exit interviews – available to all 
children / young people who leave care aged 8 
to 18 years. 
 

Paul Brightwell 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance 

Completed/on 
place. 

Exit interviews began in April 2013. Work took place with 
National Children’s Bureau to develop a survey 
questionnaire which has also had input from children and 
young people via OCYPC.  An update on exit interview 
funding to be included in Quarterly QA IRO report 

3.3. 

Ensuring social workers ascertain the wishes 
and feelings of children and record these in the 
care plans, and this is evidenced in the case 
records. 
 
 
 
 

Area Assistant 
Directors. 

Completed/in 
place.  
Reported on 
in IRO quality 
assurance 
reports. The 
next report is 
due in 
November 
2013. 

The importance of evidencing a social worker has heard and 
is recording the voice of the child in case work is routinely 
reinforced and addressed with staff in training and District 
Surgeries, and supervision. 
Since February 2013 the QA Online audit programme 
routinely audits the quality of child focused practice which 
shows 91.9% of cases audited up to August 2013 as being 
adequate or better. 
The IRO QA work of 1991 reviews between April 2013 and 
September 2013 found 95% with adequate or better 
participation 

3.4. 

Revised review participation leaflet (developed 
with children / young people). 
 

Paul 
Brightwell, 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

Completed. Children in Care scorecard measures performance with 
respect to participation of children in care at their review 
meetings. This has been consistently above 95%, although 
further work is taking place by the IRO Service on the quality 
of participation including the proportion of children that 
attend their review meetings and/or Chair all or part of their 
reviews. These areas of performance are covered in the 
quarterly QA IRO reports and the annual IRO Management 
Report.  

P
a
g
e
 7

1



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

8 

Work took place in 2013 to revise the participation leaflet 
which is provided to children and young people prior to their 
review to assist them in preparing and thinking about the 
issues that they want covered. The leaflet was designed with 
children and young people and was distributed in July 2013. 

3.5 

Chairing their own reviews - Continue to 
promote opportunities for children / young 
people to chair all or part of their review 
meetings. 
 

Paul 
Brightwell, 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

This is 
covered in the 
quarterly QA 
IRO reports. 
Next report 
due 
November 
2013. 

There have been ongoing improvements in the proportion of 
children who have chaired all or part of their review.   8 from 
9 in Quarter1 of 2012/13 to 48 in quarter 2 of 2013/14 
On the agenda for the next OCPYC meeting (1st November 
2013)   
 

3.6 

Focus groups - IRO service to maintain regular 
focus groups with disabled children and UASC. 
 

IRO Service / 
Paul Brightwell 
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 
 

Completed – 
regular focus 
groups taking 
place 
throughout 
the year. 

Since 2012, the IRO Service has provided opportunities for 
disabled young people and UASC to contribute their views 
about being in care via focus groups run by IRO’s. A number 
of focus groups took place in 2012-13 and a summary of the 
findings from these were presented in the IRO management 
report and also a report to Corporate Parenting Panel in 
early 2013. Further focus groups to take place in the latter 
part of 2013/14 and the findings will be reported in the 
2013-14 Annual Management Report. A detailed summary 
report outlining the findings from all the IRO surveys 
including exit interviews and focus groups has been 
produced and was provided to the Ofsted inspectors. This 
report will be provided to KCPG members for scrutiny on the 
14th November 2013. 

3.7 
A coordinated approach to surveys ascertaining 
the views of children and young people in care 
and to ensure the right questions are asked and 

Sarah Skinner, 
Service 
Manager 

31st March 
2014. 

The review of current survey methodology is underway and 
feedback will be included in the process as it becomes 
available. Fully revised systems to be in place by 31st March 

P
a
g
e
 7

2



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

9 

that responses can be appropriately measured. 
 

Virtual School 
Kent. 
Richard Hallett, 
Head of 
Business 
Intelligence. 

2014.  
 

3.8 

Commission the development of a survey 
questionnaire focused on issues important to 
children and young people (survey to be run 
annually as a compliment to the national in-care 
monitor survey). 
 

Mark Wheeler, 
Interim 
Assistant 
Director of 
Safeguarding. 

Completed 
(November 
2013) 

The Young Lives Foundation have been commissioned to 
work with children and young people to develop a survey 
questionnaire. This is due for completion by December 2013. 
Work will then take place to determine the best way to 
implement the survey on an annual basis; via VSK or IRO 
Service or an outside agency. 
It is intended that the survey will run alongside the  Nation 
Children’s in care monitor which is overseen by the 
Children’s Commissioner and will help to provide a full 
picture of what it is like to be a child in Kent. 

3.9 

Complaints and Advocacy - Ensure all children 
and young people in care know how to make a 
complaint and access advocacy support. IROs to 
address this as part of every CIC review. 
 

Paul 
Brightwell,  
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 
 

Findings to be 
included in 
IRO 
Management 
Report 
2013/14. 

Representation from disabled children, UASC, 16+ young 
people and under 16’s from each locality across Kent is being 
actively encouraged. 
 

3.10 

Explore commissioning of LILAC (Leading 
Improvements for Looked After Children) 
assessment. 

Paul 
Brightwell,  
Head of 
Quality 
Assurance. 

30 December 
2013. 

Work is taking place with A National Voice to establish the 
cost of commissioning this assessment. Decision to be made 
once established by SCS DivMT. 

3.11 
Ensure that actions relating to care/pathway 
planning training above incorporate the voice of 
the child as a key dimension. 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed   ACTION COMPLETED 
See also actions 2.5 and 2.9 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

10 

3.12 
C22 to enhance recording and monitoring 
system of care leavers’ involvement in PWP’s 
with IRO service lead. Develop a QA for care 
leavers in line with IRO QA for Children in care. 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed  Linked to Actions/issues outlined in 1.2 above 

3.13 

Ensure all service delivery changes are 
discussed directly with young people and these 
discussions are recorded on their case file. 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed  Practice on this discussed and agreed with all managers at 
meeting on 17th October  To implement practice changes 
going forward i.e. all individual service changes to be 
discussed with YP via SW’s/CW’s and PWP and file records 
updated accordingly. Implementation monitored via 
supervision and auditing programme going forward. 

3.14 
Monitor the engagement and involvement of 
children and young people in care planning and 
service delivery through supervision of 
casework 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed – 
routine 
monitoring 

Monitored via supervision of casework ongoing.  
 
Team progress checked via auditing programme. 

3.15 
Ensure 6monthly questionnaires are sent to all 
Catch22 YP. YP’s action group to monitor 
responses and suggest actions to management 
team 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed – 
routine 
monitoring  

Last questionnaire circulated Feb 13 next 6 monthly 
questionnaire sent out 21.10.13. Responses to be discussed 
at appropriate management team meetings and recorded in 
minutes. 

 
 
Within 3 months: 

Priority Area 4: Improve looked after children’s participation in and ownership of PEPs and Pathway Planning 
 Action Who 

 
When 
 

Progress to date 

4.1 

Participation Apprentices encourage and assist 
children in care to participate in completing the 
young person’s section of the PEP. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

Completed. Performance Monitoring of young people’s involvement in 
the PEP is recorded, so improvement can be measured 
 
Feedback will be sought on the process from young people 
via the OCYPC and also other forums 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

4



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

11 

4.2 
Review taking place of the questions asked of  
young people in the PEP. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

Completed. Questions reviewed and comments from young people 
sought and revised questions agreed. These will be reviewed 
by the OCYPC 
 

4.3 
Participation Apprentices and other VSK staff 
engage with foster carers to encourage young 
people’s involvement in the PEP process. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

Completed. As above, performance Monitoring of young people’s 
involvement in the PEP is recorded, so improvement can be 
measured 
 

4.4 
C22 to continue to be involved in the 
development of the new PEP model with VSK. 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed  C22 contributed to meetings in 9 month development of new 
PEP system, now complete. Roll out date to be decided by 
VSK 

Priority Area 5: Increase looked after children’s participation in strategic planning by making sure that all young people know and understand the 
Pledge and contribute to the Children in Care Council, Kent cares town website and other opportunities for participation. 

5.1. 

Publicising the Kent Pledge and Kent Cares Town 
to every child in care by creating a child In Care 
Pack, given at the point of entry. 

VSK 
Headteacher, 
Tony Doran in  
 
liaison with  
Thom Wilson, 
Head of 
Strategic 
Commissioning. 

Completed. VSK recording that Children & Young people are given a pack 
within twenty working days of entering care 
 
IRO’s recording in LAC Reviews that young people have 
received the ‘pack’ and have discussed this with their carer 
 

5.2 

Maintaining a mailing list of all OCYPC Members 
and ensuring regular opportunities for them to 
meet as a group and for them to meet CPP 
Members and Senior Officers. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

Completed. 
Monitored 
monthly by 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

Evidencing attendance at OCYPC meetings through 
attendance list, and recording attendance on Liberi.  
 
Keep an up to date “You said, we did” page on the Kent 
Cares Town website 

5.3 
Continue to organise participation activity days 
during every school holiday (except Christmas) . 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

In place.  
Each school 
holiday. 

Record attendance and Update the Kent Cares Town website 
with reports, photographs and pod casts of the days 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

5



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

12 

5.4 
Seek the views of young people for future days 
to ensure all interests are catered for. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

In place. 
Reviewed at 
KCPG. 

Ensure feedback forms capturing satisfaction are completed 
to inform future delivery 
 

5.5 

Ensure Participation Apprentices/workers meet 
with the Lead Member and Senior Officers on a 
quarterly basis to review the OCPYC and focus on 
improving communication with children & young 
people in care. 

Tony Doran 
VSK 
Headteacher. 

In place. 
Quarterly 
basis. 

Recording attendance at Corporate Parenting Panel and 
other bespoke meetings 

5.6 

Establish effective communications between the 
Children in Care Council, Kent cares town and 
C22 Young People’s Action Group to increase 
YP’s opportunities for participation and impact 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

November 
2013 

Agreed with PB at meeting on 18.10.13 that Care Leavers 
need to link into and be represented on Care Council and 
their views shared with KCC Corporate Parenting Board.   
Meeting between Catch 22 and VSK to take place in 
November to look at them 

Priority Area 6: Ensure that all children and young people up to the age of 18 can access the Community Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 
(CAMHS) in a timely way. 

 6.1 

A dedicated CAMH children in care service for 
children in care to provide: 
1. Mental health assessment (uni-and multi-
disciplinary) and a range of evidence-based 
short, medium and longer term treatment. 
 
2. Mental health consultation to the child’s 
social worker and carer. 
 
3. Consultation and in-reach to children in care 
and adoption support social care teams where 
there are concerns about the mental health of a 
child/young person who is adopted or in care. 
 

In partnership 
with West Kent 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group. 
 
Sue Mullin, 
Commissioning 
Manager is the 
KCC lead on this. 
 

Completed. 
Since 1st July 
2013 – 
routine 
monitoring 
in place  

1. West Kent CCG reported to Social Care and Public Health, 
4th October 2013 that the average waiting times for 
assessment had reduced from 19 weeks to 9 weeks 
(based on June figures) with a further reduction expected 
over the summer months to reach a target of 6-9 weeks 
by end of October 2013. 
 

2. On 1st July soft launch (1st September full-launch) of 
dedicated Children in Care CAMHS service which includes 
a dedicated service for social workers needing advice and 
consultation on mental health issues for young people. 

 
3. New CIC service within the CAMHS service has been 

redesigned and eligibility increased to service young 
people up to 18 years, all children in care and those 

P
a
g
e
 7

6



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

13 

adopted with a social worker. From the report paper: The 
CAMHS-CIC service has been re-designed to provide a 
wider reach and an effective and timely service to this 
group of children and young people. In June 2013, the 
service was working with 202 Kent CIC. In addition the 
mainstream CAMHS teams were working with 316 CIC, 
some of whom would also be receiving a service from 
CAMHS-CIC, but others are children and young people 
placed in Kent by other local authorities. CAMHS teams 
were also working with 90 adopted children and young 
people. 

6.2 
C22 to monitor speed of response to their 
referrals to CAMHS and report to Contract 
Performance Meetings. 

Phil Doyle, 
Catch 22 

Completed. 
October 
2013 

Built into revised KPI reporting presented by KCC via Contract 
Performance Monitoring meeting on 31.10.13. Data sourcing 
and monitoring in progress. 

Priority Area 7: Review the 16+ service to ensure that caseloads are manageable, to enable social workers to carry out effective practice with young 
people and care leavers. 

 7.1 

Review of 16plus services. Sue Mullin, 
Commissioning 
Manager. 

In place – 
initial report 
to Corporate 
Board 21st 
October 
2013. 

FinalPerformance 
Improvement Plan 16PlusSep2013.docx 
Attached action plan from Catch22 detailing the response to 
the full Ofsted recommendations. 
Increased investment (£40,000) into the care leaver’s 
element of the Catch22 contract – resulting in increased 
staffing and all Care Leavers with up to date pathway plans. 

7.2 

Catch22 to review caseloads and present 
findings to KCC at October performance 
meeting ensuring sufficiency of support for all 
young people and management oversight. 

Phil Doyle,  
Catch 22 

Completed 
October 
2013 

Proposal sent to KCC for discussion at Contract meeting on 
31.10.13. KCC response was to delay due to changes in 
commissioning approach. C22 to undertake an interim 
solution asap to increase management and case 
management capacity where possible. No new posts to be 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

14 

secured through this process. 
 

7.3 
Continue to implement agreed staffing 
adjustments with regards to meeting Reg. 8 and 
report on progress. 
 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

Completed 
September 
2013 

New staff secured and in post 

Priority Area 8: Risk assess all bed and breakfast accommodation to ensure that children and young people are not exposed to unsafe situations. 

8.1. 
Review sufficiency strategy to ensure that it is 
meeting the needs of Care Leavers fully. 

Sue Mullin, 
Commissioning 
Manager. 

Completed. Draft Sufficiency Strategy Action Plan was discussed at the 
Children in Care meeting September 10th 2013. Amendments 
were agreed by the Board, final strategy and progress to be 
agreed and monitored at the November meeting. 

8.2. 

In individual practice with care leavers – ensure 
Personal Adviser visits young person within 7 
days of moving to new accommodation and 
liaise closely with the young person and their 
housing support worker to identify and resolve 
any problems. 

Catch 22, SUASC 
and CDS. 

Completed. In addition – as a response to the sufficiency strategy action 
plan, scoping work now underway to strengthen Kent’s 
response to 16-24 sufficiency and suitability of 
accommodation. Attached is the initial scoping document 
with timeframes. 

 
16 - 24 Needs and 
Rec Scoping.docx  

8.3. 
Assess all B&B to ensure that it provides safe 
care. 
 

Catch 22, SUASC 
and CDS. 

Completed. Catch22 have reported that all B&B accommodation where 
young people were currently placed had been reviewed. And 
no further placements will be made in B&B accommodation. 

8.4 
All YP in B&B visited and YP Risk Assessments 
updated and suitable accommodation plan 
developed. 

Sue Clifton Completed 
August 2013 

All B&B placements risk assessed and copies of those 
assessments requested by KCC for review. 

8.5 
Establish joint protocol with KCC with regards to 
the circumstances under which B&B is accessed, 
(to include alert protocol for transfers made 
into 16+ where young person already in B&B).   

Phil Doyle,  
Catch 22 

November 
2013 

Emergency Placements Protocol discussed at Contract 
meeting 31.11.13. 
 

8.6 Identify in consultation with KCC suitable Sue Clifton, November Discussions have taken place with providers - plans in place 

P
a
g
e
 7

8



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

15 

enhanced B&B that can be converted into 
Supported Lodgings (SL) and make transfers. 

Catch 22 2013 to transfer 2 enhanced B&B to supported lodgings. 
1 transferred on 31.10.13.   

8.7 
Placements in B&B to be continued to be 
reported on and monitored by KCC via Contract 
Performance meetings. (Including length of 
stay.) 

Phil Doyle,  
Catch 22 

In place  Data reporting requirements in place. 
 

Priority Area 9: Improve the timeliness of care proceedings. 

9.1 
Reduce timescales for care proceedings. Mairead 

MacNeil/ 
Ben Watts. 

Monitored 
monthly at 
SCS DivMT. 

Work with in-house legal team and the judiciary is underway. 
Ongoing monitoring will be via the Legal Monthly Monitoring 
meetings and Children in Care meetings. The average 
timescale has significantly reduced from # to #. 

9.2 
C22  to scope with KCC options for securing  
more Supported Lodgings providers 

Phil Doyle,  
Catch 22 

February 
2014 

C22 lead on SL meeting with relevant providers to scope 
options for the future and at the same time is advertising for 
additional providers. To be fed into relevant KCC housing 
sufficiency meetings and contract review meetings 

9.3 C22 to assist KCC training of recruited Foster 
Carers for older YP. 

NCAS tbc February 
2014 

Awaiting request from KCC 

 
Within 6 months: 

Priority Area 10: Ensure that there are sufficient placements available to enable children to be matched to carers that best meet their identified needs 
and support placement stability. 

 Action Who 
 

When 
 

Progress to date 

10.1 

A range of demand and control mechanisms 
have been introduced as core business. 
 

Suzanne King 
Assistant Area 
Director – East 
Kent Area. 

Reviewed at 
monthly 
Efficiency 
Board 
meetings. 

Activities include increased emphasis on adoption or long 
term fostering as a route out of care, improved 
commissioning and purchase of placements by the Access to 
Resources Team (ART) and focus on care planning by the 
managers and IROs. 

10.2 C22 to support KCC in identifying and 
developing a range of suitable accommodation 

Sue Clifton, 
Catch 22 

February 
2014 

Catch22 involved all 3 KCC Task and Finish sub- groups 
including: 

P
a
g
e
 7

9



Ofsted Child in Care/ Care Leaver Action Plan 19 November 2013  
 

16 

for care leavers. Accommodation Provision 18.11.13 
Needs Analysis date tbc 
Engagement with YP/Stakeholders date tbc 
Work due to be completed Jan 13 

Priority Area 11: Ensure there is sufficient and suitable accommodation available for care leavers. 

11.1 

Scoping document - produced setting out 
issues and actions needed. 
 
 

Sue Mullin, 
Commissioning 
Manager. 

Paper to 
Corporate 
Board 21st 
October. 

Further actions to be put in place following recommendations 
of the scoping report. 
 
 
 
  

Priority Area 12: Review the arrangements for the independent reviewing services to ensure that the case loads of the independent reviewing officers 
(IROs) are manageable. 

12.1 

Increase capacity of permanent staff within the 
IRO Service. 

Paul Brightwell, 
Head of Quality 
Assurance. 

December 
2013. 

Recruitment to 2 vacant IRO posts, 1 post has been appointed 
to, with an expected start date of January 2014. Further 
advertising is taking place October/ November 2013 for the 
remaining post. 
 

12.2 
Strengthen focus on reducing drift of children 
in care through robust planning. 

Paul Brightwell, 
Head of Quality 
Assurance. 

Monthly 
reviews. 

Performance targets for IROs and IRO teams have been 
introduced and are monitored by the Management 
Information Unit (MIU). Performance targets to address drift 
in care will be in place from January 2014. 

12.3 
Increase flexible working capacity of IROs (in 
line with New Ways of Working). 

Paul Brightwell, 
Head of Quality 
Assurance. 

Completed. 
 
 

Maintain and increase additional IROs under zero hour 
contracts to assist in chairing of reviews due to vacancies / 
absence 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

0



1 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

Ofsted Inspection of Safeguarding Services: Action Plan 
 
This plan captures the responses needed to the Ofsted recommendations from November 2012. This Plan takes as given: 
 

• That the Phase 3 Improvement Plan addresses many of the recommendations made 
• That the Practice Improvement Programme 2 set for 2013 will be focussing on children in need work and will be the prime 

vehicle to drive up individual practice  
• That the training programmes for both practitioners and supervisors planned for 2013 will address the broader underlying 

issues which relate to quality of practice and intervention  
 

Immediately: 
 Priority Area 1: Audit child in need cases to ensure that purposeful work is taking place and there are no unidentified risks 
 Action Delivery 

lead 
When  
Completed 

Progress to date 

1.1 

Audit all CHIN cases 
through supervision 
process and through 
Area management 
oversight arrangements. 
Actions to ensure risks 
properly addressed 
identified and delivered 
 

All Area 
Managers 
(TM) 
 
 
 

Completed 
(February 
2013) 
 
A further 
audit of all 
CIN cases 
is to take 
place in 
February 
2014 

All the Areas audited their CIN cases in February 2013, commenting on 
whether cases have up to date assessments and plans.  Those districts 
where information was not sent or assessments/plans were out of date where 
asked to take necessary action to update them. 
A dip sample was completed by safeguarding unit in May 2013.  Of the 51 
cases audited in this dip sample, 7 (14%) were found not to have an up-to-
date assessment (i.e.an assessment completed within the last year) and 5 
cases (10%) were found not to have a current plan in place. 
Child in need planning was not consistently recorded utilising the child in 
need planning tool.  Whilst there was some evidence of the use of outcome 
based planning this was not consistently applied and evidences some 
confusion regarding an outcome or an activity. 
Following the dip-sample audit each Area was contacted by the children’s 
safeguarding unit (July 2013) to seek assurances that any outstanding 

P
a
g
e
 8

1



2 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

assessments or plans were updated. 
A further audit of all CIN cases is planned to take place in February 2014 to 
track progress. 

 Priority Are 2: The Kent Safeguarding Children Board should initiate actions to complete a full audit of agencies’ activities in 
discharging their duties in accordance with section 11, the Children Act (2004). 

2.1 

S11 Audit started in 
November 2012  

All partner 
agencies. 
KSCB 
Business 
Unit 
coordinating 
and ensuring 
quality 
returns. 

Completed 
(February 
2013)  

A full section 11 audit has been completed by an Independent Consultant.  A 
total of 34 submissions were returned. All submissions were reviewed and 
evaluated to assess whether the responses provided evidence of compliance 
against the eight key Standards, with clear signposting to supporting 
documents. Each organisation was asked to rate their overall compliance by 
Standard against one of the following criteria:  
Very Good - 4 (14%)  
Good - 12 (41%)  
Adequate - 9 (31%)  
Inadequate - 4 (14%)  
 
The four inadequate returns were all from District/Borough Councils and 
these have been visited to discuss their submission in detail, identify 
appropriate evidence of compliance and request a new audit response. 

 
Within 3 months: 
 Priority Area 3: Ensure that all child in need cases have an up to date assessment of need and a plan which addresses 

identified needs and contains specific and measurable objectives with timescales 
 Action Delivery 

Lead 
When 
 

Progress to date  

3.1 

All CHIN cases to have a 
completed plan using the 
existing template  
 

Area 
Management 
teams  
 
 
 
 

In place 
(April 2013)  

 A dip sample was completed by safeguarding unit in May 2013.   
Of the 51 cases audited in this dip sample, 7 (14%) were found not to have 
an up to date assessment (i.e.an assessment completed within the last year).  
In respect of child in need plans there remained 5 cases without a current 
plan (10%).  There was evidence across the sample that where the lack of 
plan was identified at initial audit that this has been addressed and a meeting 

P
a
g
e
 8

2



3 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

arranged, there was however some evidence that meetings had taken place 
but minutes had not yet been  added to ICS.  Further there was evidence that 
cases had been closed subsequent to the initial audit which would indicate a 
positive throughput of work. 
Although there is an encouraging picture with regard to child in need planning 
this was not consistently recorded utilising the child in need planning tool.  
Whilst there was some evidence of the use of outcome based planning this 
was not consistently applied and evidences some confusion regarding an 
outcome or an activity. 
Properly outcome focussed (as opposed to output or There remains a 
challenge to ensure plans are activity focussed). The new Plan format within 
PROTOCOL is designed to aide practitioners in this regard. 
 
A further audit of all CIN cases is planned to take place in February 2014 to 
track progress. 

3.2 

Services to track and 
report back to identify 
themes, evaluate, QA for 
feedback loop and 
identifying learning and 
developments needs and 
to steer work of PIP2 

Div Mt 
 

In place 
(May 2013)   

As above – themes emerging re being addressed within the new Practice 
Development Programme.  

3.3 

On-line Management 
Units to focus on CHIN 
work  
 

All managers May 2013 
onwards 

Since February 2013, the Online Quality Assurance Peer Review audits have 
primarily focussed on CIC as part of preparing for the Ofsted CIC inspection 
which took place in July 2013. 
 
A total of 96 CIN cases have been audited between February 2013 and 
October 2013 under the QA online audit with an average of 88.5% having a 
CIN plan graded as adequate or better.  Of the 78 cases audited since 
August 2013, 70 were found to have a CIN graded adequate or better (90%). 
 

P
a
g
e
 8

3



4 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

Actions put in place in February 2013 to ensure completion of assessments 
and plans have meant all CHIN cases have been reviewed.  

 Priority Area 4: Ensure that children removed from child protection plans are provided effective continuing support that 
addresses identified needs and that these are formulated within a specific and measurable child in need plan with clear 
contingency arrangements 

4.1 

Conferences to construct 
CHIN Plan at ending of 
CPP in accordance with 
CHIN Policy  
 

Conference 
Chair + 
partner 
agencies  

In place 
(January 
2013) 

108 CPP ended (Jan-Mar) and 105 resulted in CHIN Plan, 1 went to TAF, 1 
to care plan and 1 closed. The safeguarding unit have dip sampled 16 CP 
plans – overall, plans were clear and child-focussed. 
There is a mixed picture of CIN planning following CPCC.  There were some 
good examples of SMART plans with measurable timescales and focus on 
continuing need, however this was not consistently recorded utilising the child 
in need planning tool.  It seemed that outcome based planning was better 
applied in those plans that used the tool. 
Whilst there was some evidence of multi-agency planning this was not 
consistent.  

 Priority Area 5: Review the current approach to conducting child protection conferences so that they are not unduly long for 
parents and that they enable the full contribution to risk assessment and planning of all participants. 

5.1 

Review under way from 
10/12 conducted by 
independent consultant 
and service managers. 
Review addressing 
construction of CPP, 
agenda and make-up of 
conference, practice of 
consecutive core group 
meetings  
 

Consultant 
and TM  
 

Completed 
(December 
2012)  

External review completed.  Questionnaires were sent out to parents and 
professionals asking them to comment on the length of conferences.  The 
majority of returns suggested that core groups should remain being held 
directly following the meeting in order that plans that were made could be 
delegated and both professionals and most importantly parents were clear of 
how things should be moving forward.   
A Conference Chair away day focussed on expectations at conference and 
clarity around an expected length of meeting – no longer than 1.5-2hrs.  
Conference QA forms mean that we are able to formally assure quality of 
work regularly. 
 

P
a
g
e
 8

4



5 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

 Priority Area 6: Clarify decision-making processes within the central duty team (CDT) to eliminate the scope for confusion and 
duplication that currently exists.  

6.1 

 Management decision 
making arrangements 
and levels of delegated 
authority to be reviewed 
and re-launched to all 
staff  

AD and CDT 
Managers  

In place 
(February 
2013)  

All duty seniors in the unit now trained on chairing meetings, strategy 
discussions, timely defensible decision making, recording, consultations and 
an update on Working Together 2013. This work has enabled all current 
senior practitioners in the CDT to fulfil the role of Duty Senior during their 
working day.  
Cases requiring assessment by district teams are progressed as a priority, 
with an average of over 80% of these now being received by the Teams 
within 24 hours of CDT receiving the contact. All Child protection referrals are 
reviewed and progressed the same day.  
Referrals which remain in CDT, including those children who would benefit 
from a Common Assessment Framework Assessment and Team around the 
Family are also now progressed in a timelier manner. This is due to the fewer 
number of staff being involved in the decisions making process and a now 
well embedded partnership with CDT’s two Family CAF co-ordinators. 

 Priority Area 7: Clarify decision-making processes within the quality of assessments and plans carried out under the common 
assessment framework (CAF) so that interventions are focused on achieving specific and measurable objectives. 

7.1 

Sample audits 
 
 

EI TM and 
CAF co-
ordinator 
 

In place 
(March 
2013) 

To ensure that CAFs are being used appropriately and are of a high standard 
an online audit tool was implemented in October 2012. This is undertaken on 
a monthly peer review basis by the Early Intervention Team Managers and 
the FCCs. The Integrated Processes team review the submissions each 
month and use this as feedback to inform action planning, training and 
process review. First quarterly summary of findings due for dissemination to 
management.  

7.2 

Integrated training for 
EIT and agencies. SPA 
standing agenda item to 
be added to address 
practice/ case review. 
 

SM, TM, CAF 
co-ordinator,  

In place 
(February 
2013) 

Family CAF Coordinators (FCC) have been integral to Thresholds Workshops 
enabling clear discussion around CAF. Central Referral Unit colleagues have 
been in attendance at these events to ensure clear discussion about 
appropriate referrals.  

 
CAF training, which includes information about the application of thresholds, 
has remained in high demand with a number of extra events having been 

P
a
g
e
 8

5



6 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

arranged and delivered over the last 6 months to meet this demand. Over 360 
delegates were trained between September 2012 and February 2013 
 
Districts Initiatives such as’ CAF Café’ and ‘Information Drop ins’ have been 
run to build relationships with practitioners and to address particular issues 
with use of CAF. This has allowed specific support to individuals or groups of 
staff. 

7.3 

EIT developing links in 
community and TM 
attending SPAs as well 
as CAF co-ordinator who 
chairs the meeting to 
drive quality of multi-
agency work. 
 

CAF co-
ordinator, 
TM, SM,  

In place 
(March 
2013) 

Kent SPAs are attended by team managers as well as CAF co-ordinators to 
ensure appropriate detailed case discussion and multi-agency working.  
 
Some areas begun to link EIW’s to lead roles in order to promote multi 
agency relationships and improve the quality of multi-agency work.  During 
the past 6 months, GP CAF Champions and representatives of the Health 
Trust providers on the CAF Task and Finish Group have been engaged in the 
development of various models to support GPs in the completion of CAFs.  

 Priority Area 8: Take action to improve the quality of supervision and management oversight and direction in casework. 

8.1 

Programme of 
Supervision training for 
all supervisors currently 
underway 
 

In-Trac and 
Management 
Teams 
 

In place  A programme of supervision training has been provided to all teams and the 
PDP will work with teams to embed learning and ensure improved 
supervision.  90 participants have attended. 
 
See also action plan in response to the Ofsted July 2013 CIC inspection 
(priority 1, 1.1 and 1.2).  

8.2 

QA supervision as per 
supervision policy/ 
management oversight 
(through sample audits) 
and supervision survey 
to be completed. 

SM, 
Safeguarding 
team, peer 
audit TM 

Completed See action plan in response to the Ofsted July 2013 CIC inspection (priority 1, 
1.1). 
 
A survey of social workers and managers regarding their experience of 
supervision was undertaken in July 2013.  93% reported receiving 6 weekly 
formal supervision and 68% at 4 weekly intervals. 
 
There is to be a repeat of the supervision survey by March 2014. 
 
Data from the QA Peer Review online audit for August 2013 shows that 
88.1% of cases audited had adequate or better supervision. This increased to 
89.4% in September 2013 and 90.9% by October 2013. 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

6



7 
Ofsted Safeguarding Inspection 2012 Action Plan, 20 November 2013 
 

Within 6 months: 
 Priority Area 9: Ensure that children in need referrals requiring assessment are promptly transferred from the CDT to the 

family support teams as soon as there is sufficient information to determine that an assessment is required. 
 How Delivery 

Lead 
When 
 

How to know it is successful and achieved 

9.1 

Review and rationalise 
decision making 
processes in CDT. 
Ensure clarity of 
management 
accountabilities  

AD and CDT 
Managers  

Completed 
(May 2013) 

Over 80% of these referrals are now being received by the Teams within 24 
hours of CDT receiving the contact. All Child protection referrals are reviewed 
and progressed the same day, involving both the district teams, referrer, 
police and health partners in the initial Strategy discussion where this course 
of action is deemed appropriate.  

 Priority Area 10: Ensure that partner agencies understand and carry out their shared responsibilities for supporting children in 
need and their families. 

10.1 

CHIN Procedures re-
launched through KSCB 
with clear partner agency 
agreement to contribute 
to CHIN planning and 
service provision 
supported by an inter-
agency training plan and 
built into Quality and 
Effectiveness work 
programme to monitor 
impact. 
Referrals to be audited to 
ensure they are sent in a 
timely manner  

KSCB 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CRU 
 
 

Completed 
(July 2013) 

 The CIN procedures were re- launched through KSCB – signed off by the 
board in July 2013. 
 
Multi-agency deep dives (beginning in the Summer 2013) will consider multi-
agency contribution to CIN planning and findings from this work will inform 
future audit activity-led by KSCB 
 
Referral/threshold audit completed by KSCB and findings being actioned.  

 

P
a
g
e
 8

7



P
a
g
e
 8

8

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

1 

 
Ofsted Inspection of Adoption Services: Action Plan 

 
This Action Plan is in response to the recommendations made by Ofsted from its inspection of Kent’s Adoption Services undertaken in March 
2013  
 
 

Priority Area 1:  Ensure that the following timescales are adhered to unless it is not in the child’s best interests: the child’s need for a permanent 
home should be addressed and a permanence plan made at the four month review 

 Action Delivery Lead 
 

When 
Completed: 

Progress to date 

1.1 

• Independent Reviewing Officers to 
maintain robust monitoring and oversight 
of timescales for achieving adoption and 
to take appropriate action where 
necessary to prevent drift.   

• IROs to ensure at the 2nd (4 month) review 
that all children with a plan for adoption 
are referred for early family finding 

• IROs to utilise management information to 
identify and resolve issues for children 
who do not have a permanency plan in 
place at the 4 month review. 

• Reviewing officers to ensure that for those 
children where the adoption plan has 
been agreed at the four month review, are 
referred for early family finding 

Paul Brightwell 
Head of Quality 
Assurance. 
 

In place The IRO’s Service monthly tracking from Adoption Tracking 
spreadsheet is in place. 
 

1.2 
Training for all relevant staff in Permanency 
Planning 
 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to be 

In place KCC Permanency procedures have been in place on Tri-X 
since March 2013 
The Performance Development Program has already run a 

P
a
g
e
 8

9



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

2 

 transferred to the 
Head of Practice 
Improvement upon 
appointment. 

series of workshops across SCS on outcome based planning 
– including permanence planning.  Further workshops to be 
incorporated into current program. 
 
 

Priority Area 2:  The adoption panel (now decision maker) should receive all necessary information from the agency within six weeks of the 
completion of the child’s permanence report 
2.1 Priority Area 1 – CiC Action plan 1.1 and 1.2) – 

Supervision 
  This action is being progressed through the CiC Action Plan 

2.2 

Relevant Service Managers to set up a system 
with the support of the management 
information unit and panel advisor so that 
monthly information is available to monitor 
the delivery of this standard. This information 
to be shared with agency decision makers on 
a monthly basis 

Service Managers, 
Management 
Information Unit, 
and Panel Advisor 
 

March 2014  

2.3 
Appointment of manager to Adoption Panel 
team, permanent Agency Advisor to adoption 
panel, and permanent administrative staff  

Yashi Shah, Interim 
Head of Adoption 

Re-
advertising 
November 
2013 

Interim Panel advisor in post 

Priority Area 3: The adoption panel’s recommendation (now agency decision) should be made within two months of a review where adoption has 
been identified as the permanence plan (Adoption Statutory Guidance, February 2011, Chapter 2, paragraph 2) 

3.1 

Tracking of children at every stage of adoption 
process  

CIC Service 
Managers / 
Adoption Manager 
/ IRO Service 
 

In place 
 

Performance Surgeries and Joint tracking meetings with 
Service Managers established  

3.2 
Monitor percentage of children who do not 
have agency decision within two months of 
review agreeing adoption as the preferred 

Maureen Robinson, 
Head of MIU, Paul 
Brightwell, Head of 

From 
December 
2013 

Ofsted finding 31.66% of children sampled failed to meet 
timescale (March 2013).  Current timescales to be reviewed 
on a quarterly basis. 

P
a
g
e
 9

0



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

3 

plan Quality Assurance, 
CIC Service 
Managers and 
Adoption Manager 

3.3 

Training for all relevant staff in Permanency 
Planning (as per 1.2 above) 
 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to be 
transferred to the 
Head of Practice 
Improvement upon 
appointment. 

In place The Performance Development Program has already run a 
series of workshops across SCS on outcome based care 
planning (including permanency).  Further workshops to be 
incorporated into current program. 

 
Priority Area 4:  Provide the child and the prospective adopters with the life story book by the second statutory review of the child’s placement with 
the prospective adopter, and the completed life story book the latest within 10 working days of the adoption ceremony (NMS 2.7) 
 Action Who When Progress to date 

4.1 

Development of handbook on Life Story Work Paul Brightwell Completed 
(June 2013)  

Consistent principle and practice message disseminated 
across Kent.  In Draft form on Tri X, publicized via the 
Corporate Directors email 
 
To be incorporated good practice re life story work into 
Practice Development Program to ensure awareness raising 
with social workers 
 
IRO monitoring of direct work (including life story work) 

4.2 

Review Life Story Work module on Liberi Justine Henderson Completed 
(July/Aug 
2013) 
 
Review ??  - 
ask Justine 

Life Story work module is not available for go live in 
December 2013 

P
a
g
e
 9

1



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

4 

Henderson 

4.3 
Social workers have an approved 
approach/tool to use when planning life story 
work.  Life story handbook to include chapter 
on work with adopted children 

Paul Brightwell Pilot in 
Progress 
(March 2014) 

Use of model being piloted in Shepway, presentation to 
SCSDivMT and CiC meeting by March 2014. 

4.4 
Workshops on Communicating and Direct 
Work with Children, and Life Story Work 

Elaine Peace Early January 
2014  

Surgeries to be provided on Communicating and Direct Work 
with children and 
Life story work surgery to be planned and offered early 
2014. 

4.5 ASYE training on life story work Tim Conroy In place Now part of ASWE program, and will need to be included in 
main training program. 

4.6 
Equip teams with up to date material and 
tools to be able to undertake direct work 
effectively 

Mairead MacNeil  March 2014 Exploring the use of the Adoption Support Grant to provide 
teams with resources 

4.7 
Use media post available in adoption for 
children’s profiles etc., to develop resources 
for life story work 

Yashi Shah March 2014 Currently under discussion. 

Priority Area 5:  Provide the prospective adopters with the later life letter within 10 working days of the adoption ceremony (NMS2.8) 

5.1 
Standard set so that Life story format is clear 
to social work practitioners.  Later life letters 
demonstrate an understanding of how to 
communicate effectively with cyp. 

Children in Care 
Service Managers 

In place 
(October 
2013) 

Tri X currently holds procedures and guidance and example 
of background letters.   

5.2 

Training for all relevant staff in Permanency 
Planning (Action is also under priorities 1 and 
3) 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to be 
transferred to the 
Head of Practice 
Improvement upon 
appointment. 

By March 
2014 

The Performance Development Program has already run a 
series of workshops across SCS on outcome based care 
planning (including permanency).  Further workshops to be 
incorporated into current program. 

Priority Area 6:  Ensure that children are placed within 12 months of the decision of the agency’s decision maker that they should be placed for 

P
a
g
e
 9

2



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

5 

adoption. 

6.1 

• Joint monthly tracking meetings set up 
between children in care service and 
team managers, and adoption family 
finding to regularly monitor timescales, 
family finding activity and take necessary 
action 

• Monthly and 6 monthly reports provided 
to Adoption Improvement Board and 
Corporate Parenting Panel in relation to 
timeliness of placements 

• Set up a family finding champion system 
for those children who have not been 
placed within 12 months of the agency 
decision maker 

Maureen Robinson 
– MIU 
 
 
 
 
Maureen Robinson  
- MIU 
 
 
 
Yashi Shah 

In place 
 
 
 
 
 
In place 
 
 
 
 
In place 
 
 
 

Improvements in timescales for children becoming Looked 
After to placement from 718 days (June 2012) to 592 days 
(August 2013) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dedicated posts (3) established in the family finding team to 
focus on early family finding – i.e. before the granting of the 
placement order – continue to monitor whether the 
capacity will need to increase depending on the children 
requiring adoptive families 

6.2 
Joint tracking meetings established with 
Children in Care Service Managers 

Yashi Shah In place 
(Autumn 
2013) 

Monitoring of timescales, identification of drift 

6.3 
Permanence Planning meetings integrated 
into practice 
 

Suzanne King, Area 
Assistant Director, 
(CIC lead) 

Completed 
(March 2013) 

Inclusion of Permanence Planning meetings  Kent 
Procedures online (Tri X) 
 

6.4 

• Continue to implement the yearly 
marketing plan with the marketing and 
media team to deliver targeted and 
general recruitment activities – current 
examples of success include successful 
adoption activity day, much improved 
website, monthly preparation groups 
scheduled at different times, information 

Head of 
Communications /  
Yashi Shah, Interim 
Head of Adoption 

   

P
a
g
e
 9

3



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

6 

events organized every ten working days. 
Preparation groups and information 
events undertaken in conjunction with 
adopters 

• Monitoring of adherence to customer 
service standards set including through 
tracking of all enquiries, and mystery 
shopping 

• Evaluation of preparation group feedback, 
and customer feedback from information 
events. 

• Another adoption activity day planned for 
June 2014 and a local adoption week to 
take place in May 2014 

Priority Area 7:  Ensure that the child’s wishes and feelings are ascertained regarding the possibility of placement with a new family and the adoption ; 
religion and cultural upbringing and contact with parent, guardian or other relative.  These views should be recorded (breach of The Adoption 
Agencies Regulations 2005 Regulation 13 (10) (i-iii) and Adoption Statutory Guidance, February 2011, Chapter 2, paragraph 20 

7.1 

Priority 3.3 Children In Care Action Plan – 
ensure social workers ascertain the wishes and 
feeling of children and record these in care 
plans, and this is evidenced in the case records 

Area Assistant 
Directors 

In place.   The importance of evidencing a social worker has heard and 
is recording the voice of the child in case work is routinely 
reinforced and addressed with staff in training and District 
Surgeries, and supervision. 
 
Reported on in IRO quality assurance reports. The next 
report is due in November 2013. 

7.2 

Ensure that all staff receive appropriate 
professional supervision in accordance with 
KCC’s Supervision Policy, and the Practice 
Standards for Supervisors. 
 

Paul Brightwell 
Head of Quality 
Assurance. 
 

Continual 
management 
monitoring 
remains in 
place 
 

At the end of July 2013, 93% reported receiving 6 weekly 
supervision and 68% received 4 weekly supervision. Data 
obtained from the QA online audit program for August 2013 
shows that 88.1% of cases audited had adequate or better 
supervision.  This has increased to 89.4% in September 2013 
and 90.9% in October 2013.  There is also to be a repeat of 

P
a
g
e
 9

4



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

7 

the supervision survey undertaken in May/June 2013 by 31st  
March 2014 

7.3 

Actively ensure all managers are trained in 
provision of professional supervision.  
 

Elaine Peace,  
Independent 
Consultant- to be 
transferred to 
the Head of 
Practice 
Improvement 
upon 
appointment 

Completed/In 
place.   
 

90 supervisors have embarked on the Improving Supervision 
Processes in Kent program (provided by In-Trac), in 7 
cohorts. As of August 2013, 4 cohorts have completed the 
initial training with a further three due for completion at the 
end of February. In-Trac have been commissioned to 
continue the training programme as required for new and 
additional staff, as well as refresh training, in 2014. 
 

7.4 
Workshops on Communicating and Direct Work 
with Children, and Life Story Work 

Elaine Peace Early January 
2014 

Surgeries to be provided on Communicating and Direct Work 
with children and 
Life story work surgery to be planned and offered early 
2014. 

Priority Area 8:  Ensure that birth parents are given access to and are actively encouraged to use a support worker from the time adoption is identified 
as the plan for the child (NMS 12.3) 

8.1. 
Clarification with Service Managers that referral 
to CAFIS to be made when adoption becomes 
the preferred plan 

Yashi Shah Completed 
(October 
2013) 

 

8.2 Ensure provider is able to access information 
when adoption becomes the preferred plan 

Karen Graham December 
2013 

Under discussion with ICT 

8.3. Tendering process underway for delivery of 
service. 

Thom Wilson June 2014 Expressions of Interest by end December 2013, and service 
in place by June 2014 

Priority Area 9:  Ensure that all people working in or for the purposes of the agency and persons applying to be included on the central list, are 
interviewed as part of the selection process and have references checked to assess suitability before taking up their duties.  Telephone enquiries are 
made to each referee to verify the written references. (Breach of Regulation 11, The Local Authority Adoption Service (England) Regulations 2003 and 
NMS21.1) 
9.1 Appointment of manager to Adoption Panel 

team, permanent Agency Advisor to adoption 
Yashi Shah, 
Interim Head of 

Re-advertising 
November 

Interim Panel advisor in post 

P
a
g
e
 9

5



Ofsted Adoption Service Action Plan 21 November 2013  
 

8 

panel, and permanent administrative staff Adoption 2013 
 

P
a
g
e
 9

6



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

1 

 
Ofsted Inspection of Fostering Services: Action Plan 

 
This Action Plan is in response to the recommendations made by Ofsted from its inspection of Kent’s Fostering Services undertaken in June 
2012 
 

Priority Area 1:  Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  This recommendation is 
made within the context of further developing consultation forums to enable their views to inform service development (NMS 1.3) 

 Action Delivery Lead When 
competed 

Progress to date 

1.1 

Looked after Children’s teams to include in 
their Area plans how they will hear the Voice 
of the children in their districts addressing 
NMS 1.3 as a priority (regs 3.31 - 3.42)  

Service and Team 
Managers along 
with Fostering 
Support Managers. 

In place Increase in participation of children/young people chairing 
CIC reviews from 9 in Quarter 1 of 2012/13 to 48 in Quarter 
2 of 2013/14. Children are attending or giving written 
comments to fostering panels. Participation days are being 
held through VSK across the county. 
Various surveys are in place to ascertain the views of 
children and young people in care regarding the service and 
support they receive – updates on the findings from these 
surveys are presented in the IRO Management Report and 
presented to the Corporate Parenting Groups – CPP and 
KCPG. 
Further work is taking place via a commissioned survey 
developed by the Young Lives Foundation to ensure that 
children and young people have a survey that focuses on 
the issues they want their corporate parents to know 
about. 
A follow-up to the DVD Care to Listen is being produced to 
track the young people involved in the original DVD 
(2008/2010) and ascertain how their experience and views 
of being in care have changed. 

P
a
g
e
 9

7



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

2 

 

1.2 
Fostering support Managers to set up tracking 
system to ensure requested feedback forms 
at the end of placements and at Annual 
reviews are returned by area social workers. 

Fostering Support 
Manager with CiC 
manager 

In place 
(30th 
September  
2012) 

Forms are not being returned consistently. Tracking sheets 
are being developed and issues raised with team/service 
managers. 

1.3 Child in Care Council has improved 
attendance by CiC. 

VSK Fostering and 
CiC teams 

March 2014. 
 

This is now covered in the CIC action plan. (Actions 3.1 and 
5.6) 

1.4 
Young people involved in assessing and 
recruiting foster carers, young people 
involved in recruitment of staff, C&F, 
Adolescent Resource, 16+. 

Centralised 
Managers, 
Recruiting 
managers 

In place Young people are involved in the assessment process for 
new carers and in the recruitment of staff. Former CIC are 
now recruited as Fostering Panel members. 

Priority Area 2:  Ensure all foster carers receive training in positive care and control of children.  This recommendation is made within the context of 
the need to review and update guidance for foster carers, with particular regard to the physical restraint policy and procedure (NMS 3.8) 

2.1 

Review the Positive Behaviour Management 
Policy & Procedure 

Working group led 
by Mandy 
Lowe/Lisa 
Fitzpatrick to 
include range of 
people - foster 
carers, team teach 
trainer, young 
person, Child in 
Care 

Completed Behaviour management was updated in March 2013 
through TRIX 

2.2 

Review current  training delivery Fostering Training 
Group with Mandy 
Lowe, fostering 
service, disabled 
children. 

In place  Team Teach; KEEP; Fostering Changes; Safer Caring; Conflict 
and Management courses have been held to raise 
awareness for new and existing carers and number of 
courses have increased. On-going monitoring. 

Priority Area 3: Ensure the care and support provided to children minimises the risk that they will go missing and reduces the risk of harm should the 
child go missing.  This recommendation is made within the context of the service continuing to drive  down the number of episodes of children going 

P
a
g
e
 9

8



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

3 

missing (NMS 5.1) 
3.1 Continue with the risk management 

meetings. 
District/Area teams.  In place   

3.2 

Supervising fostering social workers to discuss 
at supervision session following missing 
episode to discuss the Foster Carers strategy 
for dealing with missing child and ensure risk 
assessments are update. 

Fostering social 
worker (support). 

In place Foster carers are aware of the procedures for missing 
children and who to contact. Risk management meetings 
are held locally and steps to minimise children going 
missing discussed as part of the matching process, within 
supervision; and the CiC review process and push and pull 
factors. Return interviews are completed and the foster 
carers role in minimising the risks are highlighted. 
Strategies to minimise running away episodes are included 
in the Safe Care Plan. Foster carers are aware of the CSE 
and trafficking tool kit to recognise early signs and report 
this. 

3.3 
Include in Children/Young person’s guides re 
keeping themselves safe. 
 

Mandy Lowe In place The Children/Young Persons Guides were updated and a 
further review underway and due for completion by March 
2014 these will become part of the CiC pack given to 
children and young people. 

 
Priority Area 4:  Ensure foster carers are trained in health and safety issues and have guidelines on their health and safety responsibilities.  Avoidable 
hazards are removed as is consistent with a family home.  This recommendation is made within the context of ensuring foster carer’s own safe care 
policies are in line with the services own guidance, including fire risks and e-safety (NM 10.3) 
 Action Who When Progress to date 

4.1 
Training manager to review current Health & 
Safety training and ensure health and safety 
issues are Incorporated into safecare plan. 

Fostering Training 
Group all 
Supervising SW's 

In place 
(October 
2012) 

Health and Safety is addressed in the Safe Care Plan. Baby 
care; sleep safe and first aid training has been held. 

4.2 
Amend terms and conditions of foster carers 
to include requirement for carer to request 
'Fire safety house check' from fire brigade and 
to formulate a fire safety plan.  All registered 

County Manager & 
Area Fostering 
Teams 

Completed 
(September 
2012) 

The Terms and Conditions have been amended. Health and 
Safety plan reviewed as part of the annual review (which 
covers fire). 

P
a
g
e
 9

9



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

4 

carers to have fire safety addressed at review. 

4.3 
Fire safety plan to be addressed in family's 
safe care plan. Home fire plan to be amended 
specific to each new placement and discussed 
with the child. 

Support Fostering 
Teams 

In place Fire safety forms part of foster carers Safe Care Plan and 
updated to each new placement. 

4.4 
Safe care plan form to be reviewed to have 
additional item covering fire plan/safety. 

County Manager Completed 
(September 
2012) 

 

Priority Area 5:  Ensure the foster home is inspected annually, without appointment, by the fostering service to make sure that it continues to meet 
the needs of foster children (NMS 10.5) 

5.1 
12 monthly unannounced visits undertaken 
and health & safety inspection 
undertaken/reviewed at that time.  

Fostering social 
workers. 

In place Monitored in case supervision. 

5.2 Tracking system to show each carers 
unannounced visits/dates. Admin/team leader In place Completed. Tracking systems are in place within each 

Fostering Support Team and monitored in case supervision. 
Priority Area 6:  Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling groups, so 
as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1) 

6.1 

Update/review the recruitment strategy County Manager 
Team Managers, 
Recruitment Co-
ordinator 
(recruitment and 
support & 
assessment teams) 
District CiC team. 

Completed  Completed. The IET and Fostering Assessment Team 
recruit and assess foster carers across the county and 
have got through the backlog of cases. Assessment 
Panels have also been established and two 
assessment panels held per month. 

6.2 
New assessment teams/focused recruitment County Manager 

Team Managers, 
Recruitment Co-
ordinator 

Completed  Assessment teams are in place. 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
0



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

5 

(recruitment and 
support & 
assessment teams) 
District CiC team 

6.3 

Focused recruitment on sibling 
groups/permanence, BME, P&CH - working 
with the support teams/hot spots 
 

County Manager 
Team Managers, 
Recruitment Co-
ordinator 
(recruitment and 
support & 
assessment teams) 
District CiC team. 

In place Sufficiency strategy in place.  New recruitment strategy 
implemented in June 2013.  Targeted recruitment against 
PID categories and further review meeting planned for 
10/12/13. Approval at 6 months against PID categories 
totaled 84 (21: South; 8 North; 17 West; 18 EK1 and 3; 8 EK2 
and 3; 9 Short Breaks; 2 Disability). 13 are for sibling groups. 
There have been 3 approvals for solo placements; 4 for 
challenging children and 3 for permanent carers. 24 are 
connected persons carers (for 27 children) and 60 
mainstream carers providing potential child placements of 
100+. There has been close work with the Communications 
Department to target recruitment and focused recruiting 
including carers for 16+. Monthly Information Evenings (and 
additional targeted ones) have been held alongside 
additional Skills to Foster courses (including weekend ones) 
taking place. Conversion rate from enquiry to approval is 
10% and from application to approval 35%. Vacancies are 
monitored weekly and placements currently undertaken in 
the North and West by the ART Team. ISWs recruited to do 
specific assessments within the PID categories: permanency; 
16 plus.   Review of recruitment strategy will be taking place 
from December 2013 to January 2014.  New strategy will be 
launched in March 2014.  All areas have action plans which 
are reviewed at the CiC meeting.  Savings targets for 2014-
2015 have been reviewed. 

Priority Area 7:  Ensure the fostering panel shall give advice and make recommendations on such other matters or cases as the fostering provider may 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
1



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan 22 November 2013  
 

6 

refer to it.  This recommendation is made within the context of updating the panel’s terms of reference and seeking its views on additional service 
matters (NMS14) 

7.1 

Update the panels terms of reference. County Manager 
Assesment Team 
Manager Panel 
Chairs 
 

Completed These will be kept under annual review  

7.2 County Manager to devise feedback form from 
Panel chairs to Team Managers. 

County Manager 
Panel chair  

Completed This is now in place 

7.3 Annual panel chair report.  Panel chairs Completed  This is in place 
7.4 Continue seeking advice from panel re matters 

of concern. 
All Teams In place This is in place  

Priority Area 8:  Ensure the manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies, to identify any 
concerns about specific incidents and to identify patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of addressing the variable 
quality of carer supervision records and ensuring that all service policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated (NMS 25.2) 

8.1. 
All significant incidents of concern, complaint 
or allegation in a foster home to be logged and 
kept centrally by area team. 

Fostering Support 
Manager 

In place Records are logged by each team. Cases are reviewed in 
supervision (paper and electronic recording) and also form 
part of the foster carers annual review. 

8.2 

Supervisor of fostering social work staff to 
examine quality of individual’s supervision 
records and case files.   Ensure new ICS system 
takes account of fostering recording 
requirements.      

Information 
reviewed 
quarterly by area 
CiC teams and 
fostering support 
management.  
M.V & NA 

Completed/in 
place 

Case supervision regularly reviews the quality of supervision 
records. The new computer system includes fostering 
recording requirements and staff are currently receiving 
training. 

 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
2



Tel: 0845 868 3629 Email: lilac@anationalvoice.org  
 Registered in England: Head Office, Central Hall Oldham St, Manchester, M1 1JQ 

Charity No: 1120149      Company No: 5760207 
 

 

 

The LILAC Standards 

  

Shared Values 

The Organisation adopts shared values that enable children and young people to 
be actively involved in services that directly affect them, including honesty about 

responsibilities. 

  

Style of Leadership 

Leaders in the Organisation adopt a style of leadership that champions and 
promotes the involvement of children and young people at all levels. They 
demonstrate the need to work in partnership with children and young people. 

  

Structures 

Structures are in place to ensure that children and young people are involved in 
the planning and evaluation of services and that these structures are flexible. They 
do not rely on the involvement of a small articulate group of children and young 
people, but take into account different abilities, experiences and skills. 

  

Staff 

Staff are expected to support and contribute to practice and policy on the active 
involvement of children and young people in services that affect them.  

  

Recruitment & Selection 

Children and young people should be involved in the recruitment and selection of 
all staff and carers who will work with them.  

  

Care Planning & Review 

Children and young people should feel involved in the decision making that affects 
their lives and all decisions about them should be fully explained. All decision 
making, planning and review processes should be easily understood. 

  

Complaints & Advocacy 

Children and young people should know what to do if they are not happy with the 
way they are being treated and feel that their complaint will be listened to and 
treated seriously. Children and young people should have access to an advocate if 
they wish and the Organisation should promote the advocacy service. They should 
receive feedback on the process and outcome of their complaint and support in 
coming to terms with the decision. 

 

Page 103



Page 104

This page is intentionally left blank



G. LILAC Process including Do’s and Don’ts                                                                           13/11/2012 10:20:06 

1 
 

 

This document gives you important information to help you prepare for the LILAC assessment including: 
� General information – to help you have a successful LILAC assessment. 
� Information about the various LILAC questionnaires and how to ensure to get a good 

response rate. 
� Information about the on-site assessment visit by the LILAC team: including important 

information on facilities, timetabling and planning the interview meetings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ON-SITE ASSESSMENT - An average assessment will consist of the following: 

• Visits  to children's homes (allow 1 hr. each) 
• Interview with CiCC members - group interview (allow 1 hr.) 
• Interviews with group of fostered children not involved in Participation groups (at least 

2 groups of approx. 5-6 YP, allow 30-45 mins each) 
• Interview with group of foster carers (group of 8 - 12 carers, allow 1 hr.) 
• Interviews with Social Workers working with children in care/care-leavers (3 groups if 

possible, 6 - 8 staff in each, allow 1 hour per interview) 
• Interview with group of senior management, including Director, Service Managers, 

Lead member (allow 1 hr.) 
• Interview with IROs (group of 4 - 6, allow 1 hr.) 
• Interview with Participation Worker/team (1 hr.) 
• Interview with Advocacy Service (1 hr.) 

2. Questionnaires: 
LILAC will email link to online 
questionnaires and 
questionnaires word doc & 
freepost label templates 
which need to be 
disseminated to all relevant 
staff, foster carers and 
children/young people aged 
10+. 
These should be returned no 
later than 2 weeks before 
the first day of the on-site 
assessment. 

 

3. Pre-assessment 
documents: 

LILAC will provide a list of 
required Pre-Assessment 
documents. 
The listed 
policies/procedures will need 
to be sent via email and 
posted to our Head Office in 
Manchester no later than 2 
weeks before the first day of 
the on-site assessment. 

 

1. Assessment timetable: 
A timetable needs to be 
developed to allow LILAC to 
meet with and talk to as many 
children, young people, staff and 
carers as possible. (See below for 
list) The LILAC co-coordinator 
will send you an example of 
what this should look like. 

A draft timetable should be 
emailed 4 weeks before the 
assessment begins, and this 

should be fully confirmed and 
finalised 2 weeks before the 
first day of the assessment. 

 

Page 105



G. LILAC Process including Do’s and Don’ts                                                                           13/11/2012 10:20:06 

2 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

In General Do’s and Don’ts 

Do’s Don’ts 
1. Promote your LILAC assessment widely 

across your organisation in the run up to the 
on-site LILAC assessment (we suggest at 
least 4 weeks prior to our on-site visit) so 
that everyone is aware of it and its purpose. 
We can provide you with LILAC literature.∗ 

2. Promote LILAC as an external assessment 
process and ensure there is a ‘buy-in’ from 
all stake holders; In particular those who 
lead your organisation must be seen to be 
fully on board and so we suggest 
CEO’s/Directors contact all stakeholders to 
explain the ‘who/why/what/how and when’ 
of the LILAC assessment (you can do this via 
your in-house bulletins, newsletters, 
meetings and intranet sites as well as via 
posters and mail-outs).∗ 

3. Ensure all of your organisation stakeholders 
including those who get a service from you 
are fully aware that you have a LILAC 
assessment coming up, when it is and how 
to feed-in (we can give you our LILAC 
freepost address and freepost labels as well 
as our LILAC mobile number and email 
contact for people to contact LILAC with any 
feedback as part of the assessment process. 
Those wishing to do so can text, email or call 
during the assessment dates).∗ 

 
        ∗ We look for evidence of this as part of your         
           Assessment 

1. Forget to send out the 3 pre-assessment 
questionnaires to all foster carers, all of 
your children and young people aged 10+ 
and all of your staff at least 4 weeks before 
the start of your on-site LILAC assessment 
as all questionnaires to be submitted to 
LILAC at least 2 weeks before your on-site 
assessment starts. 

Page 106



G. LILAC Process including Do’s and Don’ts                                                                           13/11/2012 10:20:06 

3 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

On-site visit by the LILAC team: Facilities, Timetabling and Interview meetings… 

Do’s Don’ts 
1. Do try and give us as much information 

when completing the timetable document, 
including phone numbers and names of 
buildings and the room numbers as well as 
postcodes. (Maps and directions very 
welcome too if at all possible) 

2. LILAC will require a room for the assessors 
so we can prepare for our live assessment 
and meet in-between assessments breaks. 
Ideally this room does not need to be a big 
room but something comfortable for 3 
people; it would also be useful if we can 
safely store our belongings and equipment. 

3. Do try to keep meetings in the same venue 
where possible. 

4. Do take into consideration all delegates 
travel times when planning the meeting 
times (as well as school times, rush hour, 
local events etc.) 

1. Forget to block out the first 2 hours for the 
first day of the on-site assessment to allow 
the LILAC team to prepare themselves. 

2. Schedule interviews too early, we often have 
a lot of miles to travel to get to your site 
(LILAC is a national project and so assessors 
can come from anywhere across England) 

3. Forget on subsequent days on site we will 
usually start at 9.30 and work through to 
7pm at the latest. 

4. Worry if the carers and children/young 
people may require evening only meetings, 
LILAC will be flexible with these timings. 

5. Forget to factor in a 30 min lunch break! 
6. Mix professionals including Foster Carers 

with children/young people when scheduling 
group interviews. 

7. Forget to brief invited delegates so they are 
clear about: 
a) The aim of the meeting and what 

happens next 
b) The role of the LILAC team (ensure they 

know that LILAC assessors are 
professionals, trained and care- 
experienced) 

c) The start and finish times/punctuality is 
important! 

d) The venue and directions as well as who 
to contact if they are delayed 

Page 107



G. LILAC Process including Do’s and Don’ts                                                                           13/11/2012 10:20:06 

4 
 

 

Various Questionnaires need to be sent out by you and returned to the LILAC team LATEST 
2 weeks before our visit.  

Do’s Don’ts 
1. Ensure you set a closing date/deadline for all 

questionnaires to be with us latest 2 weeks before your 
on-site assessment starts and we suggest the 
questionnaires are sent out in plenty of time ahead of 
the closing date. 

2. Provide details of our freepost address envelopes 
with all the various questionnaires you send to your staff 
and your children/young people as well as your carers. 
We will provide you with the 3 questionnaires and the 
freepost labels. It is your responsibility to print them and 
send out to all recipients. 

3. Remember completed questionnaires can be sent 
by freepost or emailed to lilac@anationalvoice.org this 
will help you with response rates. 

4. Please note that there is a minimum threshold for 
responses for all 3 questionnaires sent out, this will vary 
depending on the number of children in care and foster 
carers and staff you have. The LILAC co-ordinator will 
discuss this with you and let you know the percentages 
we need to consult with to make the assessment valid. 

5. Consider providing incentives for all respondents 
to complete the questionnaires especially for the 
children and young people you look after to help 
encourage them to send us their questionnaire and do 
ensure you promote this clearly. Be clear about what is 
offered the closing date and the selection methods to be 
used. ∗∗ 
 
 
∗∗We can discuss this with you in advance to agree your 
preferred process; we will require an identifying process to 
notify and recipients (for example, identifying numbers, 
names or initials can be used and if incentives are offered 
these will need to be clear on any submitted questionnaires – 
if those submitting the questionnaire want to be part of an 
incentive scheme, this should remain optional as sometimes 
people want to remain anonymous. However, if we are to 
select those to receive an incentive on behalf of your agency 
we need a clear process to be agreed with you in advance). 
Examples of some incentives ideas successfully used by other 
agencies include: ‘Three people will get £10 voucher (of your 
choice) to be chosen randomly the day after the closing date 
(using names out of a hat method)’. 

1. Forget that we require you 
to submit the Pre-Assessment 
documents and confirmed 
assessment timetable no later 
than 2 weeks before the start of 
your LILAC assessment. 

2. Forget questionnaires must 
NOT be filled out by children 
aged younger than 10 years old 
and where young people have a 
learning disability, their 
developmental age should be 
considered before filling the 
questionnaires. 

Page 108



G. LILAC Process including Do’s and Don’ts                                                                           13/11/2012 10:20:06 

5 
 

 
 

Page 109



Page 110

This page is intentionally left blank



 

By:                         Jenny Whittle, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services 
                             
                              Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Families and Social Care 
 
To:                         Corporate Parenting Panel –14th February 2014 
 
Subject:                 The Journey to Independence for Kent Care Leavers 
 
Classification:       Unrestricted 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
This paper aims to capture the range complexity of activity underway within the 
Authority to deliver improved outcomes for Children in Care and Care Leavers. This 
is a significant piece of work with a range of dependencies. This paper will outline 
the key work streams relating to this agenda during the next 12 months, which are: 

1. Transformation work stream 
2. Policy and legislative developments 
3. Engagement  

 
Recommendations 

Corporate Parenting Panel is asked: 
1. To note the content of the report and in particular the draft Staying Put Policy 
2. To invite members to comment on the activity and future direction of work 
3. To agree the form for future reporting 

 
 

 
Introduction  
 
As part of the transformation agenda, Kent County Council are changing the way 
services for young people aged 16 plus are designed and delivered. Currently, 
responsibility for our Children in Care and Care Leaver population aged 16 plus is 
spread across services both within KCC and partner organisations.  
 
This is a significant piece of work with a range of dependencies. This paper will 
outline the key work streams relating to this agenda during the next 12 months.  
 
Transformation Workstream 
 
Kent has taken the clear decision to develop an integrated Children in Care and 
Care Leavers service that: 

• Ensures all young people move to independence at their own pace - providing 
timely and appropriate support to each young person which meets their needs 
and supports the journey to independence 

Agenda Item B4

Page 111



 

• Increases the range and accessibility of accommodation so that young people 
can live in stable placements that meet their needs and preferences 

• Supports all young people to fulfil their aspirations and potential 
 
Over the next 12 months Kent will develop and implement the following: 
Integrated Children in Care Teams for 0 to 18 year olds 

• From October 2014, Children in Care teams will integrate with the current 
Catch22 and the Service for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children 
(SUASC) to provide one Children in Care service from 0 years to the young 
person’s 18th birthday. 

Integrated Care Leavers service and future market review 
• From October 2014, Kent County Council will deliver an integrated Care 

Leavers service. This is a time limited approach and by January 2015 work on 
a market review will be undertaken to assess future options for outsourcing. 

Procured service providing Pathway to Independence support and accommodation  
• From October 2014, an new external service will be in place which will provide 

KCC with a range of supported lodgings and semi-independent support and 
accommodation. 
 

Legislation and Policy Developments 
Children and Families Bill 

• Current legislation requires local authorities to make available Staying Put 
arrangements for young people in foster care to remain with their former 
foster carers beyond their 18th birthday.  The Government have announced 
plans to bring in further legal amendments under to make it a legal duty on 
local authorities in England to provide financial support for every person who 
remains with their foster carers under a Staying Put arrangement until their 
21st birthday.  It is understood that these new duties are expected to apply to 
all former relevant young people who turn 18 years on or after 1st April 2014. 

• Lobbying has taken place to extend the role of the Virtual Head to include that 
of care leavers in education up to the age of 25.  The outcome of this activity 
are as yet unknown. 

• The first draft clause and guidance is expected to be published by the DFE in 
the 1st week of February 2014 for feedback and comment prior to finalisation 
and implementation in April 2014 

Staying Put Policy (Appendix 1) 
• A draft of the Staying Put policy has received initial sign-off from senior 

officers within Specialist Children’s Services. It is coming to the Corporate 
Parent Panel at this stage for their view. It will then be presented to Kent’s 
Corporate Parenting Group on 27th February 2014. 

• Arrangements will also be made to ensure that the Policy is presented to 
Kent’s Children in Care Council (OCYPC) for their views and comments. 

• A further piece of work will be undertaken to analyse the impact of Kent’s 
approach to Staying Put on the availability of foster care placement and 
financial implications for the authority. It will set out detailed arrangements for 

Page 112



 

determining suitability for a Staying Put arrangement in individual young 
people’s cases, or the levels of financial support that will be provided by KCC.    

16 – 24 Sufficiency Task and Finish Multi-Agency report 
• This work is based on the Sufficiency Strategy but looks specifically at the 

needs of those children in Care and Care leavers aged 16 plus. A report will 
be developed which will make recommendations based on an analysis of 
need and accommodation.  
 

Engagement 
Participation and child focussed practice is a core focus of Ofsted’s inspection 
regime.  It is most evident in the latest Ofsted Inspection findings on children in care / 
care leaver services and also the Fostering Inspection. A lot of work is being 
undertaken, led by VSK and the IRO service, to improve the quality of participation, 
both at an individual child / young person, service development and delivery and 
through strengthening the voice of our children and young people via our children in 
care council.   
 
This includes: 
Children in Care Newsletter (See link - Our News - Kent Cares Town     

• The first edition of the quarterly newsletter was launched in December 2013. 
The second edition will be published by 31st March. 

Meet the Market Event for the procurement of Support and Accommodation Services 
• Care leavers supported the facilitation and delivery of an event attended by 

over 60 support and accommodation providers. They provided the audience 
with insight into the needs and aspirations of young people on their journey to 
independence.  

Kent Care Leavers Charter (Leaflet to be distributed at the meeting) 
• An Interim Kent Care Leavers charter has been developed which outlines 

Kent’s commitment to Care Leavers and includes the aspirations as set out in 
the Government Care Leaver Charter, and incorporates the elements of the 
Kent pledge which specifically relate to young people moving towards 
independence. It has been developed by Kent young people in care and care 
leavers. 

• This will be reviewed in line with the Children and Families Bill, Care Leavers 
Policy, Staying Put Operational Policy and service transformation by early 
2015, by which time KCC will have a clearer view on its commitments to Care 
Leavers. 

Kent Pledge Visual, Audio and Media Developments  
• Workshops have taken place with children in care to create a visual and audio 

version of the Kent Pledge as well as a young-person friendly flyer. This will 
be launched on 1st March and will appear on the Kent Cares Town website, 
and also You Tube. 

• Independent Reviewing Officer oversight of how the Pledge commitments are 
being implemented to our children in care has found that this is at a level 
deemed adequate or better in over 93% of children’s cases.  

 

Page 113



 

Creation of an APP  
• A mobile App is currently being developed that young people can download to 

their smart phones and tablet devices. This should increase their ability to 
view the Kent Cares Town website and will give us capacity to send out 
secure information and updates via Push notifications. This is in line with 
current research regarding how young people are accessing the internet and 
will increase participation. 

Lilac Assessment (Appendix 2) 
• A LILAC assessment has been commissioned and will take place 7th-9th April 

2014. LILAC stands for ‘Leading Improvements for Looked After Children and 
has been developed by a National VOICE as a way of involving young people 
with experience of the care system to carry out an assessment of how well 
services delivered by the local authority are enabling children in care and care 
leavers to participate; both at an individual level and in the development of 
policies and services that support them. The assessment will focus on shared 
values, style of leadership, structures, staff, recruitment and selection, care 
planning and review, complaints and advocacy.  

Independent Survey by Young Lives Foundation (Appendix 3) 
• The way in which we find out the views of our children in care through surveys 

is being looked at to make this more user friendly and child / young person 
focussed.  The Young Lives Foundation have sought the views of our children 
in care to develop a survey questionnaire that focusses on the things that our 
children and young people want us to know about with respect to their 
experiences of being in care. Their report is attached which articulates their 
initial findings and informs the content of the proposed questionnaires which 
will be used annually to build up a picture of what it is like to be a child in care 
in Kent.  Surveys will be undertaken in April 2014. This work complements the 
findings from the annual in-care monitor delivered under the children’s 
commissioner.  Work is also taking place to incorporate the current IRO 
service survey into the e-pep to help minimise the number of surveys that 
children and young people in care are presented with.  . 

Follow up to the Care to Listen DVD 
• The Leader of the Council has requested a follow up the Care to Listen DVD 

that was made in 2008/9. The original DVD sought the views of children in 
care and care leavers about their experiences of coming in to care, being in 
care and leaving care.  The purpose of making the follow up DVD is to again 
seek the views of children in care and care leavers to help us understand 
whether young people’ experiences of being in the care of KCC have 
improved and what are the current challenges they face. The intention is that 
the film will not be shown on a public website, but will be shared with 
Members, and used for training purposes within KCC and with partner 
agencies to improve service delivery to children and care leavers in Kent. 
Workshops are planned to take place on 17th and 19th February and these will 
be followed up with individual interviews with some care leavers who 
appeared on the original DVD. KCC’s Communications Team will be 
undertaking the filming and 

Page 114



 

            interviewing. It is expected that the film will be ready for viewing in April 2014. 
 

In order to ensure the views of a broad range of young people are captured 
the following groups of young people are being invited to participate: 

 
• 4 young people who appeared in the previous DVD to hear how things have 

progressed for them and seek their reflections of their time in care (already 
identified) 

• A sample of young people aged 11-15 who have come in to care within the 
last 12 months, to ascertain whether their coming in to care experiences have 
improved 

• A sample group of 16+ young people/UASC who are still in care  
16 – 24 Sufficiency consultation 

• The 16-24 Sufficiency work stream has a specific element regarding 
engagement of children in care and care leavers which will feed into the final 
recommendation on suitability and sufficiency of accommodation. 

 
Conclusion 
There is a significant amount of work underway to ensure that a comprehensive 
review of existing provision informs our future offer and service delivery to Kent’s 
Children in Care as they move towards independence. This report attempts to 
illustrate the range of work and stakeholder engagement which is being undertaken 
and capture the aspirations of all involved to achieve the very best possible 
outcomes for Children in Care and Care Leavers. 
 
Recommendations 

Corporate Parenting Panel is asked: 
1. To note the content of the report and in particular the draft Staying Put Policy 
2. To invite members to comment on the activity and future direction of work 
3. To agree the form for future reporting 

 
Authors: 
Paul Brightwell - Performance and Quality Assurance Manager (Children in Care) 
Sue Mullin - Commissioning Manager (Children) Specialist 
Sarah Skinner – VSK Service Manager 
 
Background documents: none 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Draft Staying Put Policy 
 
Appendix 2 – LILAC Assessment 
 
Appendix 3 – Independent Survey 
 
Appendix 4 – Evidence to Support Statements 
 

Page 115



 

Appendix 5 – Questionnaire for 11+ 
 
Appendix 6 – Questionnaire for those living independently 
 
Appendix 7 – Questionnaire for 7 -10 
 
Appendix 8 – Questionnaire for Focus Groups 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 116



Appendix 1 

Draft Staying Put Policy 
 

This policy sets out Kent County Council’s Specialist Children’s Services approach towards 
promoting and supporting young people in foster care remaining with their former foster 
carers in ‘Staying Put’ arrangements, once they reach their 18th birthday. 
 
Scope of this Policy 
This policy is applicable to all young people in the care of Kent County Council who are living 
with foster carers on their 18th birthday. The carers may be Kent foster carers, Connected 
Person’s carers or Independent Fostering Agency carers. 
This policy also applies to unaccompanied asylum seeking children who reach the age of 18, 
who have ‘leave to remain’. 
Young people in residential placements are not covered by this policy. 
 
Regulatory Framework 
The Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010, Planning Transition into Adulthood for Care 
Leavers Guidance, and the Government Staying Put Guidance 2013, require Local 
Authorities to make arrangements for young people in foster care to remain with their former 
foster carers beyond their 18th birthday. These arrangements are known as ‘Staying Put’ 
arrangements. 
Chapter 3 of the Fostering Service (England) Regulations 2011 sets out a requirement for 
Local Authorities to have a Staying Put policy. 
Standard 12.4 of the National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services sets out the 
service standard relating to Local Authorities’ Staying Put policies. 
It is the intention of the current government to bring in an amendment to the Children and 
Families Bill in 2014 placing a new legal duty on local authorities in England to provide 
financial support for every young person who wants to stay with their foster carers until their 
21st birthday.   
 
Introduction 
The intention of ‘Staying Put’ arrangements is to ensure that young people can remain with 
their former foster carers until they are adequately  prepared for adulthood, can experience a 
transition similar to their peers, avoid social exclusion and be less likely to experience a 
subsequent housing and tenancy breakdown. 

Page 117



It is important that the term ‘arrangement’ is used rather than ‘placement’ as once a young 
person reaches 18 they are no longer legally ‘in care’, and the Care Planning Regulations 
and Fostering Services Regulations and guidance no longer apply. 
 
Definition of a Staying Put Arrangement 
In the ‘Staying Put’ Guidance 2013, the Department for Education outlines when the term 
‘staying put’ arrangements can be used as follows: 

1. A young person who was looked after immediately prior to their 18th birthday (as an 
eligible child) continues to reside with their former foster carers; 

2. The carers were acting as foster carers to the child immediately prior to the young 
person’s 18th birthday, (that is, the carers were approved as foster carers in 
accordance with the Fostering Service (England) Regulations 2011, and the child 
had been placed with them by the local authority , or via an Independent Fostering 
Agency); 

3. A young person is deemed an eligible child, with the meaning of paragraph 19B(2) of 
Schedule 2 of the Children Act 1989, immediately before he/she reached 18; 

4. The ‘Staying Put’ arrangement is set out in the child/young person’s Pathway Plan; 
5. A proportion of the allowance paid to the ‘Staying Put’ carer is paid by the Local 

Authorities Children’s Services under section 23C of the Children Act 1989; 
6. The ‘Staying Put’ arrangement extends until: 

• The young person first leaves the ‘Staying Put’ arrangement; 
Or 

• The young person reaches their 21st birthday, if continuously, and still living in 
the arrangement; 
Or 

• The young person completes the agreed programme of education or training 
being undertaken on their 21st birthday, if continuously living in the 
arrangement since their 18th birthday. 
 
 
 

Planning for Staying Put Arrangements 
The leaving care ‘assessment of need’ undertaken around a young person’s 16th birthday, 
should begin to establish the timescale required for a young person to be adequately 
prepared for moving into independence. This will be reviewed regularly via the statutory 
review of the young person’s pathway plan, and consideration will be given to the 
appropriateness of a ‘Staying Put’ arrangement being agreed once the young person 
reaches 18. 
If it is agreed that a ‘Staying Put’ arrangement is appropriate, the young person’s pathway 
plan should set out in detail all the practical arrangements regarding the young person 
remaining as a young adult in the ‘Staying Put’ arrangement. This will cover arrangements 
such as: 

Page 118



• Preparation for adulthood and independence skills 
• Education, training and employment activities 
• Financial issues, such as income and benefits claims 
• Health arrangements 
• Friends/partners visiting and staying at the address 
• Moving on arrangements 
• Safeguarding issues including consideration of any younger foster children in 

placement at the same address 
 
The change from foster child to an adult member of the household, and for the carer from 
foster carer to landlord (Staying Put carer), should be carefully and sensitively planned in 
order to ensure that both parties understand the nature of the arrangement. The positive 
aspects of the earlier foster placement should not be diminished by the new legal and 
financial arrangements and terminology. 
Following a young person’s 18th birthday, the legal basis on which they occupy the property 
changes, and they become an ‘excluded licensee’ who is effectively lodging in the ‘Staying 
Put’ carers home. 
Fostering payments will need to be replaced by funding for a lodging arrangement. 
Consideration will need to be given to the impact on the foster carers’ terms of approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



Tel: 0845 868 3629 Email: lilac@anationalvoice.org  
 Registered in England: Head Office, Central Hall Oldham St, Manchester, M1 1JQ 

Charity No: 1120149      Company No: 5760207 
 

 

 

The LILAC Standards 

  

Shared Values 

The Organisation adopts shared values that enable children and young people to 
be actively involved in services that directly affect them, including honesty about 

responsibilities. 

  

Style of Leadership 

Leaders in the Organisation adopt a style of leadership that champions and 
promotes the involvement of children and young people at all levels. They 
demonstrate the need to work in partnership with children and young people. 

  

Structures 

Structures are in place to ensure that children and young people are involved in 
the planning and evaluation of services and that these structures are flexible. They 
do not rely on the involvement of a small articulate group of children and young 
people, but take into account different abilities, experiences and skills. 

  

Staff 

Staff are expected to support and contribute to practice and policy on the active 
involvement of children and young people in services that affect them.  

  

Recruitment & Selection 

Children and young people should be involved in the recruitment and selection of 
all staff and carers who will work with them.  

  

Care Planning & Review 

Children and young people should feel involved in the decision making that affects 
their lives and all decisions about them should be fully explained. All decision 
making, planning and review processes should be easily understood. 

  

Complaints & Advocacy 

Children and young people should know what to do if they are not happy with the 
way they are being treated and feel that their complaint will be listened to and 
treated seriously. Children and young people should have access to an advocate if 
they wish and the Organisation should promote the advocacy service. They should 
receive feedback on the process and outcome of their complaint and support in 
coming to terms with the decision. 

 

Page 121



Page 122

This page is intentionally left blank



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

1 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

 Survey  

 Project Report 

 

1. Introduction 

KCC commissioned the Young Lives Foundation (YLF) to develop a survey by working with children 

and young people in care which would record their views and experience of what it is like to be 

looked after by KCC.  The project was to ensure that a range of key survey areas and questions were 

developed in conjunction with the children and young people which will become an annual KCC 

survey.  This was to complement other surveys run at a local and national level which provide KCC 

with data.   

 

2. Methodology 

The YLF researcher initially met with the 16+ Forum to identify the areas and statements which 

should be included in the survey. Research was also undertaken into local and national 

documentation including the Children in Care Strategy 2011  14 and the Children in Care Monitor 

2011.  A draft questionnaire was then drawn up which was shared at the next meeting of the 16+ 

Forum.  The enquiry areas were deliberately phrased as positive statements in order to avoid the 

possibility of leading responses from the children and young people.  The questionnaires include a 

section indicating the District in which the young person is living so that analysis can be undertaken 

into team performance, availability of activities etc. 

Two questionnaires were trialled with children aged 7  10 and young people aged 11-16 years at 

the Participation days in East and West Kent.  The questionnaire for those living independently was 

developed with the 16+ Forum.  The subsequent drafts were discussed with the Our Children and 

 where the final formats where agreed.  (See 

Appendices 2, 3 and 4) 

 

3. Findings 

The major areas to be included in the survey were identified as: 

3.1 Confidentiality 

There was much concern about confidentiality raised by the children and young people completing 

the survey  would what they had written be shown to their social workers or foster carers?  One 

This showed that it is important that the survey should be anonymous, although a facility has been 

added so that children and young people can add their details if they have concerns as a result of 

completing the survey and would like some-one to contact them 

 

 

Page 123



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

2 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

3.2 Sensitive areas 

Important areas were identified during the project but it was agreed that the associated statements 

were too sensitive to ask in surveys e.g. I know why I am in care; I have sufficient contact with my 

family and the people that matter to me.  These areas must not be lost but should be investigated in 

a safe way.  Therefore a menu of face-to-face statements has been developed for use with groups 

and individuals (See Appendix 5).  This will also address the concerns that some young people have 

in committing any views to paper or on line for fear that carers or social workers would know what 

they had said. These areas were raised as being the most important issues identified in the research 

so it is crucial for Members to hear from the children and young people through facilitating 

discussions about how they feel and the circumstances leading to their current position  see 3.3 

and 3.4 below. 

 

The researcher offered the facility to record any views anonymously during meetings but found that 

usually, young people were happy to talk about their situations in front of others. 

 

3.3 Social workers 

Issues raised about social workers included: 

 Frequent changes or lack of an allocated social worker 

 Poor quality handing over of cases to a new social worker 

 Lack of trust and ability to listen  

 Consistency of decision making by different social workers. 

 

Although many young people responded that they had a named social worker, a number of young 

worker for the 6 months before her 18
th

 birthday which caused her concern about what would 

happen.  However, a social worker was appointed about a week before and resolved the issues 

quickly and effectively. 

 

It is important that an effective handover takes place when one social worker leaves and another is 

allocated.  Young people have asked for an informal meeting with both social workers before the 

change takes place.  Also they have quoted instances when the new social worker knows nothing 

about them and they have to start again explaining their situation which can sometimes be 

distressing.  They have asked that the new social worker familiarise themselves with the case before 

talking to the young person  as a minimum, they should have read the case file. 

 

Approximately 60% of young people responded that they had trust and confidence in their social 

. Some children and young people reported that they 

had not been told the truth about being taken into care e.g. told they were going for a holiday for 

three 

KCC gets rid of the goo  ones .  

  This area needs to be tested in view of 

the concerns regarding confidentiality explained in 3.1. 

Page 124



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

3 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

 

Young people also asked if they could have a choice of a male or female social worker. 

 

65% of young people said that they either did not have a copy of their care plan or have a say in 

what goes into it.  This needs to be investigated with the wider population as it has been identified 

If their views are not included, or not taken into 

consideration, decisions can be made that are not in the best interests of the child. This puts children 

at risk of being spectators of their own care rather than active participants who feel that they have 

  The Entitlements Inquiry, APPG for LACs and Care Leavers November 2013 

 

3.4 Contact with natural family 

This was an area of concern at all meetings.  One girl reported that social workers had not been 

consistent about whether she could see her Grandmother at Christmas.  One had promised that she 

could but this had then been 

Grandmother died later the next year without a visit having been arranged.  She said 

  Another girl reported that there was inconsistency as to 

whether or not she could see her younger brother and sister  one social worker had said she could 

see them but another had said she would probably not be able to see them until they were 18 years 

old.  She commented that seeing them meant   Her sister has been 

asking to see her for two years.    

 

The 16+ Forum said that young people should always have contact with their family which could be 

the child/young person so that they understand. 

 

In the trials, the younger children (7-10 year olds) said that more contact with their parents, 

brothers, sisters, grandparents etc. was the thing that could be made better for them in terms of 

being in care.   

 

It was decided that this was a sensitive area and would only be questioned in face-to-face sessions. 

 

3.5 Foster carers 

The responses to the trial indicated that young people are mostly living with a caring and supportive 

family.  However, one young person commented that children and young people say they are happy 

in their placements when they are not.  In some cases, concerns raised with social workers are then 

repeated to the carers causing tension for the young person  it is easier to say they are happy 

rather than face the consequences of speaking out.  In talking to young people, there were concerns 

that anything they wrote in a survey might be sent to their foster carers. 

One young person commented 

  They asked for respite stays to be arranged so that they could get to know the foster family 

before they moved in on a permanent basis.  They commented that the experience is always 

Page 125



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

4 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

different to what they expected before moving in but also commented 

 

Also tension was reported when additional young people were placed in the foster home and the 

young people asked that they be consulted before such decisions were made.  If problems arise they 

should be sorted out rather than leaving the young people to live in stressful situations. 

This being the case, only one statement is made in the questionnaire  

e.g. I was able to get to know the foster carers before the decision was 

made that I would be placed with them, my views on the placement were listened to before the 

decision was made are included in the face-to-face agenda.   

 

3.6 Accommodation 

The 16+ Forum worked with the researcher to develop the questions for those living independently 

to ensure that they are feeling safe and supported in developing the skills to manage their lives. 

 

3.7 School/college 

This issue was raised as one of the elements of the Children in Care Monitor 2011.  There were a few 

negative comments about being treated differently, but on the whole, positive comments were 

received regarding support and encouragement experienced at school or college.   

 

3.8 Support Services 

The main issue was that young people did not know about the Independent Reviewing Officers, or 

understand the role.  It may be that they know individuals undertaking the role and not the title but 

very few were able to answer questions about the support they receive from this group.   

 

The comments about LAC nurses were mostly positive but there was concern that visits were 

concerned with a Health agenda rather than the young people.  Also they were nervous that their 

care status and anything they reported would be on their records for life .  There were reports of a 

lack of privacy when foster carers and siblings were present. 

 

3.9 Survey methodology  

It is clear from the concerns regarding confidentiality and also ease of completion, that the survey 

should be carried out on line.  However, as mentioned above, there are some essential areas that 

need to be raised face to face.  In addition, paper survey should be available for those who are 

unable to complete online. 

 

The evidence which supports the inclusion of the statements used in the surveys is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

Page 126



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

5 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

4. Conclusions 

It will be possible to get the views and understand the experience of children and young people in 

care in Kent through a dual approach of asking them to complete the survey online but at the same 

time, having group discussions about the survey areas and also the sensitive elements that are 

critical to ensuring that this vulnerable group are supported during their time in care.   Children and 

young people will need to be re-assured that their responses will remain confidential; any failure in 

this respect will mean that they will not be able to be honest.  Opportunities should also be given for 

young people to submit their views anonymously/confidentially during face to face sessions. 

 

5. Recommendations 

5.1  It is recommended that an on line survey be conducted on an annual basis with all children 

and young people in care in Kent.  In addition, interviews should be carried out with groups of young 

people.  These could include existing forums, e.g. 16+ Forum and OCYPC and other randomly 

selected groups of children and young people brought together as focus groups to get a balance of 

those that are active and those whose voices are not usually or consistently heard. Consideration 

should be given to make use of independent facilitation to ensure confidentiality and impartiality.  

When asking young people to complete the survey, it should be made clear how their responses will 

be used and reassurance should be given that no individual responses will be made available to 

social workers, carers etc. 

5.2  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel should attend meetings and activities to have 

face-to-face discussions with young people whenever possible to hear their experiences of life in 

care in Kent. 

5.3  Many children and young people have been involved in developing the survey and once 

rolled out, there will be an expectation that their views will result in changed working practices.  

They feel that they are asked to complete too many questionnaires so it is critical to the success of 

the project that they see that this survey makes a difference to their lives.  The results of the survey 

and resulting changes should be publicised and discussed with the 16+ Forum and OCYPC. 

5.4  Given the concern that this exercise has produced concerning the working practice of social 

workers, consideration should be given to developing a document, in partnership with young 

people, setting out what they can expect from their social worker. This has been successfully put in 

place with other local authorities eg Medway Council. This could include commitments such as social 

workers will be non-judgemental, honest, consistent etc. 

5.5  Although the trial was carried out with a small number of young people, it seemed that 

Consideration should be given to developing contact cards showing important details such as name, 

telephone number and email address of social worker and IRO, Voice advocates, details of the Out of 

Hours team etc.  This would be in line with recommendations in The Entitlements Inquiry, APPG for 

LACs and Care Leavers November 2013. 

 

Page 127



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Project Report 

 

6 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

 

 

Making a Difference 

Acknowledgements 

The Young Lives Foundation would like to thank all the children and young people that supported 

Participation Apprentices.  YLF is also grateful for the support of KCC staff including the Virtual 

School Kent in facilitating access to groups and activities. 

Appendices 

1. Evidence supporting statements used in surveys 

2. Survey for Young People 11 years + 

3. Survey for those living independently 

4. Survey for Children 10 years and under 

5. Questions/discussion areas for groups 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stephen Gray CEO | Molly Norley 

The Young Lives Foundation | November 2013 

Page 128



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Appendix 1 

 

1 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

Making a Difference 

Appendix 1| Evidence To Support Use Of Statements 

 

I live in: 

Ashford Gravesham    Swale 

Canterbury Maidstone Thanet 

Dartford      Sevenoaks Tonbridge and Malling 

Dover Shepway Tunbridge Wells 

 

The above grid was included to allow for analysis of team performance, availability of activities 

etc.  

 

No Question 

 

Evidence 

 My social worker  

1. I have always had a named social 

worker who I can contact easily 

Trials showed that this was sometimes difficult 

(40%) also changes of social worker caused problems 

  

One girl had been left without a social worker for 

many months before her 18
th

 birthday and she was 

nervous about what would happen regarding 

accommodation. 

Another boy had been in bed and breakfast 

who it was.   

 KCC Pledge commitment 

2. I have a copy of my care plan and 

have a say in what goes into it. 

65% of young people commented negatively on this 

question although some said they did have a say but 

not a copy of the plan.  Some commented that they 

do not like attending meetings where they are the 

subject of the discussion.   

 trategy 2011-14 

 KCC Pledge commitment 

 The Entitlements Inquiry, APPG for LACs and 

Care Leavers November 2013 

3. If things are going to be different to 

what I expected, my social worker 

always explains why.  

 

60% of young people thought this was not the case.   

Some young people commented that social workers 

say they will do one thing but then change their 

minds. 

 Children in Care Monitor 2011 

 -14 

 KCC Pledge commitment 

4. I have always found that social 

workers are consistent when dealing 

with things that affect me 

Feedback from trials showed that 40% thought this 

was a difficulty.  One girl reported that there was no 

consistency between social workers as to whether 

she could see her siblings.  Also different social 

workers are making different decisions about how 

Page 129



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Appendix 1 

 

2 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

Making a Difference 

much freedom young people can have eg going out 

in the evening. Some comments that social workers 

 

5. I trust my social worker. He/she 

listens and understands what matters 

to me.  He/she always explains what 

is going to happen when changes are 

made. 

 

Some children and young people reported that they 

had had lots of problems with social workers  (Trials 

40%) 

One girl said that the good social workers leave but 

ments that 

 

 -14 

6. I can talk to my social worker about 

problems with the foster 

family/people I live with and know 

that these will be dealt with in a 

confidential way. 

Report that children and young people in care are 

unable to make comments regarding their 

placement because these are repeated to carers by 

social workers causing difficulty in their lives so they 

reported this as a problem. 

 Where I live  

7. I am living with a caring and 

supportive family 

 

Taking into account the responses to 6 above, as the 

survey is anonymous, it is hoped that young people 

will be able to reflect the real position. 

 About my school/college  

8. I am supported and encouraged at 

school/college and helped to learn 

Trials showed that this was a positive area but 

thought to be an important area to research. 

 Children in Care Monitor 2011 

9. I am treated the same as other 

children/young people by the staff 

and pupils 

Mostly positive but there were a few comments that 

young people in care were treated differently from 

other pupils. 

 Children in Care Monitor 2011 

 About other people that support me  

10. I know what an Independent 

Reviewing Officer does about this role.  Several comments were that they 

the name of the IRO.   

11. I am able to contact my IRO easily if I 

need to.  

Comment that there should be easier ways to 

contact IROs although comments in trials show that 

 

Children in Care Monitor 2011 

 KCC Pledge Commitment 

12. I am able to have a confidential one to 

one meeting with my IRO before 

review meetings if I want to.   

Comments from children and young people that it 

would be helpful for this to happen and trials 

showed that this was happening in some cases. 

13. I know how to contact a LAC nurse 

and can talk to him/her if anything 

worries me. 

Young people want more say in the focus of the 

meeting and what is discussed.  Also sometimes 

confidentiality is a concern as foster parents and 

siblings may also be present.  Concern was also 

expressed that anything recorded would remain in 

their file for the rest of their lives. 

 KCC Pledge Commitment 

 

Page 130



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Appendix 1 

 

3 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

Making a Difference 

14. I know that information is shared only 

when necessary by those that support 

me 

Young people reported that they want improved 

communication between professionals that support 

them but also want to know that their confidential 

information is only disclosed when there is a need. 

15. I know how to make a complaint and 

know it will be dealt with 

confidentially 

Mostly positive results but thought to be an 

important area to research 

 Children in Care Monitor 2011 

 KCC Pledge commitment 

16. I understand my rights and what I am 

entitled to because these have been 

explained to me. 

An important area identified by The Entitlements 

Inquiry, APPG for LACs and Care Leavers November 

2013 

17. I have an adult who cares about me, 

who I can talk to.  The adult I can go 

 

 

Please tell us who this would be eg 

social worker, foster carer, parent, 

teacher etc 

 

reported that their foster carer was most likely, 

teachers next and social worker and parents had the 

lowest response.   

The response from children (aged 10 and under) was 

similar except that several said they would talk to 

their friends rather than other adults mentioned. 

 Children in Care Monitor 2011 

 KCC Pledge commitment 

18. Being in care would be better for me if 

 

Trial responses were: 

Better social workers 

 

Everything is all right x 2  

See family more 

See my Mum more x 4 

If my Mum cared for me 

If everything was the same 

If there was more things to do x 3 

If there was more sporty stuff near me 

 

Social workers and carers understand you as an 

individual 

I get to choose what type of care and where it is. 

Nothing 

 

Evidence Supporting Additional Questions To Be Used With Group Interviews 

 

1. I understand why I am in care and the 

reasons for it. 

Young people interviewed said that they 

wanted to understand why they are in care. 

One young person commented that she 

t understand until she read her file 

when she was 18.  Several others were told 

that they were going on holiday for 3 days 

(rather than being told they were taken into 

care).  Their expectation was that they were 

going home at the end of the three days. 

 

 

Page 131



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Appendix 1 

 

4 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

Making a Difference 

 I have sufficient contact with my family and 

the people that matter to me 

Lack of consistency between social workers 

in some cases  one girl reported that is 

to whether or not she can see her siblings. 

Another girl commented that she had no 

siblings because they had been adopted. 

The 16+ Forum said that young people 

should always have contact with their 

family which could be supervised if 

possible, the situation should be explained 

to the child/young person so that they 

understand. 

KCC Pledge commitment 

 I was able to get to know the foster carers 

before the decision was made that I would be 

placed with them. 

Young people requested more information 

about the carers to be made available and 

asked for respite stays to get to know foster 

carers before being placed with them. They 

said that currently, the reality is always 

different to what they expected before 

moving in. 

 My views on the placement were listened to 

before the decision was made. 

Comment made that once a visit is arranged 

it is automatically assumed that the young 

person will be moving into that placement 

you have a choice but when it comes down 

 

KCC Pledge commitment 

 My views are taken into account when other 

young people are being considered for 

placement with my foster carers. 

 

Tensions reported when an additional 

young person in care was placed and 

promises about dealing with problems 

promised when decisions were being made 

were not kept. 

 

 

Page 132



I live in: 

Ashford  Gravesham  Swale  
Canterbury  Maidstone  Thanet  
Dartford  Sevenoaks  Tonbridge and Malling  
Dover  Shepway  Tunbridge Wells  
 

Question                Rating 
 My Social Worker                        
1a I have always had a named social worker  1      2       3      4 
   

1b I am able to contact my current social worker easily 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 

 

2a I have a copy of my care plan 1      2       3      4 
   

2b I have a say in what goes into my care plan 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 

 

3 If things are going to be different to what I expected, my social worker always 
explains why 1      2       3      4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

4 Social workers are consistent when dealing with things that matter to me 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

5a I have trust and confidence in my social worker and he/she listens and 
understands what matters to me 1      2       3      4 

   

5b He/she will always explain to me what is going to happen when changes 
are made 1      2       3      4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 

Page 133



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question                Rating 
                         
6 I can talk to my social worker about problems with the foster family/people I 

live with and know he/she will deal with it in a confidential way 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 Where I Live  
7 I am living with a caring and supportive family 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 About My School or College  
8 I am supported and encouraged by teachers and other adults at 

school/college and helped to learn 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

9 I am treated the same as other children/young people by the staff and 
pupils 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 About other people that support me  
10 I know what an Independent Reviewing Officer does 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

11 I know who my Independent Reviewing Officer is and how to contact 
him/her if I need to 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

12 I can have a one to one meeting with my Independent Reviewing Officer if I 
want to 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 

Page 134



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question                Rating 
                         
13 I know how to contact a LAC nurse and can talk to him/her if anything 

worries me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

14 I know that information about me is shared only when necessary by those 
that support me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

15 I know how to make a complaint and know it will be dealt with confidentially 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

16 I understand my rights and what I am entitled to because these have been 
explained to me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

17 I have an adult who cares about me, who I can talk to.  1      2       3       4 
 The adult I can go to is:  
 Social Worker           Teacher              Carer               Parent              Friend 

Someone else           (please tell us who)    
 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 Have your say  
18 Being in care would be better for me if   
  

 
 

 

 to tell us your name but if you want someone to talk to you about these questions, please say 

Name:                                                   Contact Number: 

If you would like to speak to somebody about these questions please call XXXXX XXX XXX 

 

Page 135



Please use this space for anything else you would like to add  

Questionnaire designed for young people by young people 

with support of the Young Lives Foundation www.ylf.org.uk 

Page 136



I live in: 
Ashford  Gravesham  Swale  
Canterbury  Maidstone  Thanet  
Dartford  Sevenoaks  Tonbridge and Malling  
Dover  Shepway  Tunbridge Wells  
 

Question                Rating 
 My Social Worker                        
1a I have always had a named social worker  1      2       3      4 
   

1b I am able to contact my current social worker easily 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 

 

2a I have a copy of my care plan 1      2       3      4 
   

2b I have a say in what goes into my care plan 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 

 

3 If things are going to be different to what I expected, my social worker always 
explains why 1      2       3      4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

4 Social workers are consistent when dealing with things that matter to me 1      2       3      4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

5a I have trust and confidence in my social worker and he/she listens and 
understands what matters to me 1      2       3      4 

   

5b He/she will always explain to me what is going to happen when changes 
are made 1      2       3      4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 

Page 137



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question                Rating 
 Where I Live                        
6 I was given a choice of places to live YES        /         NO 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

7 I feel safe where I live 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

8 I was supported in developing the skills to live on my own 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

9 I have the skills to manage the money I have to live on 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 About My School or College  
10 I am supported and encouraged by teachers and other adults  at 

school/college and helped to learn 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

11 I am treated the same as other children/young people by the staff and 
pupils 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 About other people that support me  
12 I know who my support worker is and how to contact him/her if I need to 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 

Page 138



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Question                Rating 
                         
13 I understand my rights and what I am entitled to because these have been 

explained to me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

14 I know how to contact a LAC nurse and can talk to him/her if anything 
worries me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

15 I know that information about me is shared only when necessary by those 
that support me 1      2       3       4 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

16 I know how to make a complaint and know it will be dealt with confidentially 1      2       3       4 
 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

17 I have an adult who cares about me, who I can talk to.  1      2       3       4 
 The adult I can go to is:  
 Social Worker           Teacher              Carer               Parent              Friend 

Someone else           (please tell us who)    
 

 Something you want to add..?  
  

 
 

 

 Have your say  
18 Being in care would be better for me if   
  

 
 

 

 to tell us your name but if you want someone to talk to you about these questions, please say 

Name:                                                   Contact Number: 

If you would like to speak to somebody about these questions please call XXXXX XXX XXX 

 

Page 139



 

 
Please use this space for anything else you would like to add  

Questionnaire designed for young people by young people 

with support of the Young Lives Foundation www.ylf.org.uk 

Page 140



I Live In: 

Ashford  Gravesham  Swale  
Canterbury  Maidstone  Thanet  
Dartford  Sevenoaks  Tonbridge and Malling  
Dover  Shepway  Tunbridge Wells  
 

Question                   Rating 

 My Social Worker         1 I know who my social worker is 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 
 

Yes               No 

2 I know how to contact my social worker          Something you want to add..? 
  

 
 

Yes               No 

3 I can talk to my social worker and he/she tells me about 
         

 Something you want to add..? 
  

 
 

Yes               No 

 Where I Live  
4 I am happy living with my carer          Something you want to add..? 
  

 
 

Yes               No 

 

Page 141



Question                      Rating 

 My School         5 My teacher helps me to learn 
 Something you want to add..? 

 
 

Yes               No 

6 I have friends that I enjoy playing with at school          Something you want to add..? 
  

 
 

Yes               No 

 People Who Support Me  
7 If I am unhappy, I can talk to my  (circle the face that shows how you feel)  

 Social Worker                                        

Teacher 

Carer 

Parent 

Friend 

Someone else (please tell us who) 

 

Something you want to add ?   

                   

 

 Have Your Say   
8 Being in care would be better for me if   
 

 
 
 

 

 

           

           

           

           

           

           

Questionnaire designed for young people by young people 

with support of the Young Lives Foundation www.ylf.org.uk Page 142



Young Lives Foundation | Kent County Council Survey Project 
KCC Children and Young People in Care Survey | Appendix 5 

 

1 
 

Young Lives Foundation | 01622 693459 | enquiries@ylf.org.uk | www.ylf.org.uk | facebook.com/ylf.org.uk | twitter.com/ylfcharity 

The Young Lives Foundation is a company limited by guarantee with charitable status. Registered in England & Wales Company No 5999166. Registered Charity No 1119528 

Making a Difference 

Appendix 5 | Questions/Discussion areas for Focus Groups 

1. I understand why I am in care and the reasons for it. 

 

Yes No 

 Details of discussion/comments made: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. I have sufficient contact with my family and the people 

that matter to me 

Yes No 

 Details of discussion/comments made: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. I was able to get to know the foster carers before the 

decision was made that I would be placed with them. My 

views on the placement were listened to before the 

decision was made 

 

Yes No 

 Details of discussion/comments made: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. My views are taken into account when other young 

people are being considered for placement with my 

foster carers. 

 

Yes No 

 Details of discussion/comments made: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



 

By: Jenny Whittle, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services 
 Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director for Families & Social Care 
To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 14 February 2014 

Subject: POSITION STATEMENT: FOSTERING 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary: 
 
 
 
Recommendations 
 

This report provides an update on the position of Fostering in 
Kent. It outlines the improvements that have been made over the 
past six months, alongside the efficiencies and further 
improvements that are in the process of implementation. 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to note this report 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the position of Fostering in Kent. It outlines the 

changes that have been made over the past six months, alongside the efficiencies 
and further improvements that are in the process of implementation. 

 
2. Actions Taken 
 
2.1  Changes to Working Arrangements 

 
2.1.1 Before the SCS Improvement Programme took effect, placement services for 

Children in Care and those entering the care system were being commissioned by 
multiple teams and individual social workers in a piecemeal and ineffective manner. 
The creation of the Access to Resources Team (ART) in 2012 has made a 
significant impact in terms of reducing inappropriate placements and utilising Kent’s 
in-house foster carers more effectively. To further reduce the potential for 
duplication, to ensure information is shared effectively and that thresholds are being 
applied consistently, the functions of the Fostering Duty Teams and ART have now 
been integrated to create a single system.  

 
2.1.2 The countywide Single Placement Team (SPT) became operational on 20 January 

2014, and it comprises of the ART and Fostering Duty social workers. All referrals 
(except those for disabled children, which will also be included in the SPT within 
four weeks) are now made through this single point of entry – meaning that anyone 
who needs to make a placement can do so easily via one point of contact, 24 hours 
a day, 364 days a year.  
 

2.1.3 The Team is taking a triage type approach to swiftly place rigorous control 
measures around recognised pressure points. The steps that have been taken to 
support this work include: 

 

Agenda Item B5

Page 145



 

- The development and roll out of a Quality Assurance system to 
scrutinise each referral. All referrals are checked for the necessary detail and 
information, and are constructively challenged by the SPT. 

- The full list of fostering vacancies is updated and distributed daily, 
and is available to the SPT. Placements are made from the list. 

- The updated daily list is available to the Out of Office Team, so 
that any emergency placements required may be made with in-house foster 
carers. 

 
2.2  In-house Foster Carers and Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) 
 
2.2.1 The work that has been done to address the issue of spot purchasing and of the 

unnecessary use of IFA placements is starting to have a marked affect - with the 
latest ART figures illustrating that the use of these placements has significantly 
decreased across the board over recent months (please see the graph below).  
 

 

 
 
2.2.2 The only exception to this downward trend is a slight increase in the use of IFA 

mother and baby placements, which rose from 1 in November 2013 to 3 in 
December 2013. There was also a reduction in the number of in-house placements 
in December 2013, though this is thought to be as a result of seasonal variation 
(and is consistent with previous patterns). 
 

2.2.3 Work is underway to build on this positive trend, with processes now in place to 
ensure that any new use of IFA placements is limited to short term placements and 
is only viable for those cases in which special needs that specifically cannot be met 
in-house are identified. These exceptions also need to be agreed in advance with 
the relevant Assistant Director for each Area. A series of meetings have been held 

Page 146



 

with relevant managers to communicate this change, and the vast majority have 
responded positively to the new arrangements. 
 

2.2.4 Further work is being undertaken to review all IFA placements to ensure that they 
are being used effectively (assessment will be on the basis of cost, quality and 
suitability). For any child or young person in a non-permanent IFA placement, 
where it is in place, a search will commence for a long term in-house placement. 
Where a permanent in-house placement is required, the Fostering Teams will lead 
on identifying and matching suitable carers. The list of all such cases, as well as 
those children and young people in in-house placements who need to move, will be 
formally reviewed and signed off on a weekly basis.  
 

2.2.5 Moreover, there have been reported instances of in-house foster carers being 
selective about which children they wish to be placed with them. This has created a 
number of ‘unusable placements’, which appear as vacant in performance 
reporting. Historically, SCS staff have taken the stance of supporting in-house foster 
carers as a default, rather than creating a more supervisory relationship i.e. 
balancing the vital support function with a performance management approach, to 
ensure carers are able to provide the right services to meet the needs of their 
fostered children – and holding them to account to deliver the Council, and Kent’s 
children and families, with a quality provision that represents Value for Money. 

 
2.2.6 In order to address this, there is a need to bring together the teams that recruit 

foster carers with the teams that provide those carers with support and supervision 
(currently, these responsibilities are split across 5 teams). This would ensure that 
Kent is recruiting the right carers to meet the needs of our Children in Care, and 
that these individuals are managed and monitored in a way that ensures they are 
providing the services for which they were recruited, to the required standards. 

 

3.3  Recruitment of Foster Carers 
 
3.3.1 KCC currently faces aggressive competition from the private sector when we 

attempt to recruit potential foster carers. Independent agencies, such as Foster 
Care Associates, stress that carers will be well remunerated for joining their agency, 
highlighting the ‘generous financial allowance’ and ‘great financial and respite 
support’ that Kent carers will receive on multiple occasions throughout their website. 
Such agencies frequently launch multi-channel advertising campaigns, including 
targeted promotions in areas where demand for services is high. 

 
3.3.2 In order to boost the number of in-house foster carers, KCC launched a focused 

recruitment campaign in 2012 entitled ‘Changing Futures’. This campaign has been 
followed by a number advertising initiatives that have been multi-channel in their 
approach - including web-based advertising, PR and digital advertising methods. 
The latest campaign was launched in December 2013 and is scheduled to continue 
until February 2014. It includes a targeted focus on ‘hot spot’ areas of the county 
where additional foster placements are required to address the lack of carers in 
those areas. 

 
3.3.3 The KCC campaign has shown early signs of success, with the Fostering 

Benchmarking Report showing that KCC is performing well in terms of the number 
of foster carers it is recruiting and retaining in comparison with national averages 
(illustrating that KCC’s advertising seems to be targeting the right potential foster 

Page 147



 

carers more effectively than other authorities.1) Please see the table on the 
following page:  

 
 
 
 Table 1: KCC’s foster carer recruitment ‘performance statistics’ compared with 

national data. 
 

  KCC (Apr – Dec 2013) National Average  
Conversion Rate; The number 
of enquiries which result in 
approval 

13% 11% 

Conversion Rate: The number 
of assessments undertaken 
which result in approval 

73% 62% 

Attrition Rate: The rate of loss 
of foster carers each year 

8% 13% 
Utilization: The percentage of 
in-house foster carers used 

85% 69% 
Vacancy: The percentage of 
in-house foster carer 
vacancies 

15% 31% 

 
 
3.3.4 However though we are making inroads, particularly in relation to our recruitment of 

certain groups of foster carers,2 more work needs to be done to target foster carers 
who are able to take on the following categories of children/families:  

- standard carers (target recruitment rate: 85 to year end; expected 
recruitment rate: 79) 

- challenging carers (target recruitment rate: 25 to year end; 
expected recruitment rate: 10) 

- 16+ carers (target recruitment rate: 20 to year end; expected 
recruitment rate: 2) 

- Parent/Child carers (target recruitment rate: 8 to year end; 
expected recruitment rate: 2). 

 
4. Further Actions  
 
4.1 There are a number of additional actions that will be taken in the immediate future 

to support the work that is currently underway. This will include the following: 
 
4.1.1 The foster carers vacancy list will be refined to show the daily availability of 

placements by registration and geography. The aim is to create a consistent, 
sustainable network of placements across the county, with sufficient placements of 

                                                           
1 Whilst it is unclear from the Fostering Network Report what specific factors are used to define their reported 
statistics, all efforts have been made by the Fostering Service to offer robust comparisons, and KCC’s 
statistics include all known factors. In spite of this potential variability, the figures show us that overall KCC 
compares favourably with the national average in relation to its foster carer recruitment. 
2 These include: sibling carers (target recruitment rate: 48 to year end; expected recruitment rate: 60); solo 
carers (target recruitment rate: 8 to year end; expected recruitment rate: 10); Permanence carers (target 
recruitment rate: 30 to year end; expected recruitment rate: 31); short breaks and disability (target 
recruitment rate: 10 to year end; expected recruitment rate: 17). 

Page 148



 

each group (based on age and need) within a 10 mile radius of every address in 
Kent. The registration and vacancy status of all foster carers will be reviewed to 
ensure that all vacancies are ‘usable vacancies.’  

 
4.1.2 The governance and management structures for decisions will be reviewed and 

recommendations made to reflect the cost and priority of these decisions. This will 
include, for example, tightening and detailing the Out of Hours Arrangements. 

 
4.1.3 A series of local performance measures is being developed to give real-time daily 

information on activities and trends. 
 
5. Outcomes 
 
5.1 There is anecdotal evidence, and there are some early indications, that recent 

activity is generating better use of in-house resources, better quality referrals and 
reducing reliance on IFAs. This information will be monitored as reforms progress, 
and reported upon as more robust data becomes available. 

 
5.2 There is also anecdotal evidence that frontline workers are already seeing the 

benefit of better coordinated and joined-up working. This is in spite of some initial 
reluctance to take on the new requirements. 

 
6.  Next Steps 
 
6.1 The changes outlined will be consolidated into a formal, comprehensive action plan, 

within a project management framework, to encompass not just systematic and 
structural change, but to ensure what we are focusing our time on those activities 
which have the biggest impact on the wellbeing of Kent’s children and families. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lead  
Mark Wheeler, Interim Head of Safeguarding, SCS 
T: 01622 694850 
E: Mark.Wheeler@kent.gov.uk 
 
Lead 
Teresa Vickers, County Fostering Manager 
T: 01233 652109    
E: Teresa.Vickers@kent.gov.uk  
 
Report author: 
Jennifer Maiden-Brooks, Policy Manager, BSS 
T: 01622 222744 
E: Jennifer.maiden-brooks@kent.gov.uk 
 

Background documents: none 

7. Recommendations 
 

The Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to Note this report 

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2013
	B1 Update on the Adoption Service
	B1 - App 1 - Summary of Child's Adoption Journey April-December 2013-14
	B1 - App 2 - Adopters Journey 2014-02-14

	B2 Update regarding the work of the Head Teacher of the Virtual School Kent
	B2 - App 1 - VSK-Castle project data report

	B3 Ofsted Inspection Action Plans - Update
	B3 - App 1 - CIC Ofsted Action Plan - KCC Catch 22
	B3 - App 2 - Safeguarding Ofsted Action Plan
	B3 - App 3 - Adoption Ofsted Action Plan
	B3 - App 4 - Fostering Ofsted Action Plan
	B3 - App 5 -C. LILAC Staff 7 LILAC Standards PREP EXTERNAL
	B3 - App 6 - LILAC Process including Do™s and Don™ts External

	B4 The Journey to Independence for Kent Care Leavers
	B4 - App 1- Draft Staying Put Policy
	B4 - App 2 - Lilac Standards
	B4 - App 3 Survey report
	B4 - App 4 Supporting Statement
	B4 - App 5 Questionaire
	B4 - App 6 Questionaire 2
	B4 - App 7 Questionaire 3
	B4 - App 8 Group questionaire

	B5 Position Statement: Fostering

